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S U M M E R  O F  R O C K  

Geology majors, Julia Lee and Olivia Ranck traveled to the 

Ruby Mountains in Southwestern Montana along with 

professor, Michael Krol and staff assistant, Jessica Campbell 

in July of 2023. Both students were recipients of the Adrian 

Tinsley Program for Undergraduate Research and Creative 

Work and the Richard Enright Field Scholarship.  Their research 

involves gathering samples in the feld and analyzing their 

geochemistry on campus.   While conducting their research,  

the students stumbled upon a rare rock with large crystals.  

Called peridotite, these dense igneous rocks appear as a result 

of a piece of the Earth’s mantle thrusting upward. In addition 

to this discovery, the group also located a type of basalt 

also found in the area. Both Julia and Olivia felt that the trip 

provided them with the “opportunity to challenge themselves 

and explore their passions” and look forward to calling upon 

this experience as they continue their studies and enter the 

career feld. 

The trip provided them with 

the “opportunity to challenge 

themselves and explore their 

passions” 
Julia Lee and Olivia Ranck 
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PRESIDENT’S 

Letter 

December 20, 2024 

Dear Friends, 

We are pleased to present the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for Bridgewater State University (BSU) for 
the fscal year ending June 30, 2024 (FY24). The audit report conveys an unmodifed opinion of the university’s 
fnancial statements. 

BSU’s fnancial position continues to be very strong. In FY24, the university realized an increase in its net position of 
$18.6 million, from $28.3 million in FY23 to $46.9 million in FY24. This growth was attributable to several factors, 
including (1) a signifcant increase in BSU’s state appropriation of $12.9 million state funding accounted for 40.5% 
of total revenues in FY24 compared to 35.1% in FY23; (2) a 6 percent increase in fnancial aid support from federal 
and state sources; (3) return to an enrollment growth path following more than fve years of declines exacerbated by 
the global pandemic; (4) increased auxiliary revenues from continued upward movement in residence hall occupancy 
rates; (5) growth in gifts and support from the BSU Foundation and strong investment returns; and (6) sound budget 
management across the entire university. The university’s primary reserve ratio of 40.76% (minus the efects of GASB 
68 pension and GASB 75 OPEB requirements) continues to meet industry benchmarks. 

DISTINCTIONS 
For the second consecutive year, BSU was ranked by The Wall Street Journal as one of America’s Best Colleges 2025, 
refecting the strong return on investment we provide our students. Bridgewater State was also recently named the 
third safest campus in the United States and third in the nation as a top LGBTQ+ Friendly College for our eforts to 
support LGBTQ+ students through a wide array of resources across campus. 

ENROLLMENT 
Enrollment remains a signifcant issue facing the university, as it is for most public colleges and universities. The 
impending demographic clif and changes to the populations we are serving pose challenges to BSU’s ability to recruit 
and retain students. 

In Fall 2024, however, BSU saw a solid 2% increase in both headcount and credits, despite problems resulting from 
the troubled federal rollout of the new FAFSA form. BSU realized growth across the board, particularly in continuing 
studies, graduate and transfer enrollments. 

In FY24, the university’s Enrollment Management Committee (EMC) adopted a new Strategic Enrollment Plan (SEP 
2.0), with a focus on further diversifying our markets. SEP 2.0 incorporated action plans for growing post-traditional, 
graduate, part-time, transfer and LGBTQIA+ enrollments. The EMC also developed a separate budget for new 
enrollment initiatives embedded in the action plans, which were funded by the university at more than half a million 
dollars. This year, the EMC is developing actions plans for growing Hispanic, international and cybersecurity enrollment. 

In addition to diversifying markets and expanding market share for incoming students, BSU continues to be an 
innovative leader in the area of retention and closing institutional achievement gaps. Although BSU’s frst-to-second 
year retention rate declined year-over-year, the university continues to exceed our peer institutions, and invest in 
proven retention strategies. 
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In November 2024, Bridgewater announced The Bridgewater Commitment for Fall 2025 - a groundbreaking initiative that 
will cover the full cost of tuition and mandatory fees for in-state undergraduate students from families earning $125,000 
or less and makes BSU the most afordable four-year public university in the state. The Commitment is made possible by a 
combination of federal, state, institutional and private funding. It marks the next iteration in a strategy the university has 
been implementing for several years through initiatives such as our merit scholarships, and has resulted in BSU reducing 
student loan borrowing by 9.3% since 2019. According to The Washington Post, the level of BSU’s commitment is 
surpassed nationally only by MIT and the University of Pennsylvania. 

STRATEGIC PLAN 2.0 & BSU RISING 
BSU’s fve-year Strategic Plan 2.0 (Strategic Plan 2.0 | Bridgewater State University) was approved by the university’s 
Board of Trustees and the state Board of Higher Education. The plan establishes 11 strategic priorities that will enable the 
university to continue to advance its mission in the face of a challenging higher education environment. These priorities include 
innovation; a new work paradigm; mental health and wellness; racial justice and equity; physical facilities; capital campaign; 
afordability; BSU Works (workforce alignment); enrollment management; post-traditional learners; and Gateway Cities. 

2024-2025 also marks the tenth year of President Clark’s presidency. For this occasion, BSU released a Bridgewater Rising 
retrospective (Introduction) that documents the many accomplishments of the past decade. 

CYBERSECURITY 
BSU received state approval for its B.S. (frst cohort in Fall 2024) and M.S. (frst cohort Fall 2025) degrees in 
cybersecurity. Already there are more than 150 students enrolled in the bachelor’s degree program, far exceeding initial 
enrollment estimates. There is extraordinary demand for these programs and tens of thousands of open, high-paying 
cybersecurity positions. In February 2024, the university opened the most sophisticated cyber range in all of New 
England for training students (and municipalities, law enforcement, non-profts and private businesses) utilizing simulated 
cyberattacks. BSU is building out its on-campus Security Operations Center, which will aford students the opportunity 
to work alongside cybersecurity professionals on actual threat detection and response. 

INVESTMENTS IN DEFERRED MAINTENANCE/PHYSICAL PLANT 
BSU continued to make major investments in deferred maintenance and capital improvements to the campus in 2023-
2024. These included ongoing repairs and renovations made to Maxwell Library, Burnell Hall and several residence 
halls; accessibility upgrades in Tillinghast and Hunt Halls and the Rondileau Student Union; and security upgrades by 
replacing the Persona Lock system. Renovation of 21 Park Terrace, which will house the College of Graduate Studies, is 
underway, which will enhance visibility of graduate programs in alignment with the university’s goal of increasing graduate 
enrollment. Renovation of Burnell Hall, which will provide a home for the College of Education and Health Sciences 
and help rationalize space utilization throughout campus, is set to begin in early 2025. The university is in the process of 
fnalizing a new Master Plan, its frst new plan in more than a decade. 

CAPITAL CAMPAIGN 
In May 2024, Bridgewater launched Without Exception: The Bridgewater Campaign for Success through Innovation, the 
university’s largest capital campaign in its history with the goal of increasing the university’s endowment to $100 million. 
In FY24, the university’s component units (BSU Foundation and Alumni Association) realized a net position increase of 
$8.7 million to $76.4 million. Building the endowment will make possible strategic investments in four priority areas: 
(1) expanding BSU Works and forging career pathways for students; (2) reducing the net cost to students and families of 
attending BSU; (3) expanding access to a college education and providing support for students who were once denied 
the opportunity; and (4) advancing BSU’s leadership in diverse areas from anti-bullying and racial equity to STEM and 
transforming our Honors program into an Honors College. 

The strength of Bridgewater’s fnancial position is a critical element in positioning the university to continue its upward 
trajectory, make investments that advance our strategic priorities, cope with emerging challenges and seize opportunities 
that position BSU for a future that we can control. 

Sincerely, 

Frederick W. Clark Jr., Esq. 
President 

PRESIDENT’S LETTER 2 
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LETTER OF 

Transmittal 
Photos (left to right): 

First day of classes 2023-2024 

BSU Aviation Student at the New Bedford, MA 
Regional Airport 

Cyber Range, Dana Mohler-Faria Science & 
Mathematics Center December 20, 2024 

To President Frederick W. Clark Jr., Esq., 
Members of the Board of Trustees and  
Citizens of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts 

We are pleased to present the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report (ACFR) for Bridgewater State University (BSU, 
the university) for the fscal year ended June 30, 2024. This report is presented in 3 sections, Introductory (background, 
summary information), Financial (basic fnancial statements of the university and component units, Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis), and Statistical (contextual data, 10 year look back). 

The fnancial statements and all disclosures necessary for a reader to gain an understanding of the university’s fnancial 
operations are found in the Financial section of the report. These statements are prepared in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles (GAAP) and in conformity with standards established by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board (GASB). 

Management Responsibility 
Management assumes full responsibility for the 
completeness and reliability of the information 
contained herein; to the best of our knowledge, the data 
is presented fairly and accurately in all material respects. 

Internal Controls 
The university’s internal control plan (ICP) identifes 
and summarizes department-wide risks and associated 
controls to mitigate those risks which can be broadly 
defned in fve categories: student life, safety, capital 
assets/facilities, information technology, and fnancial 
resources. As a basis for the ACFR, the ICP ensures that 
the university’s fnancial information is free of material 
misstatements and provides reasonable assurance against 
fraud and misappropriation. The concept of reasonable 
assurance recognizes that the cost of a control should not 
exceed the beneft derived (the objective is to provide 
reasonable though not absolute assurance). 

Independent Audit 
The independent auditor’s report (WithumSmith & 
Brown, PC) is found in the Financial section, and 
conveys an unmodifed opinion on the university’s 
fnancial statements. 

This Letter of Transmittal is designed to complement 
and be read in conjunction with the Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis (pages 26-53 following the 
audit report), which focuses on current activities, 
accounting changes, and currently known facts. 

PROFILE OF THE UNIVERSITY 

Founded by Horace Mann in 1840, Bridgewater State 
College began as a sited teacher-preparation program 
(Normal School) occupying a single room in the 
basement of Bridgewater Town Hall. Today, as one of 
Massachusetts’ largest public universities, Bridgewater 
State University (renamed 2011) educates and serves 
approximately 10,000 students each year; 93 percent of 
these students are from MA, and nearly 50 percent of 
undergraduates represent the frst generation of their 
families to attend college. 

The university operates as a state assisted institute of 
higher education; the funds for Bridgewater State 
University are included in the Annual Comprehensive 
Financial Report of the State of Massachusetts. 

The Board of Trustees of Bridgewater State University 
is the college’s governing body. Serving, is a diverse 
and dedicated group of leaders from across the region 
(page 16). The Board has a fduciary responsibility for 
the operation of the university, charged with reviewing 
and approving a range of academic and business 
matters including the annual budget and faculty tenure. 
It is through their stewardship that BSU executes its 
mission as an institute of public higher education. 

3 



 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

ACADEMICS 

The university ofers a broad range of curricula through 
its 6 colleges: the College of Education and Health 
Sciences; the College of Graduate Studies, the College of 
Humanities and Social Sciences, the Louis M. Ricciardi 
College of Business, the Bartlett College of Science 
and Mathematics; and the College of Continuing 
Studies. In fscal year ended June 30, 2024, 339 full 
time faculty/ librarians allowed for a 17:1 student 
faculty ratio and average class size of 22 (comparable to 
private institutions). 54 undergraduate degree and 43 
graduate degree programs, based on a course catalog of 
nearly 3 thousand classes in more than 100 areas of study, 
are available. In response to critical workforce needs, the 
university has developed new prospectuses in felds such 
as Photonics & Optical Engineering, Cybersecurity, 
Childhood Studies, and Public Relations. 

Academic highlights include: 

Education 
The university remains the most prolifc educator of 
new PreK-12 teachers in the commonwealth. In fscal 
year ended June 30, 2024, the university’s College of 
Education and Health Sciences (CEHS), in partnership 
with the College of Graduate Studies (CoGS) and the 
College of Continuing Studies (CCS), was awarded 
a 2-year $611,000 grant by Mass Department of 
Elementary and Secondary Education (DESE) to provide 
comprehensive support targeted to emergency license 
teachers working in the southeast region of Massachusetts. 

Undergraduate Research 
Bridgewater State University has built a nationally 
awarded Undergraduate Research program (Council on 
Undergraduate Research, CUR) with signifcant funding 
and opportunities for students in any major to discover 
new knowledge and make original contributions to their 
discipline or community. 

Aviation Science 
Since 2009 the university has operated the Aviation 
Accreditation Board International Certifed BSU fight 
training center adjacent to the New Bedford Airport, 
the only publicly funded baccalaureate fight training 
program in the commonwealth. In 2024 this program 
was awarded a $1.358 million Congressionally Funded 
Community Project grant. This funding will be used 
to expand/refresh the feet of university owned planes 
and construct a portable hangar in fscal year 2025. 

School of Social Work 
BSU ofers the largest Bachelor’s in Social Work program  
in Massachusetts and a Master’s of Social Work program  
that is rated among the top 100 in the United States 
(U.S. News, 2023). In 2024 BSU’s School of Social 
Work, Clinical Psychology, and Counselor Education  
(the frst counseling program in the Commonwealth of  
Massachusetts to achieve accreditation from the national  
Council for Accreditation of Counseling) participated in a  
$1.9 million grant funded Department of Mental Health  
(DMH) Workforce Development initiative. With an  
overarching goal of promoting the growth and stability of  
Massachusetts public sector behavioral health workforce,  
this program provided funding for paid internships.  

Cyber Security 
In conjunction with construction of the $3.8 million  
Cyber Range, the university received approval for a new  
undergraduate Cybersecurity degree program that is  
currently enrolling students. 

LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 4 



 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

  

CAMPUS 

The 278 acre campus is home to 39 academic, 
administrative, and residential buildings. In fscal year 
ended June 30, 2024 the university allocated $25.3 
million to capital improvements, as itemized on pages 
33-37 of this report. 

Recent and on-going capital projects include the 
following: 

Burnell Hall 
The university secured $32 million in state funding for 
the transformation of Burnell Hall into a unifed home 
for the College of Education and Health Sciences. 
New laboratories, classrooms, ofces and collaborative 
spaces will help prepare students for the high-tech 
schools and health facilities in which they will work. 
In elementary and middle/high school think-tank 
rooms, students, teachers and school district partners 
will explore the newest approaches to teaching.  
The total project cost is estimated at $50 million. 

Cyber Range 
In FY24 the university opened its grant-funded Cyber 
Range which provides hands-on training for BSU 
students, faculty, staf, and community partners. 

Bear Paw Pavilion 
After years of planning, in 2021 the Bear Paw 
Pavilion, located at the Edward C. Swenson Athletic 
Complex, ofcially opened. This $3.1 million project 
is the home of BSU Athletics locker rooms, a satellite 
athletic training space, mechanical/equipment space, 
and new public restrooms. 

CULTURE 

Bridgewater State University strives to be a caring and 
inclusive community. Social justice, civics education, 
community engagement and leadership opportunities 
are held in high esteem. To that end, the university 
has spearheaded numerous programs and initiatives 
aimed at exposing and critically examining inequities 
to provide means and resources for change. 

Martin Richard Institute for Social Justice 
On September 26, 2015, BSU renamed its Institute 
for Social Justice after the youngest victim of the 
2013 Boston Marathon bombings, Martin Richard.  
Martin’s parents met at Bridgewater State University 
and graduated as members of the class of 1993. The 
mission of the Martin Richard Institute for Social 
Justice (MRISJ) is to build knowledge about social 
justice, develop skills for advancing social justice 
through individual and collective action, and serve as 
a catalyst for actualizing Bridgewater State University’s 
commitment to social justice. December 2022 marked 
the opening of a new, permanent space for the 
MRISJ, a property purchased and renovated by The 
Bridgewater State University Foundation. During 
the 2023-2024 academic year, the Martin Richard 
Institute for Social Justice welcomed 1,404 students, 
faculty, staf, and community members to events and 
other engagement opportunities. 

Photos (left to right): 

Bear Paw Pavilion 

Martin Richard Institute for Social Justice,  
161 Summer Street, Bridgewater 5 



 
 

 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 

Young African Leaders Initiative (YALI) 
Since 2016, Bridgewater State University has hosted 
an elite group of Africa’s brightest emerging public 
administrators through the Young African Leaders 
Initiative – a program established by President Obama 
to support Young African leaders as they spur growth 
and prosperity, strengthen democratic governance, and 
enhance peace and security across Africa.  The university 
was one of two institutions in New England and twenty-
seven institutions nationwide to be selected to host the 
Mandela Washington Fellowship program for Young 
African Leaders.  In the summer of 2024, BSU hosted 
23 leaders from sub-Saharan African nations. Fellows 
met mayors, lawmakers and criminal justice leaders; sewed 
dresses for girls in Africa; participated in Bridgewater’s 
Juneteenth celebration and Independence Day parade; and 
attended classroom sessions taught by BSU criminal justice, 
communication, education and political science faculty. 

EXCEL Program 
The EXCEL Program at Bridgewater State University 
is a fully-inclusive postsecondary program for 
individuals with intellectual and/or developmental 
disabilities. Students in the EXCEL program share the 
same experiences as their college peers in the areas of 
academics, socialization, professional development, and 
independent living. Students become more independent 
and actively engaged in creating and living their lives. 
Program participants are often paired with a Peer Mentor, 
who is a current, full-time undergraduate student. Peer 
Mentors help EXCEL students assimilate to college life 
by introducing them to friends, exploring the campus, 
and encouraging involvement in BSU clubs and activities. 
By spending time with Peer Mentors, EXCEL students 
develop friendships and feel socially connected to BSU 
student life. This program is supported by approximately 
$331,000 in state funding and a $93,000 private grant. 

Racial Justice Task Force 
In June 2020, President Clark announced the formation 
of a Special Presidential Task Force on Racial Justice. 
With a mission of translating longstanding institutional 
values into an action agenda for positive and necessary 
change, this task force was charged with conducting a 
comprehensive review aimed at identifying elements of 
policy, practice, and culture that may serve to impede 
the university’s eforts at fully realizing racial justice and 
equity at BSU. The task force published their report in 
May 2021. The University Board of Trustees endorsed this 
report and created a board of trustee committee entitled 
the Racial Justice and Equity Committee. This board 
oversees implementation of the action items identifed in 
the report and maintains focus on this important initiative. 

Racial Equity and Justice Institute (REJI) 
Bridgewater State University’s Racial Equity and Justice 
Institute (REJI) was awarded a $250,000 grant for the 
development of relevant support materials to be used 
by faculty and librarians, trustees, and other members 
of the campus community. These funds originate from 
the state’s Higher Education Innovation Fund (HEIF), 
which supports the Department of Higher Education’s 
various goals. The grant funds will enable the university’s 
Student Success, Equity, and Diversity department to 
develop scafolded materials in key functional areas of 
higher education focused on equity-minded competency 
development. To create these materials, REJI will be 
working with recognized national experts. These leaders, 
working in conjunction with members of REJI, will launch 
the project by developing materials initially for interested 
faculty and librarians, trustees, and researchers. As additional 
funding is secured, materials will be developed focused 
on other roles in higher education. These materials will 
be available in a self-paced learning managed system, with 
content geared specifcally to each user’s role on campus. 

Photos (left to right): 

Mandela fellows meet with Travis Adkins, president and CEO  
of the U.S. African Development Foundation 

2023 Racial Equity Justice Institute Summit LETTER OF TRANSMITTAL 6 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 
  
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

 

INITIATIVES 

The following section highlights signifcant initiatives 
that may be refected in past, present or future fnancials. 
These initiatives are included as they relate to, or are 
informed by, the overarching objective of student success, 
as stated in the university’s strategic plan. 

Bridgewater Commitment 
Starting in the fall 2025 semester, the Bridgewater 
Commitment will cover the full cost of tuition and 
mandatory fees for in-state students from families earning 
$125,000 or less. The Bridgewater Commitment provides 
fnancial support to middle and low income families so 
students can pursue the benefts of an excellent four-
year degree provided by one of America’s Best Colleges, 
as ranked by The Wall Street Journal, without being 
burdened by the costs of in-state tuition and mandatory 
fees. 

CONNECT 
Bridgewater State University continues to beneft from 
CONNECT, its regional partnership with other public 
higher education institutions in the region – UMass 
Dartmouth, Massachusetts Maritime Academy, Massasoit 
Community College, Bristol Community College 
and Cape Cod Community College.  The program’s 
mission is to leverage the quality, strength, resources and 
excellence of the fve public higher education institutions 
of Connect and to enhance educational efectiveness and 
efciency while improving student success, increasing 
educational attainment, advancing economic health, 
and strengthening cultural life throughout the region. 
CONNECT coordinates the academic, administrative 
and development activities of public higher education 
in Southeastern Massachusetts and introduces shared 
activities and programs among member institutions. 

The Commonwealth Commitment 
As a state supported university, BSU has participated 
in the Commonwealth Commitment since 2016. This 
college afordability initiative allows qualifying students 
from Massachusetts to signifcantly lower the cost of a 
bachelor’s degree by beginning their post-secondary 
education at a community college and transferring to a 
four-year campus. Tuition and mandatory fees are frozen 
as of the day participants enter the program and 10 
percent rebates are awarded at the end of each successfully 
completed semester. Locally, this program was expanded 
in 2017 to include two additional initiatives (MCC2BSU, 
BCC2BSU) that guarantee Massasoit Community 
College and Bristol Community College students dual 
admission into targeted undergraduate programs at 
BSU.  Dual enrollment removes barriers and secures an 
afordable pathway between the institutions. 

ECONOMIC OUTLOOK & LONG-TERM 
FINANCIAL PLANNING 

Strategic Plan 
Under the leadership of President Fred Clark, 
Bridgewater State University has implemented a unique 
strategic planning process with a central focus on student 
success and achievement. This planning process is 
exceptional both in its design and in its time horizon. 
The process, based on a nested planning model, includes 
an institutional plan; a divisional level plan; and college, 
departmental, and program level plans. In addition, the 
model allows for formalization of policies and procedures 
that inform the decision-making process going forward. 

The second 5-year Strategic Plan (2.0) was completed 
in December of 2023 and approved by The Board of 
Trustees. The goals, objectives, and outcome measures 
will provide specifcity on strategic needs and will help 
guide the utilization of future fnancial resources. Photos (left to right): 

Students enjoy a hot air balloon ride on campus, Fall 2023 

2024 BSU Impact Awards 7 



 

 

 

 

 

• GOAL 1 - Focus resources and decisions on the 
overarching priority of student success. 

• GOAL 2 - Provide a teaching and learning 
environment with exceptional educational 
opportunities for intellectual, creative and 
professional growth. 

• GOAL 3 - Enhance and enrich the employee 
experience in support of the strategic priorities of 
the University. 

• GOAL 4 - Serve as a regional catalyst for economic, 
cultural and intellectual engagement. 

• GOAL 5 - Lead and catalyze equity and social 
justice within Bridgewater State University, our 
region, state, and nation. 

Budget 
The university utilizes a resource planning process 
for each budget year.  This systematic efort allows 
the institution to fully align resource designs with 
priorities informed by President Clark’s strategic plan; 
make integrated decisions with respect to a broad 
range of resource pools (i.e. operating budgets, human 
resources, space and equipment); ofer department 
heads and chairs a regular opportunity to assess the 
challenges and opportunities they face and express that 
assessment to senior managers; and provide for greater 
transparency about how resource decisions are made. 

Budgetary controls necessitated by the COVID related 
enrollment downturn, coupled with unexpected 
additional state support, resulted in an increase in 
the long-term reserve. The university continues to 
prioritize growth of these funds. 

State Appropriation 
As a commonwealth-supported institution, the 
majority of the university’s fnancial support is an 
appropriation from the state of Massachusetts. The 
amount of this funding is determined by factors 
such as university enrollment, collective bargaining 
agreements, and total state revenues. The Fair Share 
Amendment, passed by voters in 2022, generates 
billions in yearly support for transportation and public 
education through added tax on household with very 
high annual income. The Commonwealth is still 
determining a spending plan for higher education as 
this tax revenue becomes more predictable. 

Tuition and Fees, Enrollment and Retention 
In June 2024, the university approved a 3% increase 
in mandatory tuition and fees for the 2024-2025 
academic year. In March 2024, an increase in 
residence hall rates for the 2024-2025 academic year 
was approved by the Massachusetts Board of Higher 
Education as proposed by BSU and endorsed by the 
MSCBA. The average increase was 4.3% and targeted 
the newer, in demand residence halls.  The most 
signifcant impact on tuition and fee revenue however, 
is BSU’s continued eforts toward recruitment and 
retention. Registration in the Fall 2024 semester 
shows an overall increase of 2% versus Fall 2023. This 
enrollment growth positively impacted residence hall 
occupancy, which increased to 95% in Fall 2024 from 
94% in Fall 2023 (typical occupancy rates range from 
95-100%). 

(Continued on next page) 

Photos (left to right): 

International students’ dinner with President Clark, Fall 2023 
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(Tuition and Fees, Enrollment and Retention) 

Other factors contributing to enrollment and retention 
include: 

• During fscal year ended June 30, 2025, through 
the BSU Foundation, the university received a $1.0 
million retention grant from an anonymous donor. 
100% of these funds will provide scholarships to 
qualifed students who are at risk of not persisting. 

• SUCCESS Pilot Program: $2.9 million state 
funding in fscal year 2025 for wraparound services 
and additional supports aimed at improving at-risk 
student outcomes. In addition to micro grants 
(aimed at ancillary student expenses), this state 
funding will allow for expansion of BSU’s Student 
Navigators program. 

• BSU awards $4.2 million in merit-based 
scholarships annually to frst year students; these 
scholarships position BSU to compete with regional 
higher education institutions for student enrollment. 

• During fscal year 2025, BSU launches a robust 
marketing campaign. 

Grant Revenue 
The graph on page 46 of this report displays the 
growth of sponsored research grants awarded to BSU 
over the past decade. The total exceeding $10 million 
in 2024 represents a 100% increase over fscal year 
2023. 

Other Support 
Alumni and friends consistently contribute a signifcant 
amount of support for faculty and student research, a 
myriad of undergraduate and graduate scholarships/ 
internships, international study opportunities and 
award-winning publications. These private investments 
complement growing levels of public support for the 
institution. Donations, capital assets and re-invested 
earnings totaled $76.4 million as of June 30, 2024. 

FINANCIAL POLICIES AND 
ABSTRACTS OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Collection Practices 
In 2018 the BSU introduced a series of new student 
billing and collection processes that aligned university 
procedures with industry best practices, such as the use 
of a student fnancial responsibility agreement. The 
changes resulted in increased collection rates and a 
reduction of approximately $3.8 million to the student 
accounts receivable balance when comparing $8.25 
million at June 30, 2017 versus $3.8 million at June 30, 
2024. 

GASB Pronouncements 
GASB 96, Subscription Based Information 
Technology Arrangements (SBITAs) is based on the 
principle that SBITAs result in intangible right-to-use 
subscription assets and corresponding subscription 
liabilities. Historically, these payments were presented 
as operating expenses on the Statements of Revenues, 
Expenses and Changes in Net Position. With the 
adoption of GASB 96 they are recorded as right-to-use 
assets and short-term and long-term liabilities on the 
fnancial statements. Implementation of this standard 
in the current fscal year (presented with a multi-year 
restatement) impacted debt burden ratio (page 38) and 
had minimal impact on Net Position. 

GASB 87, Leases, is based on the principle that leases 
are fnancings of the right to use an underlying asset. 
A lessee is required to recognize a lease liability and an 
intangible right to use lease asset.  A lessor is required 
to recognize a lease receivable and a deferred infow 
of resources. Implementation of this standard in fscal 
year ended June 30, 2022 had a signifcant impact on 
Net Position and continues to impact the debt burden 
ratio. 

Photo: 

Congressman Keating visits the Cyber Range 9 



GASB 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting 
for Pensions and GASB 75, Accounting and 
Financial Reporting for Postemployment 
Benefts Other Than Pensions (OPEB). GASB 
68 requires all participating entities in a multiple 
employer cost-sharing defned beneft plan, such as 
the Commonwealth’s State Employee Retirement 
System (SERS), to record their proportionate 
share of the plan’s Net Pension Liability (NPL) 
along with related deferrals and pension expense. 
GASB 75 requires all participating entities in the 
Commonwealth’s employer defned beneft OPEB 
plan, the State Retirees’ Beneft Trust, to record their 
proportionate share of the plan’s net OPEB liability 
along with related deferrals and OPEB expense. 
These standards continue to have signifcant impact, 
positive or negative, on the university’s Net Position as 
indicated in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
(Financial section, immediately preceding the fnancial 
statements). 

OTHER INFORMATION 

Independent Audit 
The university is audited annually by WithumSmith & 
Brown (O’Connor & Drew, P.C. joined WithumSmith 
& Brown January, 2023) to ensure proper internal 
controls and compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations.  The audit is conducted in accordance 
with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America and the standards applicable 
to fnancial audits contained in Government Auditing 
Standards issued by the Comptroller General of the 
United States. 

Single Audit 
Prior to Fiscal 2012, Bridgewater State University, as 
a state agency, was included in the Statewide Single 
Audit of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. 
Beginning in Fiscal 2012, the university and 
the other 23 State Universities and Community 
Colleges in Massachusetts were excluded from the 
Commonwealth’s Statewide Single Audit and are now 
required to complete separate independent Single 
Audits. Bridgewater State University’s Single Audit is 
conducted by WithumSmith & Brown. The Single 
Audit report is prepared in accordance with Title 2 
U.S. Code of Federal Regulations Part 200, Uniform 
Administrative Requirements, Cost Principles 
and Audit Requirements for Federal Awards and 
Government Auditing Standards. 
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ACCREDITATIONS, CERTIFICATIONS, 
AND RECOGNITIONS 

On March 21, 2023, Bridgewater State University 
was notifed of continued accreditation by the 
New England Commission of Higher Education 
(NECHE). The university was commended for 
the “positive culture” that contributes to the 
institution’s success as evidenced by a “strong 
inculcated sense of purpose and mission,” a 
commitment to shared governance, and a “deep 
trust” among the divisions of the University.” 
Bridgewater’s next interim (5-year) evaluation 
visit is scheduled for Fall 2027. 

Accreditations 

• Accreditation Board for Engineering and 
Technology 

• American Chemical Society 

• American Council on the Teaching of Foreign 
Languages 

• Association for Childhood Education International 

• American Speech-Language and Hearing 
Association 

• Aviation Accreditation Board International 

• Commission on Accreditation of Allied Health 
Education Programs 

• Commission on Accreditation of Athletic Training 
Education 

• Council for Exceptional Children 

• Council on Social Work Education 

• Council for Accreditation of Counseling and 
Related Educational Programs 

• Educational Leadership Constituent Council 

• Federal Aviation Administration 

• International Reading Association 

• International Society for Technology in Education 

• Interstate Agreement for Educator Licensure 

• Massachusetts Board of Public Accountancy, 
Option-One Status 

• Masters in Psychology and Counseling 
Accreditation Council 

• National Association for the Education of the 
Young Child 

• National Association of Schools of Music 

• National Association of Schools of Art and Design 

• National Association of Schools of Public Afairs 
and Administration 

• National Council for the Social Studies 

• National Council of Teachers of English 

• National Council of Teachers of Mathematics 

• National Professional Science Masters Association 

• Society for Health and Physical Educators 

• United States Tennis Association 
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Recognitions 

BSU ranks in the top 20 percent of schools nationwide 
and 18th out of more than 100 Massachusetts 
institutions by The Wall Street Journal/College Pulse 
(2024 Best Colleges in the U.S.). With emphasis on 
value added and student success, this report ranks 
the top 400 universities in the country, factoring in 
resources, engagement, outcomes, and environment. 
Bridgewater is one of only eight public colleges and 
universities in New England listed among the best 
colleges. 

The university holds a number of other notable 
distinctions: 

• AcademicInfuence.com, 2024: in a national 
ranking of the safest colleges campuses in America, 
Bridgewater State University earned the number 4 
spot. 

• U.S. News, 2023: BSU’s Master’s of Social Work 
program was named one of the top programs in the 
country. 

• The Chronicle of Higher Education, 2021: BSU 
ranked ninth in the nation among institutions in 
its mission class for six-year graduation rates for 
undergraduate Black students. 

• In 2020, BSU was ranked among Money’s Best 
Colleges. 

• According to a 2020 analysis of FBI and U.S. 
Department of Education data compiled by the 
organization YourLocalSecurity, Bridgewater State 
University was cited as the “Fourth Safest Higher 
Education Institution in the United States” and 
ranked frst in New England. 

• The Council on Undergraduate Research (CUR), 
2019: Bridgewater State received the  Campus-
Wide Award for Undergraduate Research 
Accomplishments (AURA). 

• The Department of State, 2019: named BSU as one 
of the top Fulbright-producing institutions.  

• National Council for Home Safety and Security 
(NCHSS), 2018: Bridgewater State University was 
named the “Fifth Safest Campus in the United 
States” and placed frst in the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts. 

• Teacher.org, 2016: the special education program 
at Bridgewater State University earned a top-ten 
national ranking from Teacher.org. This ranking 
considered graduation rates, size of program, 
and default rates of more than 400 colleges and 
universities.  BSAU was the only institution from 
Massachusetts to receive recognition. 

• Council on Undergraduate Research (CUR), 2015: 
Bridgewater State University was named one of 
59 top programs in the nation, “leading the way” 
in supporting student participation at the National 
Conference on Undergraduate Research. 

• The Education Trust, 2015: the university’s 
commitment to student success earned national 
attention with a ranking on Top-Gaining Four-Year 
Public Institutions list.  
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AWARDS AND ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS 

Certifcate of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting 

The Government Finance Ofcers Association (GFOA) awarded a Certifcate of Achievement for Excellence in 
Financial Reporting to Bridgewater State University for the Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for the fscal 
year ended June 30, 2023. In order the receive this award, the university must publish an easily readable, efciently 
organized report that satisfes both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable legal requirements. 2023 
marks the sixteenth consecutive year that the university has achieved this prestigious award. BSU is the only college in 
MA and 1 of 2 in New England to receive it. 

We believe that BSU’s ACFR for the fscal year ended June 30, 2024 continues to meet the Certifcate of 
Achievement Program’s requirements; we will be submitting it to the GFOA to determine its eligibility for another 
certifcate. 
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the university. Likewise, we wish to thank the members of the university community whose cooperation made the 
annual fscal close a success. 
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Comptroller 

Amy Beaulieu 
Associate Vice President of Finance 

Morgan Tat 
Associate Comptroller 
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 ECLIPSING 

Expectations 
Sitting on blankets, benches and Adirondack chairs across 

campus, people donned special glasses to gaze skyward as 

the eclipse progressed. The university distributed thousands 

of the glasses that enabled people to look at the sun 

without damaging their eyes. High atop the Dana-Mohler 

Faria Center for Science and Mathematics, the observatory 

opened its roof decks to the BSU community and the public. 

Some of the hundreds of students gathered in University 

Park even started a countdown to the peak moment when 

the moon blocked out an impressive 92 percent of the sun. 

Janelle Murphy, ’26, a photonics and optical engineering and 

management major, credited her work at the observatory 

with improving her science communication skills. Those were 

on full display as she helped eclipse watchers use telescopes 

on a roof deck. 

“It’s amazing,” she said of BSU experiences outside of 

the classroom. “It’s really encouraging and exposes me to 

so many aspects of my career. ... What I really like about 

Bridgewater State are the opportunities and ability to learn 

from those opportunities.” 



 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

  
 

 

 

R E S P E C T E D  

L E A D E R S  

J O I N  B O A R D  

O F  T R U S T E E S  

MICHAEL TAYLOR 

Michael Taylor is honored to have been appointed by former Gov. Charlie Baker to 

serve on BSU’s Board of Trustees. A lifelong Boston resident, he was president of the 

Urban College of Boston for about a decade before retiring in 2022. The college is 

a non-traditional institution serving diverse and under-represented students. Taylor 

helped the college increase enrollment and improve its fnancial picture.  He also 

served at the Massachusetts Executive Offce of Labor and Workforce Development 

during former Gov. Deval Patrick’s administration and began his career working in 

public housing. 

After attending his frst trustees meeting in December of 2023, he said, “I was 

impressed with the degree of collegiality and respect that the community had for 

each other and for President Clark, and also the pride and joy that people had 

about being a member of the Bridgewater community, it was so striking and clear.” 

TIFFONY CESERO 

A community leader and the president and CEO of the security company K-9 

Mercantile Protection Inc., Tiffony Cesero brings a passion for helping students that 

is rooted in her family experience. She raised three children of her own, another four 

through marriage, as well as a niece and a close family friend. 

“I want to always make a difference and be impactful in the lives of our leaders of 

tomorrow,” she said. 

To that end, Cesero serves on boards of the Old Colony YMCA, Sunrise Rotary Club 

and Salvation Army. She mentors high school students with disabilities who are 

transitioning into the workforce. 

“It’s unbelievable to be afforded this opportunity,” Cesero said of being appointed 

to BSU’s Board of Trustees by Gov. Maura Healey. “I’m very honored.” 

EMILY ROSE, ’25 

During 2024, Emily Rose, ’25, joined the Board of Trustees as the student trustee 

while Dr. Michael Vieira, ’75, G’82 was appointed as the alumni representative.   

Chosen by student and alumni respectively,  Trustees Rose and Vieira fll the only 

board seats that are not appointed by the governor.  Trustee Rose, the president 

of the Student Government Association last year, has been an effective voice and 

advocate for student issues and concerns for several years.  They aspire to serve their 

country in the Army and currently lead an ROTC company that includes students 

from Bridgewater and nearby colleges.  Trustee Vieira and President Clark have 

worked closely for decades during his time as an academic leader at Bristol Com-

munity College and more recently as a key member of the BSU Alumni Association.  

Both Trustees Rose and Vieira look forward to sharing their valuable perspectives as 

members of the Board of Trustees. 

DR. MICHAEL VIEIRA, ’75, G’82 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Trustees of 
Bridgewater State University: 

Report on the Audit of Financial Statements 

Opinions 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the business-type activities and the aggregate 
discretely presented major component units, of Bridgewater State University (a component of the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts) (the "university"), as of and for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the related notes 
to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the university’s basic financial statements as listed in the 
table of contents. 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective net 
position of the business-type activities and the aggregate discretely presented component units of Bridgewater 
State University as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and the respective changes in net position and, where applicable, 
cash flows, combining statements of net position of major component units and combining statements of revenues, 
expenses and changes in net position of major component units for the years then ended in accordance with 
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 

Basis for Opinions 

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America 
and the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards, issued by the 
Comptroller General of the United States. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the 
Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the university, and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical 
requirements relating to our audit. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinions. 

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, 
and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. In preparing the financial statements, management 
is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial 
doubt about the university’s ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial statement 
date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly thereafter. 
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Auditor’s Responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinions. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance and therefore is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the United States of America 
and Government Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 
Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they 
would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.  

In performing an audit in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards in the United States of America 
and Government Auditing Standards, we: 

 Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include 
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the university’s internal control. Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements. 

 Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise 
substantial doubt about the university’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of 
time. We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-
related matters that we identified during the audit. 

We are required to communicate to those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned 
scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control-related matters that we have 
identified during the audit. 

Required Supplementary Information 

Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that management's discussion 
and analysis and other required supplementary information as listed in the table of contents be presented to 
supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management, although not a 
part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, who considers 
it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic financial statements in an appropriate 
operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied certain limited procedures to the required 
supplementary information in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of 
America and Government Auditing Standards, which consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of 
preparing the information and comparing the information for consistency with management's responses to our 
inquiries, the basic financial statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial 
statements. We do not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited 
procedures do not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance. 
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Other Reporting Required by Government Auditing Standards 

In accordance with Government Auditing Standards, we have also issued our report dated October 30, 2024, 
on our consideration of the university's internal control over financial reporting and on our tests of its compliance 
with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, and grant agreements and other matters. The purpose 
of that report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control over financial reporting and 
compliance and the results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the university's 
internal control over financial reporting or on compliance. That report is an integral part of an audit 
performed in accordance with Government Auditing Standards in considering the university's internal 
control over financial reporting and compliance. 

October 30, 2024 
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WE ACCEPT,  

With Pride 
BSU has placed third in the United States in a ranking of 

the most LGBTQIA+-friendly colleges and universities in 

the nation. It is the highest ranking among New England 

schools in the new analysis from BestColleges.com. The 

report identifes institutions that excel in providing academic, 

fnancial and social resources for LGBTQIA+ students. 

BestColleges.com, which based its analysis partly on federal 

data, called BSU a “best value” institution and praised the 

many opportunities for “students to understand and explore 

LGBTQ+ identity and culture.” It also highlighted Pride 

Center activities such as Big Queer Welcome, the Pride365 

mentorship program and Queer Prom. At BSU, 14 percent of 

students openly identify as LGBTQIA+. And approximately 

94 percent of LGBTQIA+ full-time students who started 

in fall 2023 returned for the spring semester, a retention 

rate that is up by 11 percentage points in fve years. The 

university offers support in all areas of campus life. Those 

initiatives include gender-inclusive bathrooms and housing, 

trans-inclusive student health insurance, and easy processes 

to update names and share pronouns. and beyond. 

https://BestColleges.com
https://BestColleges.com


 

 

  
 

 

 

  

  

 

L A B  L E S S O N S  

With a mixture of patience, encouragement and a little hands-on 
demonstration, Wafc Ellakis, ’25, discovered the ideal formula 
to guide curious high schoolers in building solar cells. Under 
the watchful eyes of Wafc and his Bridgewater peers, the AP 
environmental science students from Fall River’s Durfee High School 
constructed the cells during a special visit to Bridgewater State 
University. 

“It gives me a perspective on whether I like teaching,” said Wafc, 
a chemistry major who appreciates opportunities at BSU to explore 
careers. “I think it’s great to give back to the community. This is part 
of the reason why I choose to go to BSU.” Approximately 30 high 
schoolers assembled cells from scratch using frozen blackberries as 
a key ingredient. Blackberries have a dark pigment that is good for 
absorbing sunlight. Students also toured BSU labs and ate lunch on 
campus. 

The event was part of an approximately $350,000, three-year grant 
that Dr. Sarah Soltau received from the National Science Foundation. 
The award supports research at predominately undergraduate 
institutions and helps build the scientists of tomorrow. 

“I think it’s great to give 

back to the community. 

This is part of the reason 

why I choose to go to BSU.” 
Wafc Ellakis, ’25 



BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

The following discussion and analysis offers readers of Bridgewater State University’s (the university, BSU) 
annual financial report a narrative overview of the financial position and activities of the university and its 
component units as of and during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2024. This discussion has been prepared by 
management along with the financial statements and related footnote disclosures and should be read in 
conjunction with the financial statements and footnotes. The financial statements, footnotes, and this 
discussion, are the responsibility of management. 

The university is a comprehensive public four-year institution with approximately 9,550 undergraduate and 
graduate students. BSU is the largest of the nine Massachusetts state universities and the fourth largest of 
the 29 public college and university campuses in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the Commonwealth, 
COMA). Founded in 1840 by Horace Mann, the university is home to the nation’s oldest permanently sited 
teacher-preparation program and is one of the most prolific generators of new teachers, training more 
science and math teachers than any institution in the Commonwealth. Today, the university offers a broad 
range of graduate and undergraduate degree programs through its six colleges: Bartlett College of Science 
and Mathematics, College of Education and Health Sciences, College of Humanities and Social Sciences, 
Louis M. Ricciardi College of Business, College of Continuing Studies, and College of Graduate Studies. The 
university awarded 2,321 degrees last year, a 6.2% decrease over the last ten years. The university instructed 
over 245,000 credits, a 0.06% increase over the previous year. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Highlights 

The university’s financial position at June 30, 2024 includes assets of $455.8 million, deferred outflows of 
resources of $14.5 million, liabilities of $339.6 million and deferred inflows of resources of $83.7 million. Net 
position, representing the residual interest in the university’s assets and deferred outflows of resources after 
liabilities and deferred inflows of resources are deducted, may serve over time as a useful indicator of the 
university’s financial position. The university’s fiscal year 2024 net position increased $18.6 million  as 
compared to the June 30, 2023 net position ending balance of $28.3 million. 

The financial position of the university’s component units remained positive at June 30, 2024 with assets of 
$77.1 million and liabilities of $677 thousand.  The component units recognized a net position increase of 
$8.6 million to $76.4 million, a 13% increase in total net assets. This increase is primarily due to positive 
impacts on the market which resulted in increased investment returns and higher gifts and contributions 
received. 

The combined financial position of the university and component units reflects assets of $532.8 million, 
deferred outflows of resources of $14.5 million, liabilities of $340.3 million, deferred inflows of resources of 
$83.7 million and combined net position of $123.3 million at June 30, 2024. 

The university’s net position is continuously impacted due to the accounting requirements of GASB 68 and 
GASB 75.  BSU has limited control over these net long-term obligations as the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts controls these statewide plan offerings, funding requirements, investment decisions and 
actuarial determinations. The impact of the change in these obligations results in either a negative or positive 
impact on unrestricted net position annually.  In fiscal year 2024, it resulted in an increase in BSU’s net 
position of approximately $19.7 million compared to an increase in net position of $12.9 million in 2023 and 
an increase of $9.7 million in fiscal year 2022.  

The university’s unrestricted net position is comprised of the following at June 30: 

2024 2023 
Restated 

2022 
Beginning unrestricted  net position $  (85,071,250) $  (99,989,551) $(132,745,617) 
Ending  unrestricted  net position (67,647,601) (85,071,250) (99,989,551)
Change in  unrestricted net position $   17,423,649 $     14,918,301 $     32,756,066 

Increase (Decrease) in net position, Pension GASB 68 5,018,856 3,649,978 4,084,386 
Increase (Decrease) in net position, OPEB GASB 75 14,642,854 9,228,613 5,633,463 

19,661,710 12,878,591 9,717,849 
Increase (Decrease) in unrestricted net position, other sources $ (2,238,061) $ 2,039,710 $ 23,038,217 
Change in unrestricted net position $ 17,423,649 $ 14,918,301 $ 32,756,066 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Overview of the Financial Statements 

This discussion and analysis  is  intended  to serve as  an  introduction to  Bridgewater  State University’s basic  
financial statements. Bridgewater State  University’s basic  financial statements comprise two components: 
1) the financial  statements and 2) th e notes to the financial statements. 

The financial statements are designed to provide readers with a broad overview of Bridgewater State 
University’s finances in a manner similar to a private-sector institution. The university’s financial report 
includes three financial statements: the Statement of Net Position, the Statement of Revenues, Expenses 
and Changes in Net Position and the Statement of Cash Flows. 

These statements are prepared in accordance with Government Accounting Standards Board (GASB) 
principles. These principles establish standards for external financial reporting for public colleges and 
universities and require that financial statements be presented on a consolidated basis to focus on the 
institution as a whole. A description of the financial statements follows. 

The Bridgewater State University Foundation (the Foundation) and the Bridgewater Alumni Association (the 
Alumni Association), component units of the university, were formed to render financial assistance and 
support to the educational programs and development of the university. Both organizations are legally 
separate from the university; the university has no financial responsibility for either organization. The 
Foundation and the Alumni Association have been included within these financial statements because of the 
nature and significance of their relationship with the university. Complete financial statements for either 
organization can be obtained from their respective administrative offices in Bridgewater, Massachusetts. 
These discretely presented component units have been aggregated into a single combined column on the 
accompanying financial statements. 

Statements of Net Position 
The Statements of Net Position presents information on all of Bridgewater State University’s assets, deferred 
outflows of resources, liabilities, and deferred inflows of resources with the difference reported as net 
position. Over time, increases or decreases in net position may serve as a useful indicator of whether the 
financial position of Bridgewater State University is improving or deteriorating. The Statement of Net Position 
is prepared under the accrual basis of accounting, whereby revenues and assets are recognized when the 
service is provided and the expenses and liabilities are recognized when others provide the service, 
regardless of when cash is exchanged. 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 
The Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position presents information showing how the 
university’s net position changed during the most recent fiscal year. All changes in net position are reported 
as soon as the underlying event giving rise to the change occurs, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. 
Thus, revenues and expenses are reported in this statement for some items that will only result in cash flows 
in future fiscal periods (e.g. the accrual for compensated absences). 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Overview of the Financial Statements (Continued) 

Statements of Cash Flows 
The Statements of Cash Flows is reported on the direct method. The direct method of cash flow reporting 
portrays net cash flows from operations as major classes of operating receipts (e.g., tuition and fees) and 
disbursements (e.g. cash paid to employees for services). GASB Statements 34 and 35 require this method 
to be used. 

Bridgewater State University reports its activity as a business-type activity using the economic resources 
measurement focus and the accrual basis of accounting. The university is an Agency of the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts. Therefore, the results of the university’s operations, its net position and cash flows are 
also combined within the Commonwealth’s Comprehensive Annual Financial Report in its government-wide 
financial statements. 

Notes 
The Notes to the financial statements provide additional information that is essential to a full understanding 
of the data provided in the financial statements. 

Financial Analysis of the University 

Net Position 
Bridgewater State University realized an increase of $18.6 million to net position in fiscal year 2024. 
Contributing to this growth were increases in the following revenue streams: MBHE and other state, federal 
and private grants, state and capital appropriations, auxiliary revenue due to increased fees,  gifts from the 
foundation, and investment revenue. Investment revenue increased due to a 76% increase in  deposits at 
Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT) coupled with an uptick in interest rates (refer to Note 3 
accompanying the basic financial statements). Continued application of GASB 75, Postemployment 
Benefits Other Than Pensions, and GASB 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for Pensions also had a 
positive impact on net position. Increased scholarship support and increases in payroll costs and fringe 
rate, as seen in instruction, academic, and institutional support expenses, offset these increases to net 
position. 

Bridgewater State University realized an increase of $10 million to net position in fiscal year 2023. This 
growth was attributable to increased state and capital appropriations (refer to Note 21 accompanying the 
basic financial statements), increased MBHE and other state grants, increased auxiliary revenue related to 
greater residence hall occupancy, and an increase in investment revenue due to greater deposits at MMDT 
coupled with an uptick in interest rates. Reduction in HEERF funded scholarship awards, expenses related 
to operation and maintenance of plant, and expenses related to continued application of GASB 75, 
Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, and GASB 68, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Pensions also had positive impact on net position. These increases to net position were offset by a decrease 
in HEERF and other non-operating revenue that was received in fiscal year 2022 and increases to auxiliary  
and institutional support expense. The impact of the implementation of GASB 96, SBITAs in Fiscal Year 2023 was not 
significant. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Bridgewater State University realized an increase of $17.1 million to net position in fiscal year 2022. This 
increase was attributable to increased HEERF funding (primarily ARPA grants), increased state appropriation, 
increased auxiliary revenue due to increase in residence hall occupancy, and reduction in expenses due to 
continued application of GASB 75, Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions, and GASB 68, Accounting 
and Financial Reporting for Pensions. These increases to net position were offset by the impact of GASB 87, 
Leases, increased payroll costs and fringe rate for collective bargaining increases and retroactive pay 
adjustments, and increased scholarship support. The impact of the implementation of GASB 96, SBITAs in 
Fiscal Year 2023 was not significant. 

Over time, increases or decreases in net position is one indicator of the improvement or erosion of the 
university’s financial health when considered with non-financial facts such as enrollment levels and the 
condition of the facilities. We have displayed several comparisons in our financial statements with and 
without the GASB 68 and GASB 75 impacts to demonstrate a clearer financial picture. A portion of 
Bridgewater State University’s net position represents scholarships and grants that are classified as 
restricted funds as their use is subject to certain externally imposed limitations. 

Ratio Analysis 
Ratio analysis measures certain elements of an institution’s overall financial health.  The Massachusetts 
Department of Higher Education has instituted the use of certain core financial ratios as part of their 
performance measures for public universities and colleges in the Commonwealth.  Analysis using some of 
these ratios, as well as other commonly accepted ratios, are incorporated throughout this document. 

Primary Reserve Ratio 
The primary reserve ratio measures the financial strength of the institution by comparing expendable net 
assets to total expenses.  This ratio provides a snapshot of financial strength and flexibility by indicating how 
long the institution could function using its expendable reserves without relying on additional net assets 
generated by operations. The ratio recommended by the industry standard ranges between 15-40%. The 
table below illustrates the ratio computed for the primary government and our component units as well as 
the ratio calculated without the impact of the application of the GASB 68 pension and GASB 75 OPEB 
standards. 

University and Component  Unit - Combined  

2024 2023 2022 
(12.29%) (21.73%) (28.30%) 

University and Component  Unit  -Combined 
Without the Impact of Pension and OPEB 

2024 2023 2022 
40.76% 44.47% 41.79% 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)

Management’s Discussion and Analysis

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued)

9 

A summary of the Statement of Net Position is presented below at June 30:

2024 2023 
(Reste te d) 

2022 
Current assets $ 121,897,676 $ 113,614,074 $ 106,611,644 
Capitel assets 333,459,115 336,095,175 344,855,889 
Non-current assets 415,269 462,556 508,737 

Total assets 45S,772,060 450,171,806 461,976,270 

Deferred out flows of resources 14,473,771 18,761,444 30.036,088 

Current liabilities 54,614,964 49,191,051 43,317,945 
Non-current l iabilities 285.002,966 318,240,881 327.558,630 

Total l iabilities 339.617,930 367,431,932 370,876,575 

Deferred inflows of resources 83,682.282 73,162,935 92.799,552 

Net position: 

Net Investment in capital assets 113.080.004 112,038,736 116.712,575 
Restricted 1,513,216 1.370,896 1,613,206 
Unrestricted {67, 647,6011 185 071,2501 199 989 550) 

Total net position $ 46,945,619 $ 28,338,382 $ 18,336,231 

Current Assets 
The change in the current asset category when comparing 2024 to 2023 is mainly due to an increase in net 
accounts receivable of $3.3 million. This primarily represents funds due BSU for locally funded capital 
projects. Student receivables remained stable due to strong collection practices. Cash and cash equivalents 
increased $3 million. This can be attributed to budgetary controls and interest earnings. Deposits held by 
State Treasurer, which represents funding for future payroll, increased $2.4 million.

The change in the current asset category when comparing 2023 to 2022 is mainly due to an increase in cash 
and cash equivalents of $5.8 million. This is primarily attributed to budgetary controls and interest earnings. 
Net accounts receivable increased $1.9 million, which can be attributed to state and federal grants related 
to cyber range construction and other receivables that include locally funded capital projects and reserve for 
IT initiatives. Student receivables remained stable due to strong collection practices.



 
 

  

  
 

   

        
   

  
     

    
 

 
 

      
 

   
        

   
      

    

 
       

  
     

      
  

 
       

      

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

The change in the current asset category when comparing 2022 to 2021 is mainly due to an increase in cash 
and cash equivalents of $22.4 million. This is primarily attributed to the receipt of Higher Education 
Emergency Relief Funds and budgetary controls. This positive impact on cash is anticipated to be reserved 
for capital and one-time expenditures to avoid creating structure deficits and positioning the university for an 
uncertain future. Overall, net accounts receivable decreased mainly due to the HEERF revenue recognition 
decrease from the prior year. Student receivables remained stable due to strong collection practices. 

Current Ratio 
An excess of current assets over current liabilities (the current ratio) is a measure of liquidity and provides a 
buffer against future uncertainties.  The current ratio is presented for the primary government and our 
component units.  A ratio greater than 1 indicates that the university could cover its current obligations with 
its most liquid assets. For 2024, combined current assets of $123.4 million are sufficient to cover combined 
current liabilities of $55.3 million, yielding a current ratio of 2.23. For 2023, combined current assets of $115.2 
million are sufficient to cover combined current liabilities of $49.5 million, yielding a current ratio of 2.33.  For 
2022, combined current assets of $108.2 million were sufficient to cover combined current liabilities of $43.6 
million, which yielded a current ratio of 2.48. 

Capital Assets 
By far, the largest portion of Bridgewater State University’s net position reflects its investment in capital 
assets less outstanding debt used to acquire those assets. Bridgewater State University uses these capital 
assets to provide services to students, and support to faculty and administration; consequently, these 
assets are not available for future spending. Although Bridgewater State University’s investment in its 
capital assets is reported net of related debt and accumulated depreciation, it should be noted that the 
resources needed to repay this debt must be provided from other sources, since the capital assets 
themselves cannot be used to liquidate these liabilities without legislative action. For more information 
relating to capital asset activity refer to Notes 1 and 11 accompanying the basic financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Capital assets are comprised of land, buildings and building improvements, furnishings and equipment, 
library materials, artwork, construction in progress, and right-to-use lease assets and subscription-based 
information technology arrangements (SBITAs). 

As of June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, net capital assets were $333.5 million, $336.1 million, and $344.9 
million, respectively. For the years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, depreciation and amortization 
expenses totaled $27.9 million, $26.4 million, and $25.5 million, respectively. Capital asset additions for the 
current fiscal year totaled $25.3 million. 

$13.2 million of the $25.3 million total capital asset additions during the year ended June 30, 2024, related to 
Construction in Progress for the following projects: 

Tillinghast Hall Accessibility $3,692,261 
Persona Lock Replacement - Phase I $1,668,888 
Shea Durgin Bathroom Project $1,625,000 
Maxwell Library HVAC $1,477,802 
Persona Lock Replacement - Phase 2 $1,287,119 
Funeral Services Program Renovations $1,035,087 
Maxwell Library $587,534 
Burnell Hall Renovations (DCAMM) $428,497 
Energy Project (DCAMM) $305,175 
RCC Accessibility Updates $303,042 
Residence Halls Improvements $293,667 
Flight Operations at N.B. Airport $143,733 
Other Improvements and Renovations totaling $384,103 

$4.6 million of the $25.3 million total capital asset additions related to major purchases, renovations, and 
projects that were considered completed. The major items were comprised of the following: 

Hunt Hall Elevator $1,212,780 
Cyber Range Equipment and Construction $1,054,054 
Food Service Improvements $679,575 
Lab Equipment, Spectrometer $309,762 
Hart Hall Upgrades $299,976 
Lab Equipment, Zetium Elemental Analyzer $240,733 
Paving Project $199,561 
EV Charging Stations $169,650 
Lab Equipment, Cytometer $115,133 
Residence Halls $77,985 
AV Equipment (DMF) $75,495 
Other Major Purchases and Improvements $173,404 

33 



 
 

  

  
 

   

    

    
 

   

    
 

    

 

 
 

  

  

   

 
    

 
 

  

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Artwork added in fiscal year 2024 totaled $185,262, including $112,762 for the Wyatt Garden. 

$5.2 million of the $25.3 million total capital asset additions consists of right-to-use use (ROU) lease assets 
that are recognized due to application of GASB 87, Leases (implemented 2022). The major items added in 
fiscal year ended 2024 were comprised of the following: 

Related Party  Leased  Buildings  (MSCBA) $2,864,078 
Printers $1,131,641 
Laundry equipment $505,743 
19 Vehicles $490,770 
Parking (MBTA) $116,541 
Other leases $121,592 

The remaining $2 million of the $25.3 million total capital asset additions consists of right-to-use use 
subscription assets, recognized due to application of GASB 96, Subscription based Information Technology 
Arrangements (implemented 2023). The major items added in fiscal year ended 2024 included: 

Cloud infrastructure application  $361,740 
Academic/learning platform $324,476 
Commerce  platform $277,349 
Enterprise resource management solution $264,031 
Social media platform for professionals $163,775 
Resident management software $143,775 
Student success subscription $129,486 
Other subscription-based information technology arrangements $375,441 

Right-to-use assets may be reduced when there is an adjustment to lease/contract terms, or the 
lease/contract concludes, and the asset has fully amortized. ROU assets that ended included a $117,304 
related party lease, equipment, space and vehicles totaling $594,888, and  SBITAs totaling  $172,184. 

$1.6 million represents projects that began in prior fiscal years. This dollar amount was reclassified from 
Construction in Progress to capital assets subject to depreciation. The major items reclassified were: 

Cyber Range Construction $865,173 
Hunt Hall Elevator $305,720 
Outdoor Athletic Gym $175,285 
Wyatt Garden $142,895 
Shea Durgin Lounge upgrades $107,000 
Other capital projects $3,266 
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The Range 
IS HOME 

Funded with almost $3.8 million in state and federal grants, the 

range is the most advanced in New England. It allows students and 

cybersecurity professionals to experience mock attacks, from beginning 

scenarios to complex situations that take experts hours to solve. With 

multi-colored fashing lights, desks that shake and a massive video 

screen on one wall, the range immerses users in the high-stakes world of 

battling cybercrime. 

Jay Ash, president and CEO of the Massachusetts Competitive 

Partnership, praised Bridgewater for giving students the foundation 

necessary to excel. Ash also chairs the board of CyberTrust 

Massachusetts, a nonproft partnering with BSU on cybersecurity 

initiatives. 



“Cybersecurity intersects  

with all industries. Everyone  

has to be trained, and this is  

the place to do it.”  
Steve Zuromski,  ‘04, G’09 

Vice President of Information Technology 
and Chief Information Offcer 

“We do that with the confdence that Bridgewater State will 

not only lead but succeed,” he said. 

Industry representatives said BSU is making cybersecurity 

education accessible to people of all backgrounds and 

helping solve a problem that keeps business leaders awake 

at night. 



     

    
     

  
     

  
     

 

   
  

 
  

     

     
     

   

 
   

      

       
    

   
   

    
    

   
 

    
  

       
    

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY  
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts)  

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024  and 20 23 
(Unaudited)  

Financial Analysis  of the University (Continued)  

Artwork reclassified in fiscal year 2024 totaled $142,896, which was for the Wyatt Garden 

In fiscal year 2023, major renovations and project capital asset additions included Shea Durgin Bathroom 
Project $1.6 million, Cyber Range construction and equipment $1.5 million, Hart Hall Air Handler $836 
thousand, Moakley Roof Replacement $809 thousand, Tilly Kitchen Renovations $472 thousand, East 
Campus Commons Cook Station $296 thousand, Tillinghast Accessibility project $283 thousand, Hunt Hall 
Elevator $268 thousand, Maxwell Library Repairs and Renovations $261 thousand, and Persona Lock 
Replacement $258 thousand. Right to use lease asset added were $5.5 million. Right-to-use subscription 
assets were $4 million in fiscal year 2023 

In fiscal year 2022, major renovations and project capital asset additions included Rondileau Student Union 
renovations of $1.1 million, Swenson Athletic Complex upgrades of $941 thousand, Wyatt Garden gifted 
artwork and restoration of $839 thousand, Tillinghast Hall and East Campus Commons renovations of $366 
thousand, Maxwell Library renovations of $351 thousand. Right-to-use lease assets were $1.4 million, and 
right-to-use subscription assets were $611 thousand in fiscal year 2022. 

Within the university’s plans is an active program to address deferred maintenance needs on campus. 
Renovations and repairs detailed above reflect this ongoing agenda. 

For more information relating to capital asset activity refer to Notes 1 and 11 accompanying the basic 
financial statements.  

Non-current Liabilities 
The university funds various construction projects for BSU-owned buildings and space through Project 
Revenue Bonds issued by the Massachusetts State College Building Authority (MSCBA). These bonds are 
paid semi-annually in November and May. Certain of these bonds rely on revenue streams such as student 
fees as their source of repayment. 

During fiscal year 2006, the university entered into a financing agreement with the MSCBA to construct a new 
parking lot. The source of financing the project was based upon the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds 
issued by MSCBA on behalf of the university. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the balance on the bond was 
$307,408 and $334,791, respectively. 

During fiscal year 2010, the university entered into a financing agreement with the MSCBA to renovate an 
athletic field. The source of financing the project was based upon the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds 
issued by MSCBA on behalf of the university. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the balance on the bond was 
$2,147,916 and $2,439,369, respectively. 

During fiscal year 2012, the university entered into a financing agreement with the MSCBA to redevelop an 
existing parking lot to construct green space to include pedestrian walkways. The source of financing the 
project was based upon the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds issued by MSCBA on behalf of the university. 
At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the balance on the bond was $564,904 and $647,724, respectively. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

During fiscal year 2013, the university entered into a financing agreement with the MSCBA to renovate the 
main entrances to the Rondileau Student Union. The source of financing the project was based upon the 
issuance of Project Revenue Bonds issued by MSCBA on behalf of the university. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
the balance on the bond was $3,116,627 and $3,378,569, respectively. 

During fiscal year 2015, the MSCBA authorized and issued a debt modification resulting in the transfer of 
$3,680,000 of principal from the Rondileau Student Union project. The transfer of principal was to fund the 
construction of the Welcome Center building. The source of financing the project was based upon the 
issuance of debt modification by the MSCBA on behalf of the university. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the 
balance on the bond was $2,514,138 and $2,756,233, respectively. 

During 2024, the university’s MSCBA Series 2019C and 2020A bonds were partially refunded as part of the 
MSCBA’s Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 2024A. The purpose of the bond refunding was to lower interest 
rates which resulted in a deferred economic gain of approximately $103,000. During 2022, the university’s 
MSCBA Series 2012C bonds were partially refunded as part of the MSCBA’s Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 
2022A. The purpose of the bond refunding was to lower interest rates which resulted in a deferred economic 
gain of approximately $133,000.  During 2021, the University’s MSCBA Series 2009C, 2012B, 2012C, and 
2019C bonds were partially refunded as part of the MSCBA’s Refunding Revenue Bonds Series 2020A. The 
purpose of the issuance was to provide budgetary relief for fiscal years 2021 and 2022 to the University.  The 
refunding resulted in a net economic loss of approximately $394,000, a deferred loss of approximately 
$479,000, and deferred gain of approximately $111,000. 

For more information relating to non-current liabilities refer to Note 14 accompanying the basic financial 
statements. 

Debt Burden Ratio 
The debt burden ratio measures an institution’s dependence on borrowed funds by comparing the level of 
debt service to total expenditures. Industry standards for responsible and effective debt management range 
from 2% to 11%. BSU’s debt burden percentage reflects a policy that leverages debt as a strategic tool. The 
debt burden ratio for the primary government and component units, as of June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 is 
12.5%, 10.16%, and 7.7%, respectively. Implementation of GASB 87, Leases and GASB 96, Subscription 
Based Information Technology Arrangements had significant impact on these percentages; leases and 
subscriptions previously reported as operating expenses are recorded as right-to-use assets and short-term 
and long-term liabilities on the financial statements. 

For more information relating to non-current liability activity refer to Note 14 accompanying the basic 
financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Lease and SBITA Obligations 
The university leases certain assets including equipment, space, vehicles, and subscription-based 
information technology arrangements (software arrangements). The largest component of the university’s 
lease obligations consists of a related party arrangement with the Massachusetts State College Building 
Authority (MSCBA) for real estate on campus. Net of debt service reserve funds and BABs subsidies, the 
payments for related party leases cost the university $11,555,258, $14,801,749, and $7,798,436 in principal 
and interest for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively. The leases categorized as 
equipment, space, vehicles cost the university $2,255,161, $2,621,531, and $1,442,940 in principal and 
interest for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively. The software arrangements 
cost the university $2,814,807, $2,044684, and $1,697,647 in principal and interest for the fiscal years ended 
June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively. BSU’s leases also include energy improvements that were 
implemented throughout the campus in 2006. These energy improvements are considered a lease as they 
were a tax-exempt lease purchase. The cost of the tax-exempt lease purchase was $629,878, $629,878, and 
$629,877 in principal and interest for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022 respectively. 

For more detailed information relating to related party and other lease and software arrangements activity 
refer to Note 14 accompanying the basic financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Bridgewater State University’s changes in net position related to operations for the years ended June 30 are 
as follows: 

2024 2023 
Restated 

2022 
Operating revenues: 

Tuition and fees $ 109,294,014 $ 105,795,481 $ 104,993,317 
Student financial aid (contra revenue) (41,343,037) (27,960,590) (31,809,718) 
Operating grants 43,985,796 29,262,334 25,455,875 
Auxiliary enterprises 40,943,695 36,792,690 34,940,605 
Other operating revenue 889,633 648,877 433,496 

Total operating revenues 153,770,101 144,538,792 134,013,575 

Operating expenses: 
Instruction 74,598,722 73,395,949 74,685,226 
Public service 1,444,998 1,433,813 1,160,957 
Academic support 30,534,539 23,628,014 23,048,547 
Student services 26,297,067 24,320,434 24,327,265 
Institutional support 22,355,944 23,771,695 21,154,097 
Operation and maintenance of plant 15,166,321 12,060,467 14,441,992 
Scholarships and fellowships 12,746,700 8,123,878 18,517,462 
Depreciation and amortization 27,925,959 26,398,865 25,544,730 
Auxiliary enterprises 24,800,920 23,724,738 22,011,750 

Total operating expenses 235,871,170 216,857,853 224,892,026 

Net operating loss $ (82,101,069) $ (72,319,061) $ (90,878,451) 
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Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

 

 

        

      

        

      

    

2024 2023 
Restated 

2022 
Non-operating revenues  (expenses): 

State appropriations, net    95,591,577 $ 82,684,885 $ 79,219,174 
Gifts 3,994,274 2,553,489  2,354,390
HEERF funds - - 29,463,444 
Investment income  3,594,556 1,377,287  74,082
Interest expense (8,611,703) ( 8,877,683) (8,970,305) 
Other non-operating revenues  (expenses) 3,121,713 3,178,877  5,244,740

Net non-operating revneues (expenses) 97,690,417 80,916,855 107,385,525 

Net income (loss) before capital appropriations 15,589,348 8,597,794 16, 507,074

Capital appropriations 3,017,889 1,404,357 602,469

Total increase (decrease) in net position 18,607,237 10,002,151 17,109,543 

Net position, beginning of year 28,338,382 18,336,231 1,226,688 

Net position, end of year 46,945,619 $ 28,338,382 $ 18,336,231 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Revenue by Source 2024 

Net Tuition and fees Financial Aid Support Grants & Sponsored Projects 

Other revenue Auxiliary enterprises State Appropriations 

Capital Appropriations 

Financial Aid Support 
16.2% 

Grants & 
Sponsored 

Projects 2.5% 

Other 
Revenue 4.9% 

Auxiliary Enterprises 
17.4% 

State Appropriations 
40.5% 

Capital 
Appropriations 1.3% 

28.8% Net Tuition & 
Fees 

As illustrated in the chart above, approximately 40.5% of the university’s total fiscal year 2024 revenue was 
from State Appropriations, approximately 28.8% was derived from Tuition and Fees, 17.4% was from Auxiliary 
Enterprises, 16.2% was Financial Aid, 2.5% was a result of Grants and Sponsored Projects, and 1.3% was 
from Capital Appropriations. 4.9% was categorized as Other Revenue which is comprised of gifts, investment 
income and other non-operating revenue. See Note 21 for further detail on state and capital appropriations. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Revenues by Fiscal Year 

2024 2023 2022 

45.0% 

Net Tuition and 
fees 

Financial Aid 
Support 

Grants & 
Sponsored 

Projects 

Other revenue Auxiliary 
enterprises 

State 
Appropriations 

Capital 
Appropriations 

0.0% 

5.0% 

10.0% 

15.0% 

20.0% 
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30.0% 

35.0% 

40.0% 

The  chart above displays trends in  university revenue  over the last three  fiscal y ears.  Greater than 40%  of  
total fiscal year  2024 revenue was from  State Appropriations. This  funding increased $12.9 million  or 16% 
when  comparing  2024 versus  2023. Student fees, as  a percentage of total revenue declined in 2024 due in  
part to the proportional impact of Financial Aid Support. Financial Aid Support,  as a percentage of total 
revenue increased approximately 6% when comparing 2024 versus 2023. Revenue from  Grants and 
Sponsored  Projects continued an  upward  trend  with a 95% increase when comparing 2024 versus 2022. 
Revenue  from  Auxiliary Enterprises surpassed 2022 revenue  by 17%. This was due in part to increased 
residence hall fees which are set by the MSCBA. Capital A ppropriations increased in fiscal year 2024 due to 
DCAMM funded capital projects. The increase in Other Revenue  resulted from  continued support from  the 
Foundation and impacts of GASB 87 implementation. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Expenses by Fiscal Year 
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The chart above displays trends in university expenses over the past three fiscal years. Expenses promoting 
student support remain a focus. Scholarships and Fellowships increased $18 million when comparing 2024 
versus 2023; this represents a 50% increase. Academic Support increased $6 million when comparing 2024 
versus 2023. Instruction, Institutional Support, Student Services and Auxiliary expenses remained steady. 
Overall, these expense trends illustrate the university’s dedication of resources to programs supporting 
student success. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

State Appropriations 
Unless otherwise permitted by the Massachusetts Legislature, the university is required to remit tuition to the 
Commonwealth for courses taught by state supported faculty. The university collects this student tuition on 
behalf of the Commonwealth and remits it to the Commonwealth’s General Fund. There is no direct 
connection between the amount of tuition revenues collected by the university and the amount of state funds 
appropriated in any given year. The following details the Commonwealth appropriations received by the 
university for fiscal years ending June 30: 

2024 2023 2022 

Gross Commonwealth appropriations $ 67,640,445 $ 59,762,005 $ 58,512,737 
Plus: Fringe benefits*** 28,336,077 22,924,943 20,717,250 

95,976,522 82,686,948 79,229,987 
Less: Tuition remitted (384,945) (2,063) (10,813) 

Net Commonwealth support $ 95,591,577 $ 82,684,885 $ 79,219,174 

*** The Commonwealth pays the fringe benefit cost for university employees paid from Commonwealth 
appropriations. Therefore, such fringe benefit support is added to the State Appropriations financial 
statement line item as presented in the above table.  The university pays the fringe benefit cost of the 
employees paid from funding sources other than Commonwealth appropriations. 
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Grant and Contract Revenue 

The university received $ 43,985,796, $29,262,334, and $54,919,319 in grant and contract revenues for the 
fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. Below presents the primary grants and 
contracts received for the following fiscal years ended June 30:  

2024 2023 2022 
Operating Grants: 
Federal 

Pell grant $ 14,381,745 $ 12,352,910 $ 12,679,825 
Federal work study 441,938 441,938 422,783 
Federal SEOG 361,586 378,058 389,374 
Teach grant 102,332  57,99784,146

State 
Mass grants 16,054,346 6,978,488 4,924,412 
Tuition grants 2,084,109 2,075,900 2,040,658 
MAIHD - MA in Demand Scholarship 2,080,503 - -

Other 8,479,237 6,950,894 4,940,825 
Total Operating Grants 43,985,796 29,262,334 25,455,874 

Non-operating Federal Grants: 
HEERF Institutional Support - - 14,722,196 
HEERF Student Emergency Funds - - 13,621,742 
HEERF Stregthening Insitutions Program - - 1,119,506 
Total Non-operating Federal Grants - - 29,463,444 

Total Grants $ 43,985,796 $ 29,262,334 $ 54,919,318 

 

Research Grants 

The chart below displays the trajectory of research grants awarded to BSU over the past decade and may 
serve as a predictor of future activity. 

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Financial Analysis of the University (Continued) 

Tuition and Fees 
The university strives to provide students with the opportunity to obtain a quality education. Tuition and fee 
rates for three fiscal years ended June 30 are reflected in the schedule below: 

Tuition 
Resident 

Tuition 
Non-

Resident Fees 

Total 
Resident 
Tuition & 

Fees 

Average 
Room & 
Board 

Total 
Resident 
Average 

Cost 

2024 

Undergraduate $ 910 $ 7,050 $ 10,479 $ 11,389 $ 14,324 $ 25,713 
Graduate 1,675 1,676 10,374 12,049 14,324 26,373 

2023 

Undergraduate $ 910 $ 7,050 $ 10,145 $ 11,055 $ 13,807 $ 24,862 
Graduate 1,676 1,676 10,043 11,719 13,807 25,526 

2022 

Undergraduate $ 910 $ 7,050 $ 9,822 $ 10,732 $ 13,464 $ 24,196 
Graduate 1,676 1,676 9,722 11,398 13,464 24,862 

Enrollment 

Enrollment at the university has remained relatively constant with a slight increase this past academic year. 
The university’s enrollment for Fall 2023 was 9,550 which was comparable to the Fall 2022 headcount of 
9,604.  

Factors Impacting Future Periods 

Strategic Plan 
Under the leadership of President Fred Clark, Bridgewater State University has implemented a unique 
strategic planning process with a central focus on student success and achievement. This planning 
process is exceptional both in its design and in its time horizon. The process, based on a nested planning 
model, includes an institutional plan; a divisional level plan; and college, departmental, and program level 
plans. In addition, the model allows for formalization of policies and procedures that inform the decision-
making process going forward.  
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Strategic Plan (Continued) 
The second 5-year Strategic Plan (2.0) was completed in December of 2023 and approved by the Board of 
Trustees. It has been submitted to the Massachusetts Department of Higher Education and is anticipated 
to be approved in Fall 2024. The goals, objectives, and outcome measures will provide specificity on 
strategic needs and will help guide the utilization of future financial resources. 

Enrollment & Retention 
Enrollment has grown. Registration in the Fall 2024 semester shows an overall increase of 2% versus Fall 
2023. This enrollment growth positively impacted residence hall occupancy, which increased to 95% in Fall 
2024 from 94% in Fall 2023 (typical occupancy rates range from 95-100%). Historically, freshman students 
have made up the majority of BSU residents; a high percentage of these students continue to reside on 
campus throughout their tenure at the university. 

Though regional community colleges continue to experience enrollment challenges, BSU has seen an 
increase in transfer students from two-year institutions with a 5% increase from Fall 2023 to Fall 2024. 
There was also growth in the university’s graduate and continuing education programs. BSU’s continued 
efforts in both recruitment and retention enable the university to maintain a predictable student revenue 
stream. These endeavors, which are further articulated in the strategic enrollment plan, encompass 
evaluation of prospective student communication, improvement to academic websites, investment in 
search engine optimization, and focus on developing online degree programs for both traditional students 
and targeting adult learners (an underserved population in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and 
particularly relevant to the College of Graduate Studies). 

Fall 2024 marks the beginning of the third year of the university’s reorganization of enrollment resources 
geared toward execution of the strategic enrollment plan. The overall responsibility for enrollment 
management is vested in the modified division of Enrollment, Marketing, and Communications. The 
Finance Division through the Financial Aid department directly supports the assessment of enrollment 
initiatives, the execution of strategic priorities, and maintains oversight of the strategic enrollment plan. 
Student Life provides expertise on occupancy and programing aimed at fostering opportunities for students 
to succeed and persist. Specific enrollment responsibilities have also been assigned to the divisions of 
Academic Affairs and Student Success, Equity and Diversity to create a comprehensive intra-divisional 
effort to recruit, retain, and graduate students with a quality education. 

BSU’s merit based financial award program, implemented in Fall 2022, contributed to positive enrollment 
results. Merit based award programs position BSU to compete with regional higher education institutions 
for student enrollment.  Investments have been made in the university’s Academic Advising function to 
guide students as they proceed on their academic journey. A significant multiyear grant, received in July 
2022, supports programing efforts and Student Navigators. These positions provide wrap around services to 
students identified through data assessment to be at higher risk of not persisting. This grant also provides 
retention funds for unique student financial issues. Funding was also made available for a new student 
support system for use by all personnel connected to the student experience. This product works as an 
early warning system to identify students in need of additional services or support. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Enrollment & Retention (Continued) 
The federal and state resources for student financial aid remain relatively constant. Though the FAFSA 
Simplification Act changed the process for determining the amount of a student’s Scheduled Pell Grant 
award, the maximum federal Pell grant for students with demonstrated need remained at $7,395 in fiscal 
year 2024. Financial Aid continues to be a focus for the Department of Higher Education. It is anticipated 
that continuation of the strategic enrollment plan, coupled with stable student related investments and 
initiatives, will provide opportunity for enrollment growth. 

State Appropriation 
The university received slightly higher than level state funding from the previous fiscal year. The Fair Share 
Amendment, passed by voters in 2022, generates billions in yearly support for transportation and public 
education through added tax on households with very high annual income. The Commonwealth is still 
determining a spending plan for higher education as this tax revenue becomes more predictable. Future 
state revenues will continue to have a significant impact on the university’s appropriation. BSU will 
continue to advocate for an appropriation commensurate with enrollment, unique program offerings, and 
community educational impact.  

Negotiations on the current collective bargaining agreements which expired on July 1, 2024 are ongoing. 
State funding is anticipated to cover a component of any negotiated increases and the university’s financial 
planning considers the anticipated student impact. 

Fundraising Campaign  
The university’s component units are involved in a fundraising campaign to increase the endowment to 
$100 million to address the urgent needs of the university. The campaign was launched in May 2024 and is 
well underway. The gifts and contribution revenues from the university’s component units were $7.9 million 
in FY24 compared to $5.4 million in FY23. This increase in run rate is a positive indicator for the future of the 
campaign. 

Racial Justice 
In June 2020, following the death of George Floyd who was murdered on May 25, 2020, President Fred Clark 
formed a Special Presidential Task Force on Racial Justice. With a mission of translating longstanding 
institutional values into an action agenda for positive and necessary change, this task force was charged 
with conducting a comprehensive review aimed at identifying elements of policy, practice, and culture that 
may serve to impede the university’s efforts at fully realizing racial justice and equity at BSU.  The task force 
published their report in May 2021. The University Board of Trustees endorsed this report and created a 
board of trustee committee entitled the Racial Justice and Equity Committee to oversee this important 
initiative. The action items from the task force report are currently being executed and reported upon to 
maintain the focus on this important initiative. With Strategic Plan 2.0 racial equity initiatives are now 
nested in divisional plans and reported to the Board of Trustees. 

Capital Projects 
In FY24 the university opened its grant-funded Cyber Range which provides hands-on training for BSU 
students, faculty, staff, and community partners. In conjunction with the Cyber Range, the university 
received approval for a new undergraduate Cybersecurity degree program that is currently enrolling 
students. 
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NEW 

Fitness Court Debuts 
Those on campus looking to get in a workout can now lace 

up their sneakers and head over to University Park, home 

to a new outdoor gym. Over the summer, Bridgewater 

State University installed a circuit-training workout area for 

members of the BSU and local community to use. 

“We know that physical health is important, and that mental 

health is directly related to physical ftness and exercise 

training,” said Daniel Rezendes, assistant athletic director for 

recreation and wellness. “This offers one more set of tools in 

the BSU wellness toolbox that will hopefully make an impact 

on students’ and the community’s health and wellness.” 

Thanks to a partnership with Blue Cross and Blue Shield 

of Massachusetts, BSU was awarded a grant to help cover 

the cost of the Fitness Court® project. The ftness court is 

designed to provide a full body workout, with seven zones 

set up intended for circuit training. 



A M B I T I O U S  A D V O C AT E  

When Imani Barbour, ’25, frst arrived at Bridgewater State 
University she already had goals in place and an idea how 
to reach them. The ambitious freshman wanted to make a 
difference and opted to double major in social work and 
sociology. 

“I entered college as an advocate,” said Imani, now a senior. 
“My majors are both heavily focused on the environment and 
about helping other people. I have dedicated my life in service of 
others.” 

She jumped right into campus life, becoming president of BSU’s 
African American Society, a resident advisor, and eventual head 
resident assistant. When President Frederick W. Clark Jr. enlisted 
the support of Student Life to nominate potential student-
representatives to the state’s Board of Higher Education, Imani 
was one of the frst who came to mind. 

Imani began her term July 1; it extends through the end of 
May, when the next student-representatives are selected. As a 
student member, she looks forward to learning how the board 

“If I can make one person feel seen or 

understood, I know I did the job I came to do. 

This position provides an opportunity do that.” 
Imani Barbour, ’25 

does its work regarding the rules and regulations within higher 
education. She will serve in an advisory role on the board and 
attend its Student Advisory Council meetings. 

“I look forward to letting people know I am here for them, and 
their education, and am ready to advocate for changes we feel 
would be benefcial to our success,” Imani said. “If I can make 
one person feel seen or understood, I know I did the job I came 
to do. This position provides an opportunity do that.” 



BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Capital Projects (Continued) 
In late June 2021, Massachusetts Governor Charlie Baker’ administration chose BSU to be the location for 
the announcement of his FY22 capital budget plan. Joined by Lieutenant Governor Karyn Polito, Secretary of 
Education James Peyser, Secretary of Administration and Finance Michael Heffernan, and State Senator 
Marc Pacheco, the Governor initially announced a $25 million state-funded initiative for the renovation of 
Burnell Hall in support of the College of Education and Health Sciences (CEHS). BSU has been actively 
pursuing state funding for the Burnell project for many years. However, due to increases in inflation since 
2020, the state will provide an additional investment of $8 million for these renovations. The total project 
cost is estimated to be $50 million. The project will impact nearly 95,000 square feet of building space on 
campus, including 80 new offices for faculty, and is expected to benefit 4,000 students in 35 majors on 
campus. The detailed project schedule is currently being finalized; renovations are anticipated to be 
completed by Spring of 2027. The project represents a truly transformative and impactful investment that 
will promote student success, support innovative program delivery, expand the advanced use of 
technology, and serve critical workforce needs in the Commonwealth. 

In FY24, the Foundation purchased a property at 21 Park Terrace in Bridgewater, Massachusetts. This 
location will house the College of Graduate Studies after renovations are complete. 

In fiscal year 2024 the university started working on a capital master plan. This master plan, which was last 
updated in 2012, will align with the Strategic Plan 2.0 and is intended to chart the way forward for campus 
planning and facility improvements, additions, and changes. The process included interviewing multiple 
stakeholder groups, aligning with strategic plan, mission, vision, values, and assessing resources. 

Artificial Intelligence (AI) 
During fiscal year 2024, at the direction of President Clark, BSU formed the Artificial Intelligence Advisory 
Committee. While the notion of artificial intelligence has been around for many years, the recent advent of 
generative AI and other cutting-edge AI models signifies a pivotal juncture. The committee’s objective is to 
investigate various AI applications and provide recommendations on how AI can enhance the student 
experience and service delivery within the BSU community. The committee, in partnership with others 
across the campus such as the Academic Affairs Divisional Committee on Artificial Intelligence, seeks 
ways to support the university as it adapts to the challenges posed by AI in an education environment. 

Currently, the committee is drafting an Administrative Artificial Intelligence Policy to be presented to the 
president’s cabinet in fiscal year 2025. This policy recognizes the transformative potential of AI and 
encourages its innovative use within administrative functions to enhance operational efficiency, decision-
making, and service delivery. The document will further establish guidelines to ensure that AI technologies 
are adopted responsibly and ethically, maintaining transparency, accountability, data privacy, security, and 
compliance with established university policies and legal, regulatory standards. The use of AI in academic 
settings, including teaching, learning, scholarship, research, and assessment is governed by separate 
academic policies and is not within the scope of the administrative policy. The Academic Affairs AI 
Committee is responsible for recommending any academic policy revisions through the established 
governance process. 
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 
(Unaudited) 

Grants 
BSU, as the lead institution, received a National Science Foundation award for $3,000,000 for Research and 
Mentoring post baccalaureates in Biological Sciences (RaMP).  The grant focuses on training the next 
generation of interdisciplinary scientists to collaboratively address species responses to climate change 
with SPARCnet. BSU will collaborate with the following subcontracted universities, with funding to be 
distributed over the four years: 

Michigan State University $132,492 
Monmouth University $58,714 
Pennsylvania State University $227,402 
Susquehanna University $85,723 
SUNY Oneonta $65,418 
UMASS Amherst $60,141 
Ohio Wesleyan University $65,714 
Cornell University $48,141 
Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University $60,141 

The university was awarded a $1,358,000 U.S. Department of Education Congressionally Directed Spending 
(CDS) Grant.  The grant will allow for improvements in the Aviation Program including the purchase of 
airplanes and a portable hanger.  In September 2024 the University purchased a Diamond DA42 Twin Star 
dual engine aircraft for $495,000. 

Tuition and Fees 
In June 2024, the university approved a slight increase in mandatory tuition and fees for the 2024-2025 
academic year of 3.0%.  In March 2024, an increase in residence hall rates for the 2024-2054 academic year 
was approved by the Massachusetts Board of Higher Education as proposed by BSU and endorsed by the 
MSCBA. The average increase was 4.3% and targeted the newer, in demand residence halls. 
Costs at residence halls for 2024-2025, which reflect the MSCBA value-pricing, increased an average of 
4.3%, as follows: Great Hill Apartments, $10,972 from $10,400 Miles-DiNardo Hall, $9,074 from 8,854; 
Pope and Scott Halls, $8,592 from $8,301; Shea-Durgin Hall, $8,592 from $8,301; Woodward Hall, $8,592 
from $8,301; Stonehouse Hall, $9,367 from $9,050; Crimson, $9,636 from $9,221; Weygand, $9,837 from 
$9,413. 

In response to changing student expectations, the university continues to modify its meal plan options. 
Some of the meal plan improvements include increased flexibility, longer hours of operation, and more 
variety. Costs for meal plans per semester for 2024-2025 are as follows: Diamond $2,743; Platinum $2,717; 
Gold $2,377; Silver $2,309; Sapphire $2,090; Bronze $481 & Copper $272 (for commuters and student 
apartments only). 

Requests for Information 
This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of Bridgewater State University’s finances for 
all those with an interest in the university’s finances. Questions concerning any of the information provided 
in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to: Associate Vice 
President, Finance, Fiscal Affairs, 131 Summer Street, Bridgewater, Massachusetts 02325. 
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Men’s Soccer 
BRIDGEWATER STATE CLAIMS 2023 MASCAC 
MEN’S SOCCER TOURNAMENT CROWN 

Led by a quick hat trick from senior David Nelson, top-seeded 
Bridgewater State scored fve frst-half goals in just 22:21 on the way 
to a 5-0 victory over second-seeded Westfeld State University. 

The victory at Peter Mazzaferro Field on gave the Bears (12-2-5) their 
sixth MASCAC tournament championship and the frst since 2018. It 
was the frst time that BSU has clinched the MASCAC tournament on 
its own feld. 

Nelson was named the most valuable player of the tourney after getting 
three goals and two assists in a pair of wins. The Bears will be making 
their seventh appearance in the NCAAs, also qualifying in 1990, 2004, 
2007, 2013, 2015 and 2018. 

“It’s an unbelievable feeling,” said Nelson of the title. “We came 
so close last year and this year, to win it on our home turf, it’s an 
unbelievable feeling. I couldn’t imagine it being any better.” 



BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Statements of Net Position 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 

Primary Government 

2024 
University 

2023 
University 

Component Units 

2024 
Combined 

2023 
Combined 

Assets 

Current assets:
 Cash and equivalents $ 96,200,963 $ 93,242,915 $ 1,072,501 $ 831,876 
Deposits held by State Treasurer 11,028,281 8,628,861 - -
Cash held by State Treasurer 3,329,736 3,846,928 - -
Restricted cash and equivalents 271,825 55,726 - -

 Contributions receivable, net - - 354,718 398,059 
Accounts receivable, net 9,732,533 6,419,302 - -
Current portion of lease receivable 47,287 46,181 - -

 Prepaid expenses and other assets 1,287,051 1,374,161 61,266 309,603

 Total current assets 121,897,676 113,614,074 1,488,485 1,539,538 

Non-current assets: 
Investments - - 69,922,244 60,833,442

 Contributions receivable, net - - 531,067 1,266,275 
Lease receivable 415,269 462,556 - -

 Capital assets, net 333,459,115 336,095,175 5,113,294 4,364,493

 Total non-current assets 333,874,384 336,557,731 75,566,605 66,464,210

 Total assets 455,772,060 450,171,805 77,055,090 68,003,748 

Deferred outflows of resources 

Deferred outflows of resources related to pension 8,016,295 8,020,878 - -
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 6,109,121 10,348,666 - -

 Deferred outflows of resources related to MSCBA bond refunding 348,355 391,900 - -

 Total deferred outflows of resources $ 14,473,771 $ 18,761,444 $ - $ -
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Statements of Net Position (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position 

Primary Government  

2024 
University 

2023 
University 

Component Units

2024 
Combined 

2023 
Combined 

Liabilities 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 10,618,314 $ 9,079,937 $ 677,234 $ 263,907 
Accrued payroll 11,894,882 8,991,972 - -
Accrued worker's compensation 239,630 201,006 -
Accrued compensated absences 9,594,935 8,652,203 - -
State funds payable 1,616 2,515 - -

 Unearned revenues 10,432,088 9,120,479 - -
 Current portion of related party lease obligations 6,852,702 8,125,370 - -
Current portion of lease obligations 2,145,163 2,181,436 - -
Current portion of SBITA obligations 1,876,494 2,011,316 - -
Current portion of bonds payable 959,140 824,817 - -

 Total current liabilities 54,614,964 49,191,051 677,234 263,907 

Non-current liabilities: 
Accrued worker's compensation 1,687,784 1,510,053 - -
Accrued compensated absences 4,725,863 4,261,533 - -
Related party lease obligation 181,512,228 193,585,176 - -
Lease obligation 5,301,082 5,536,765 - -
SBITA obligation 2,700,182 3,266,279 - -
Bonds payable 7,691,853 8,731,869 - -
Net pension liability 39,438,198 44,874,753 - -

 Net OPEB liability 41,945,776 56,474,453 - -

 Total non-current liabilities 285,002,966 318,240,881 - -

 Total liabilities 339,617,930 367,431,932 677,234 263,907 

Deferred inflows of resources 

Deferred inflows of resources related to MSCBA refunding 11,688,624 185,311 - -
Service concession arrangement 3,869,166 860,269 - -
Deferred inflows of resources related to pension 15,139,662 14,726,547 - -
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 52,513,718 56,867,440 - -
Deferred Inflows from leases 471,112 523,368 - -

 Total deferred inflows of resources 83,682,282 73,162,935 - -

Net position

 Net investment in capital assets 113,080,004 112,038,736 5,113,294 4,364,493 
Restricted:
 Nonexpendable, scholarships and fellowships 23,000 23,000 36,370,438 30,396,643
 Expendable, scholarships and grants 1,490,216 1,347,896 16,133,993 13,685,766 
Unrestricted (67,647,601) (85,071,250) 18,760,131 19,292,939

 Total net position $ 46,945,619 $ 28,338,382 $ 76,377,856 $ 67,739,841 

See Independent Auditors' Report and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Primary Government 

2024 
University 

2023 
University 

Component Units 

2024 
Combined 

2023 
Combined 

Operating revenues: 
Tuition and fees $ 109,294,014 $ 105,795,481 $ -  $ -

Less: scholarships and fellowships (41,343,037) (27,960,590) - -

Net tuition and fees 67,950,977 77,834,891 - -

 Gifts and contributions - - 7,896,616 5,380,916 
Federal, state and private grants and contracts 43,985,796 29,262,334 - -
 Auxiliary enterprises 40,943,695 36,792,690 - -
 Other operating revenues 889,633 648,877 3,046,014 2,369,180 

Total operating revenues 153,770,101 144,538,792 10,942,630 7,750,096 

Operating expenses: 
Educational and general: 

Instruction 74,598,722 73,395,949 - -
Gifts and contributions - - 5,814,274 3,945,368 
Public service 1,444,998 1,433,813 - -
Academic support 30,534,539 23,628,014 - -
Student services 26,297,067 24,320,434 - -
Institutional support 22,355,944 23,771,695 3,805,080 3,739,830 
Operation and maintenance of plant 15,166,321 12,060,467 - -
Scholarships and fellowships 12,746,700 8,123,878 - -
Depreciation and amortization 27,925,959 26,398,865 175,120 73,890 
Auxiliary enterprises 24,800,920 23,724,738 - -

 Total operating expenses 235,871,170 216,857,853 9,794,474 7,759,088 

Net operating income (loss) (82,101,069) (72,319,061) 1,148,156 (8,992) 

Non-operating revenues (expenses): 
State appropriations, net 95,591,577 82,684,885 - -
Gifts 3,994,274 2,553,489 - -
Investment income (loss) 3,594,556 1,377,287 7,489,859 6,809,873 
Interest expense (8,611,703) (8,877,683) - -
Other non-operating revenues (expenses) 3,121,713 3,178,877 - (54,532) 

Net non-operating revenues (expenses) 97,690,417 80,916,855 7,489,859 6,755,341 

Increase (decrease) in net position
 before capital appropriations 15,589,348 8,597,794 8,638,015 6,746,349 

Capital appropriations 3,017,889 1,404,357 - -

 Total increase (decrease) in net position $ 18,607,237 $ 10,002,151 $ 8,638,015 $ 6,746,349 

Net position, at beginning of year 28,338,382 18,336,231 67,739,841 60,993,492 

Net position, at end of year $ 46,945,619 $ 28,338,382 $ 76,377,856 $ 67,739,841 

See Independent Auditors' Report and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Statements of Cash Flows 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Primary Government 

2024 
University 

2023 
University 

Cash flows from operating activities:
  Tuition and fees $ 64,541,431 $ 76,959,745 
  Grants and contracts 44,755,397 28,480,047
  Payments to employees (131,969,926) (99,471,565)
  Payments to suppliers and vendors (12,060,702) (46,387,552)
  Payments to students (12,746,700) (8,123,878)
  Auxiliary enterprises charges (24,800,920) (23,724,738)
  Auxiliary enterprises 44,065,408 39,971,567
  Other operating revenues 818,804 616,603

          Net cash used in operating activities (27,397,208) (31,679,771) 

Cash flows from non-capital financing activities: 
State appropriations 67,255,500 59,759,942 
Gifts 7,003,171 3,118,272

          Net cash provided by non-capital financing activities 74,258,671 62,878,214 

Cash flows from capital financing activities: 
Capital appropriation 3,726,142 3,147,619 
Purchase of capital assets (18,015,966) (8,316,707) 
Proceeds on sale of plane - 107,000 
Principal paid on leases (18,847,938) (10,711,148) 
Principal paid on software arrangements (2,744,486) (2,018,443) 
Payments of capital debt (905,693) (800,204) 
Interest paid on capital debt, leases and software arrangements (8,611,703) (8,877,683)

          Net cash used in capital financing activities (45,399,644) (27,469,566) 

Cash flows from investing activity: 
Interest on investments 3,594,556 1,377,287 

Net increase in cash and equivalents 5,056,375 5,106,164 

Cash and equivalents, beginning of year 105,774,430 100,668,266 

Cash and equivalents, end of year $ 110,830,805 $ 105,774,430 

See Independent Auditors' Report and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Statements of Cash Flows (Continued) 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Primary Government 

2024 
University 

2023 
University 

Reconciliation of net operating loss to net cash used in
 operating activities:
   Net operating loss $ (82,101,069) $ (72,319,061) 
   Adjustments to reconcile net operating loss to net cash
     used in operating activities:
       Depreciation and amortization 27,925,959 26,398,865
       Bad debts (recovery) (225,076) (129,466)
       Fringe benefits provided by Commonwealth 28,336,077 22,924,943
       Other non-operating revenues 3,121,713 3,178,877
       Amortization of deferred inflows of lease receivable and MSCBA bond refunding 11,540,783 7,322
       Deferred outflows for pension 4,583 3,663,889
       Deferred inflows from pension 413,115 (13,963,767)
       Deferred outflows for net other-post employment benefit obligation 4,239,545 7,567,211
       Deferred inflows for net other-post employment benefit obligation (4,353,722) (6,156,309)
       Changes in assets and liabilities:
         Accounts receivable, net (3,088,155) (1,792,038)
         Prepaid expenses and other assets 87,110 26,317
         Accounts payable and accrued expenses 1,537,478 2,612,476
         Accrued payroll and benefits 4,526,327 57,570
         Unearned revenues 603,356 233,015
         Net pension liability (5,436,555) 6,649,901
         Net OPEB liability (14,528,677) (10,639,516)

          Net cash used in operating activities $ (27,397,208) $ (31,679,771) 

Cash Flow Information 

For purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and equivalents are comprised of the
  following at June 30:

      Cash and equivalents $ 96,200,963 $ 93,242,915 
      Deposits held by State Treasurer 11,028,281 8,628,861
      Cash held by State Treasurer 3,329,736 3,846,928
      Restricted cash and equivalents 271,825 55,726 

$ 110,830,805 $ 105,774,430 

The following summarizes the non-cash transactions for the years ended June 30:
    Fringe benefits provided by the state $ 28,336,077 $ 22,924,943 
    Acquisition of capital assets through capital appropriations 3,726,142 3,147,619
    Acquisition of donated artwork 142,896 1,500
    Capital grants - amortization of deferred inflows of resources -
      service concession arrangements 3,692,261 345,682
    MSCBA refunding 11,451,816 14,475
    Acquisition of capital assets through leases 5,230,366 5,470,292
    Acquisition of capital assets through SBITAs 2,043,567 3,952,447 

See Independent Auditors' Report and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Combining Statements of Net Position of Major Component Units 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Assets and Deferred Outflows of Resources 

2024 

Foundation 
Alumni 

Association Combined 

2023 

Foundation 
Alumni 

Association Combined 
Assets 

Current assets: 
Cash and equivalents $ 1,042,415 $ 30,086 $ 1,072,501 $ 805,473 $ 26,403 $ 831,876
Deposits held by State Treasurer - - - - - -
Cash held by State Treasurer - - - - - -
Restricted cash and equivalents - - - - - -
Contributions receivable, net 354,718 - 354,718 398,059 - 398,059 
Accounts receivable, net - - - - - -
Current portion of lease receivable - - - - - -
Prepaid expenses and other assets 61,266 - 61,266 309,603 - 309,603 

Total current assets 1,458,399 30,086 1,488,485 1,513,135 26,403 1,539,538 

Non-current assets: 
Investments 63,239,388 6,682,856 69,922,244 54,208,663 6,624,779 60,833,442 
Contributions receivable, net 531,067 - 531,067 1,266,275 - 1,266,275 
Debt service reserve fund - - - - - -
Properties held for resale - - - - - -
Lease receivable - - - - - -
Capital assets, net 5,113,294 - 5,113,294 4,364,493 - 4,364,493 

Total non-current assets 68,883,749 6,682,856 75,566,605 59,839,431 6,624,779 66,464,210 

Total assets 70,342,148 6,712,942 77,055,090 61,352,566 6,651,182 68,003,748 

Deferred outflows of resources 
Deferred outflows of resources related to pension - - - - - -
Deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB 
Deferred outflows of resources related to MSCBA bond refunding - - - - - -

Total deferred outflows of resources - - - - - -

See Independent Auditors' Report and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Combining Statements of Net Position of Major Component Units (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Liabilities, Deferred Inflows of Resources and Net Position 

2024 

Foundation 
Alumni 

Association Combined 

2023 

Foundation 
Alumni 

Association Combined 
Liabilities 

Current liabilities: 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 652,586 24,648 677,234 242,635 21,272 263,907 
Accrued payroll - - - - - -
Accrued worker's compensation - - - - - -
Accrued compensated absences - - - - - -
State funds payable - - - - - -
Unearned revenues - - - - - -
Other current liabilities - - - - - -
Current portion of related party lease obligations - - - - - -
Current portion of lease obligations - - - - - -
Current portion of bonds payable - - - - - -

Total current liabilities 652,586 24,648 677,234 242,635 21,272 263,907 

Non-current liabilities: 
Accrued workers' compensation - - - - - -
Accrued compensated absences - - - - - -
Related party lease obligation - - - - - -
Lease obligation - - - - - -
Bonds payable - - - - - -
Net pension liablity - - - - - -
Net OPEB liability - - - - - -

Total non-current liabilities - - - - - -

Total liabilities 652,586 24,648 677,234 242,635 21,272 263,907 

Deferred inflows of resources 
Deferred inflows of resources related to MSCBA refunding - - - - - -
Service concession arrangement - - - - - -
Deferred outflows of resources related to pension - - - - - -
Deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB - - - - - -
Deferred inflows from leases - - - - - -

Total deferred inflows of resources - - - - - -

Net position 

Net investment in capital assets 
Restricted: 

5,113,294 - 5,113,294 4,364,493 - 4,364,493 

Nonexpendable: scholarships and fellowships 34,953,359 1,417,079 36,370,438 29,044,227 1,352,416 30,396,643 
Expendable: scholarships and grants 14,504,229 1,629,764 16,133,993 11,703,374 1,982,392 13,685,766 

Unrestricted 15,118,680 3,641,451 18,760,131 15,997,837 3,295,102 19,292,939 

Total net position $ 69,689,562 $ 6,688,294 $ 76,377,856 $ 61,109,931 $ 6,629,910 $ 67,739,841 

See Independent Auditors' Report and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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Men’s Tennis 
CAPTURES LITTLE EAST TOURNAMENT TITLE 
Top-seeded Bridgewater State University captured the 2024 Little East 

Conference (LEC) Men’s Tennis Tournament title with a 5-1 victory over 

#2 Rhode Island College in the tournament championship match at the 

Rosen Memorial Tennis Courts. 

Bridgewater State’s Adam Beatrice garnered Tournament MVP honors. 

Beatrice went 2-0 in frst-fight doubles play for the tournament and 

earned a straight set victory at second fight singles in Saturday’s 

championship match. 

The Bears captured two of the three doubles matches this afternoon 

with all three fights going to a tiebreaker. Robby Cooney and Matthew 

Krampf battled back from a 7-4 defcit to post an 8-7 (7-2) victory at 

the second doubles fight to get the Bears on the board. 

The Bears (9-4) earned their frst Little East Tournament title in the 

current format and frst LEC crown since 2006 when they shared the 

championship with the University of Southern Maine. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position of Major Component Units 

For the Years Ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 

2024 

Foundation 
Alumni 

Association Combined 

2023 

Foundation 
Alumni 

Association Combined 
Operating revenues: 

Tuition and fees $ - $ - $ - $ - $ - $ -
Less: scholarships and fellowships - - - - - -

Net tuition and fees 

Gifts and contributions 7,752,906 143,710 7,896,616 5,240,770 140,146 5,380,916 
Federal, state and private grants and contracts - - - - - -
Auxiliary enterprises - - - - - -
Other operating revenues 1,792,297 1,253,717 3,046,014 1,291,967 1,077,213 2,369,180 

Total operating revenues 9,545,203 1,397,427 10,942,630 6,532,737 1,217,359 7,750,096 

Operating expenses: 
Educational and general: 

Instruction - - - - - -
Gifts and contributions 5,004,436 809,838 5,814,274 3,781,763 163,605 3,945,368 
Public service - - - - - -
Academic support - - - - - -
Student services - - - - - -
Institutional support 2,497,917 1,307,163 3,805,080 2,620,812 1,119,018 3,739,830 
Operation and maintenance of plant - - - - - -
Scholarships and fellowships - - - - - -
Depreciation and amortization 175,120 - 175,120 73,890 - 73,890 
Auxiliary enterprises - - - - - -

Total operating expenses 7,677,473 2,117,001 9,794,474 6,476,465 1,282,623 7,759,088 

Net operating income 1,867,730 (719,574) 1,148,156 56,272 (65,264) (8,992) 

Non-operating revenues (expenses): 
State appropriations, net - - - - - -
Gifts - - - - - -
Investment income, net 6,711,901 777,958 7,489,859 6,091,185 718,688 6,809,873 
Interest expense - - - - - -
Other non-operating expenses - - - (54,532) - (54,532) 

Net non-operating revenues (expenses) 6,711,901 777,958 7,489,859 6,036,653 718,688 6,755,341 

Increase in net position before
  capital appropriations 8,579,631 58,384 8,638,015 6,092,925 653,424 6,746,349 

Capital appropriations - - - - - -

Total increase (decrease) in net position $ 8,579,631 $ 58,384 $ 8,638,015 $ 6,092,925 $ 653,424 $  6,746,349

Net position, at beginning of year 61,109,931 6,629,910 67,739,841 55,017,006 5,976,486 60,993,492 

Net position, at end of year $ 69,689,562 $ 6,688,294 $ 76,377,856 $ 61,109,931 $ 6,629,910 $ 67,739,841 

See Independent Auditors' Report and accompanying notes to the financial statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Organization 

Bridgewater State University (the university) is a public, state-supported, comprehensive university that offers a 
quality education leading to certificates, bachelors, and master's degrees. The university also offers, through the 
College of Continuing Studies, credit and noncredit courses as well as a variety of summer workshop programs.  It 
is governed by its Board of Trustees under the direction of the Massachusetts Department of Higher Education and 
is accredited by the New England Commission of Higher Education. The university’s main campus is located in 
Bridgewater, Massachusetts. 

The university is an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts (the Commonwealth). Accordingly, the 
accompanying financial statements may not necessarily be indicative of the conditions that would have existed if the 
university had operated as an independent institution. 

The Bridgewater State University Foundation (the Foundation) and the Bridgewater Alumni Association (the Alumni 
Association) were formed to render financial assistance and support to the educational programs and development 
of the university. Both organizations are legally separate from the university; the university has no financial 
responsibility for either organization.  These entities follow Financial Accounting Standards Board pronouncements 
which may differ from the Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) standards.  Although the university 
does not control the timing or the amount of receipts from the Foundation or the Alumni Association, the majority 
of resources received or held by the Foundation and the Alumni Association are restricted to the activities of the 
university by donors. Because these resources can only be used by, or are for the benefit of the university, the 
Foundation and the Alumni Association are considered component units of the university. As such they have been 
combined and are discretely presented in the university’s financial statements. Complete financial statements for 
either organization can be obtained from their respective administrative offices in Bridgewater, Massachusetts. 

Basis of Presentation and Accounting 

The accompanying financial statements have been prepared using the economic resources measurement focus and 
the accrual basis of accounting in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles as prescribed by 
GASB. 

The university functions as a business-type activity, as defined by GASB. The effect of interfund activity has been 
eliminated from these financial statements. The basic financial statements and required supplementary information 
for general-purpose governments consist of management’s discussion and analysis, basic financial statements 
including the university’s discretely presented component units and required supplementary information. The 
university presents Statements of Net Position, Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Position, and Cash Flows 
on a combined university-wide basis. 

Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing 
of related cash flows. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements have 
been met. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable within a specific function.  
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Basis of Presentation and Accounting (Continued) 

The university’s policies for defining operating activities in the Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in 
Net Position are those that generally result from exchange transactions such as tuition and fees, grants and contracts, 
auxiliary enterprise revenues as well as expenses for salaries, wages, fringe benefits, utilities, supplies and services, 
depreciation and amortization. 

Certain other transactions are reported as non-operating activities including the university’s operating and capital 
appropriations from the Commonwealth, HEERF funding, net investment income and interest expense and non-
capital gifts. 

Classification of Assets and Liabilities 

The university presents current and non-current assets and liabilities in the Statements of Net Position. Assets and 
liabilities are considered current if they mature in one year or less, or expect to be received, used, or paid within one 
year or less. 

Net Position 

Resources are classified for accounting purposes into the following four net position categories: 

Net investment in capital  assets: Capital assets, net of  accumulated depreciation and outstanding principal balances 
of debt attributable to the acquisition, construction, repair or improvement of those assets, as well as deferred 
outflows  of  resources and deferred inflows of resources attributable to acquisition, construction, a nd i mprovement  
of those  assets.  

Restricted - nonexpendable: Net position subject to externally imposed conditions or by l aw requiring t he 
university to main tain them in perpetuity.  
Restricted - exp endable: Net position whose use  is subject  to ex ternally im posed conditions or by law that  can be  
fulfilled by the actions of the university’s Board of Trustees  or by the passage of time.  
Unrestricted: All other categories of net position. Unrestricted net position may  be designated b y actions of the  
university’s  Board of Trustees, or may otherwise be  limited by contractual agreement  with outside parties.  

The university has adopted a policy of generally utilizing restricted - expendable funds, when available, prior to 
unrestricted funds.  

Cash and Equivalents 

The university’s cash and equivalents are cash on hand, cash held with the Commonwealth’s Treasurer and the 
Massachusetts State College Building Authority (“MSCBA”), and short-term, highly liquid investments with 
original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase.  Cash and equivalents held by MSCBA is for 
capital project-type items. Restricted cash and equivalents includes amounts held for capital appropriations and debt 
service. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Investments 

Investments in marketable securities are stated at fair value. Dividends, interest, and net realized and unrealized gains 
or losses on investments are reported in the Combining Statements of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net 
Position.  Gains and losses on the disposition of investments are determined based on specific identification of 
securities sold.  Investment income is recognized when earned. 

Fair Value Measurements 

In accordance with Governmental Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 72, Fair Value Measurement and 
Application, the university has established a framework for measuring fair value which provides a hierarchy that 
prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to 
unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements.) 

The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described as follows: 

Level 1 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or liabilities in 
active markets that the university’s component units have the ability to access. 

Level 2 Inputs to the valuation methodology include: 
Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 
Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; 
Inputs  other  than quoted p rices that are observable for  the  asset or liability;  and 
Inputs that are derived principally from, or corroborated by, observable market data by 
correlation or other means. 

If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3 Inputs to the valuation methodology are unobservable and significant to the fair value measurement. 

The asset or liability’s fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of 
any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to maximize the use of 
observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs.  The university’s component units utilize the market 
approach which uses prices and other relevant information generated by market transactions involving identical or 
comparable assets, liabilities or a group of assets and liabilities. 

Allowances on Accounts Receivable 

Accounts receivable are reported at the amount management expects to collect in the future on balances outstanding 
at year end.  Management estimates allowances for losses based on the history of collections and the knowledge 
acquired about specific items.  Adjustments to the allowance are charged to bad debt expense.  Interest is not charged 
on accounts receivable.  

FINANCIAL SECTION 66 



  
  

 

 

 

 
  

 

    
   

    
    

    
     

 
 

  
   

  

  
  

 

  

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Allowances on Accounts Receivable (Continued) 

Uncollectible amounts are written off against the reserve when deemed uncollectible; recoveries are recorded when 
received.  An amount is considered uncollectible when reasonable efforts to collect the account have been exhausted. 

Capital Assets 

Capital assets are generally controlled but not owned by the university. For assets purchased with state-appropriated 
funds, the university is not able to sell or otherwise pledge its assets unless authorized to do so by the Commonwealth 
of Massachusetts. 

Real estate assets, including improvements, are generally stated at cost at the date of acquisition. Furnishings, 
equipment and collections items are stated at cost at date of acquisition.  Capital assets received with service 
concession arrangements and donated collection items are measured at the acquisition date value, the price that would 
be paid to acquire an asset with equivalent service potential in a similar market transaction.  In accordance with the 
Commonwealth’s capitalization policy, non-collection items with a unit cost of $50,000 or more are capitalized. 
Land and collection items are capitalized, regardless of cost. University capital assets, with the exception of land and 
construction in progress, are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, which range from 
2 to 40 years. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the asset or materially 
extend asset lives are not capitalized.  Amortization of capital assets is included with depreciation expense. 

Right-to-use lease  assets and right-to-use subscription assets (subscription-based information t echnology  
arrangements), recognized in  accordance with GASB 87 and GASB 96 r espectively, are amortized over the life  of 
the lease/ arrangement. V ariable components, i nterest rates, and terms are considered when valuing these  right-to-
use assets.  

All library materials are capitalized at historical cost for purchased materials. The cost of library materials and related 
accumulated depreciation is disposed for financial statement purposes after five years. 

Bond Premiums 

Bond premiums are amortized on a straight-line basis over the terms of the related debt agreements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Pension Plan 

For purposes of measuring the net pension liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of 
resources related to pensions, and pension expense, information about the fiduciary net position of the 
Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement System (“MSERS”) and additions to/deductions from 
MSERS’s fiduciary net position have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by MSERS. 
For this purpose, benefit payments (including refunds of employee contributions) are recognized when due 
and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at fair value. 

Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions (“OPEB”) 

For purposes of measuring the university's net OPEB liability, deferred outflows of resources and deferred 
inflows of resources related to OPEB, and OPEB expense, information about the fiduciary net position of 
the State Retirees' Benefit Trust (“SRBT”) and additions to/deductions from SRBT’s fiduciary net position 
have been determined on the same basis as they are reported by SRBT.  For this purpose, SRBT recognizes 
benefit payments when due and payable in accordance with the benefit terms.  Investments are reported at 
fair value, except for money market investments and participating interest-earning investment contracts that 
have a maturity at the time of purchase of one year or less, which are reported at cost. 

Fringe Benefits 

The university participates in the Commonwealth’s fringe benefit programs, including health insurance, 
unemployment, and pension and workers’ compensation benefits. Health insurance, unemployment and 
pension costs are billed through a fringe benefit rate charged to the university.  Workers’ compensation 
costs are assessed separately based on the university’s actual experience. 

Compensated Absences 

Employees earn the right to be compensated during absences for vacation leave, sick leave and accrued 
compensatory time. Accrued vacation is the amount earned by all eligible employees through June 30, 2024 
and 2023. The accrued sick leave balance represents 20% of amounts earned by those employees with ten 
or more years of state service at June 30, 2024 and 2023. Upon retirement, these employees are entitled to 
receive payment for this accrued balance. 

Unearned Revenues 

Student deposits and advance payments received for tuition and fees related to certain summer programs, 
and tuition received for the following academic year are recorded as revenues as earned. Grants, including 
HEERF institutional portion, and other advance payments are recognized as revenue in accordance with the 
underlying agreement. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued) 

Student Fees 

Student tuition, dining, residence and other fees are presented net of scholarships and fellowships applied 
to students’ accounts.  Certain other scholarship amounts that are paid directly to, or refunded to, the 
students are generally reflected as expenses. 

Tax Status 

The university is an Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and is therefore generally exempt 
from federal income taxes under Section 115 of the Internal Revenue Code, as well as state income taxes. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and 
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the 
reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.  Actual results could differ from 
those estimates. Significant management estimates included in the financial statements relate to the 
allowances for accounts, useful lives of capital assets, pension and OPEB liabilities, as well as lease and 
subscription based information technology arrangement liabilities. 

New Government Accounting Pronouncements 

GASB Statement 101 – Compensated Absences is effective for reporting periods beginning 
after December 15, 2023. The objective of this statement is to update the recognition and 
measurement for compensated absences. 

GASB Statement 102 – Certain Risk Disclosures is effective for reporting periods beginning 
after June 15, 2024. The objective of this statement is to update the required disclosures for 
risks that could negatively impact state and local governments. 

GASB Statement 103 – Financial Reporting Model Improvements is effective for reporting 
periods beginning after June 15, 2025. The objective of this statement is to improve the 
financial reporting model to enhance decision making by the organization and assessing a 
government’s accountability.  

Management has not completed its review of the requirements of these standards and their applicability. 

Reclassifications 

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified for consistency with the current year presentation.  These 
reclassifications had no effect on the reported change in net position for the year ended June 30, 2023. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 2 – Implementation of Newly Effective Accounting Standard 

GASB 100 Implementation 
As of July 1, 2022, the College implemented GASB Statement 100 – Accounting Changes and Error 
Corrections, an amendment of GASB 62. The objective of this statement is to provide consistency for 
changes in accounting principles, accounting estimates, and the reporting entity and corrections of errors. 
The adoption of this statement did not have a material impact to the financial statements. 

Note 3 - Cash and Equivalents 

Custodial credit risk is risk associated with the failure of a depository financial institution. At June 30, 2024 
and 2023, the university’s deposits were either insured or fully collateralized, with the exception of amounts 
held by the Massachusetts Municipal Depository Trust (MMDT). At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the carrying 
amount of the university’s deposits, net of deposits and disbursements in transit, was $96,472,788 and 
$93,298,641 respectively. Of the carrying amount, $72,818,835 and $41,409,370 were held by MMDT at 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. In 2024, the university transferred $28 million to MMDT to take 
advantage of an increase in interest rates. Total return rates increased from 4.06% in 2023 to 5.71% in 2024. 

The MMDT is an investment pool for political subdivisions in the Commonwealth that was designed as a 
legal means to safely invest temporarily available cash. Its primary purpose is to provide a safe, liquid, 
high-yield investment vehicle offering participation in a diversified portfolio of high-quality money market 
instruments. The MMDT, an instrumentality of the State Treasurer, is not a bank, savings institution, or 
financial institution, and is not subject to FDIC insurance. MMDT operates as a qualifying external 
investment pool and is valued by MMDT’s management on an amortized cost where the net asset value is 
$1 per share. 

Note 4 - Cash and Deposits held by the State Treasurer 

Accounts payable, accrued salaries and outlays for future capital projects to be funded from state-
appropriated funds totaled $3,329,736 and $3,846,928 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
university has recorded a comparable dollar amount of cash held by State Treasurer for the benefit of the 
university, which will be subsequently utilized to pay for such liabilities. The cash is held in the State 
Treasurer’s pooled cash account. 

Accounts payable and accrued salaries to be funded by cash forwarded by the University to, and held by, 
the State Treasurer for payment of so-called “non-appropriated” liabilities as June 30, 2024 and 2023 
through MMARS were recorded in the sum of $11,028,281 and $8,628,861, respectively. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 5 - Restricted Cash and Equivalents 

Restricted cash and equivalents are as follows: 

2024 2023 

Construction $ 246,541 $ 30,674 
Other 25,284 25,052 

$ 271,825 $ 55,726 

Note 6 - Investments - Component Units 

Investments of the combined component units are stated at fair value and consist of the following at June 
30: 

2024 2023 

Equity mutual funds $ 49,059,765 $ 43,221,593 
Mutual funds 1,449 78,208 
Corporate equity securities - 78,199 
Real asset mutual funds 2,106,299 1,783,030 
Fixed income bond mutual funds 17,363,971 14,837,527 
Private equity 1,390,760 834,885 

Total investments $ 69,922,244 $ 60,833,442 

The following is a description of the valuation methodologies used for assets measured at fair value.  There 
have been no changes in the methodologies used at June 30, 2024. 

Equity Mutual Funds: Valued at the net asset value ("NAV”) of the shares held at fiscal year-end. 
Mutual funds consist of open-ended mutual funds that “strike a NAV” at the close of every day that 
financial markets are open and are available to purchase by the general public through brokerage 
houses. Equities within the fund are valued at quoted market value of the shares held at fiscal year-
end. 

Mutual Funds and Corporate Equity Securities:  Valued at the net asset value (“NAV”) of the 
shares held at fiscal year-end.  Mutual funds consist of open-ended mutual funds that “strike a 
NAV” at the close of every day that financial markets are open and are available to purchase by the 
general public through brokerage houses. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 6 - Investments - Component Units (Continued) 

Real Asset Mutual Funds: Valued at the net asset value ("NAV”) of the shares held at fiscal year 
end. Mutual funds consist of open-ended mutual funds that “strike a NAV” at the close of every 
day that financial markets are open and are available to purchase by the general public through 
brokerage houses. Real estate equities within the fund are valued at the closing price reported on 
the active market on which the individual securities are traded. 

Fixed Income Bond Mutual Funds: Valued at the net asset value ("NAV”) of the shares held at 
fiscal year-end. Mutual funds consist of open-ended mutual funds that “strike a NAV” at the close 
of every day that financial markets are open and are available to purchase by the general public 
through brokerage houses. Fixed income bonds within the fund are valued at the closing price 
reported on the active market on which the individual securities are traded. 

Private Equity: The fair values for certain private equity investments held through limited 
partnerships and alternative investments are estimated by the respective external investment 
managers if market values are not readily ascertainable. These valuations necessarily involve 
assumptions that are reviewed by the University. Because the investments in private equity 
investments are not readily marketable, the estimate value is subject to uncertainty and, therefore, 
may differ significantly from the value that would have been used had a market for such 
investments existed. 

The preceding methods described may produce a fair value calculation that may not be indicative of net 
realizable value or reflective of future fair values.  Although the Foundation and Alumni Association 
believe its valuation methods are appropriate and consistent with other market participants, the use of 
different methodologies or assumptions to determine the fair value of certain financial instruments could 
result in a different fair value measurement at the reporting date. 

Note 7 - Fair Value Measurements - Component Units 

Within the fair value hierarchy, approximately $69.6 million and $60.5 million of the component units 
investments are measured at net asset value per share, with the remainder being classified as Level 1 at June 
30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

Further disclosures regarding the component units' investments can be found on their respective financial 
statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 8 - Accounts Receivable, Net 

Accounts receivable is comprised of the following at June 30: 

2024 2023 

Students $ 3,764,431 $ 4,410,293 
Grants 2,324,958 1,855,473 
Other 5,092,287 1,827,755 

11,181,676 8,093,521 
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts (1,449,143) (1,674,219)

       Net accounts receivable $ 9,732,533 $ 6,419,302 

Note 9 - Contributions Receivable - Component Units 

Contributions receivable consist of unconditional promises to give. Such promises are initially recorded at 
fair value considering possible losses and a risk adjusted time value of money factor. 

Contributions receivable are as follows as of June 30: 

2024 2023 
Amounts due in: 

Less than one year $ 354,718 $ 398,059
One to five years 535,000 1,271,500

889,718 1,669,559
Less: unamortized discounts (2,233) (3,525) 
Less: allowance for uncollectible accounts (1,700) (1,700) 

Net contributions receivable 885,785 1,664,334

Less: current portion (354,718) (398,059) 

Non-current contributions receivable $ 531,067 $ 1,266,275 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 10 - Lease Receivable 

As of November 1, 2020 the university leases certain rooftop space for a cell tower to Verizon. Though the 
general terms are illustrated in the chart below, it should be noted that the terms include an early termination 
clause. Should the university terminate the lease prior to the end date, a $236.12 fee for each month 
remaining shall be assessed.  

As of September 1, 2021, the university also leases certain cables within the university owned fiber optic 
cable system to Taunton Municipal Lighting Plant (TMLP). The terms below include a 5 year-renewal 
period that calls for an adjustment to the lease payment based on the Consumer Price Index. 

Lease 
Term 

(Months) 

2024

Receivable Rent 
Inflow 

Interest 
Inflow 

2023

Receivable Rent 
Inflow 

Interest 
Inflow 

Verizon 60 $ 257,877 $ 27,814 $ 2,906 $ 276,244 $ 17,632 $ 2,292 
TMLP 120 $ 204,679 $ 18,367 $ 2,155 $ 232,493 $ 27,470 $ 3,250 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 11 - Capital Assets 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2024 is as follows: 

Estimated 
Lives 

(years) 
Beginning 
Balance Additions Reductions Reclass 

Ending 
Balance 

Capital Assets not being depreciated:
 Land $ 2,971,396 $ - $ - $ - $ 2,971,396
 Artwork 2,408,500 185,262 - 142,896 2,736,658
 Construction In Progress 5,069,225 13,231,908 - (1,599,340) 16,701,793

Total capital assets not being depreciated: 10,449,121 13,417,170 - (1,456,444) 22,409,847

Capital Assets being depreciated:
 Buildings, Including Improvements 11-40 288,262,644 2,304,236 - 1,197,847 291,764,727
 Furnishings & Equipment 3-10 22,397,319 2,303,872 - 258,597 24,959,788
 Library Materials 5 706,559 - - - 706,559 

Total capital assets being depreciated: 311,366,522 4,608,108 - 1,456,444 317,431,074

ROU Capital Assets being amortized:
 Related Parties ROU Asset, Real Estate 4-22 220,639,904 2,864,078 (117,304) - 223,386,678
 Equipment 2-5 6,587,240 1,753,285 (56,414) - 8,284,111
 Space 3-13 2,115,270 122,233 (81,527) - 2,155,976
 Vehicle 3-5 2,233,847 490,770 (456,947) - 2,267,670
 Software arrangements 2-7 10,265,711 2,043,567 (172,184) - 12,137,094 

Total ROU capital assets being amortized: 241,841,972 7,273,933 (884,376) - 248,231,529 

Total capital assets 563,657,615 25,299,211 (884,376) - 588,072,450 

Less accumulated depreciation
 Buildings, Including Improvements 152,573,427 9,222,430 - - 161,795,857
 Furnishings & Equipment 17,974,231 1,715,838 - - 19,690,069
 Library Materials 429,696 70,656 - - 500,352 

Total accumulated depreciation: 170,977,354 11,008,924 - - 181,986,278 

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
 Related Parties ROU Asset, Real Estate 47,182,437 11,799,696 (117,304) - 58,864,829
 Equipment 2,294,746 1,480,850 (56,414) - 3,719,182
 Space 1,127,921 418,256 (81,527) - 1,464,650
 Vehicle 1,144,858 401,599 (447,635) - 1,098,822
 Software arrangements 4,835,124 2,816,634 (172,184) - 7,479,574 

Total accumulated amortization: 56,585,086 16,917,035 (875,064) - 72,627,057 

Capital assets, net $ 336,095,175 $ (2,626,748) $ (9,312) $ - $ 333,459,115 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 11 - Capital Assets (Continued) 

Capital asset activity for the year ended June 30, 2023 is as follows: 

Estimated 
Lives 

(years) 
Beginning 
Balance Additions Reductions Reclass 

Ending 
Balance 

Capital Assets not being depreciated:
 Land $ 2,971,396 $ - $ - $ - $ 2,971,396
 Artwork 2,407,000 1,500 - - 2,408,500
 Construction In Progress 1,476,802 4,304,089 - (711,666) 5,069,225

Total capital assets not being depreciated: 6,855,198 4,305,589 - (711,666) 10,449,121

Capital Assets being depreciated:
 Buildings, Including Improvements 11-40 285,090,812 2,460,166 - 711,666 288,262,644
 Furnishings & Equipment 3-10 21,176,785 1,415,879 (195,345) - 22,397,319
 Library Materials 5 669,677 36,882 - - 706,559 

Total capital assets being depreciated: 306,937,274 3,912,927 (195,345) 711,666 311,366,522 

ROU Capital Assets being amortized:
 Related Parties ROU Asset, Real Estate 4-22 220,639,904 - - - 220,639,904
 Equipment 2-5 1,982,425 4,604,815 - - 6,587,240
 Space 3-13 2,115,270 - - - 2,115,270
 Vehicle 3-5 1,418,224 864,708 (49,085) - 2,233,847
Software arrangements 2-7 6,313,264 3,952,447 - - 10,265,711

Total ROU capital assets being amortized: 232,469,087 9,421,970 (49,085) - 241,841,972

Total capital assets 546,261,559 17,640,486 (244,430) - 563,657,615

Less accumulated depreciation
 Buildings, Including Improvements 143,467,279 9,106,148 - - 152,573,427
 Furnishings & Equipment 16,392,349 1,777,227 (195,345) - 17,974,231
 Library Materials 359,040 70,656 - - 429,696 

Total accumulated depreciation: 160,218,668 10,954,031 (195,345) - 170,977,354

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization
 Related Parties ROU Asset, Real Estate 35,523,269 11,659,168 - - 47,182,437
 Equipment 1,250,196 1,044,550 - - 2,294,746
 Space 707,993 419,928 - - 1,127,921
 Vehicle 852,838 338,770 (46,750) - 1,144,858
Software arrangements 2,852,706 1,982,418 - - 4,835,124

Total accumulated amortization: 41,187,002 15,444,834 (46,750) - 56,585,086

Capital assets, net $ 344,855,889 $ (8,758,379) $ (2,335) $ - $ 336,095,175
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 12 - Unearned Revenues  

Unearned revenues include tuition received in advance from  students  for summer courses commencing  
after June 30, the  subsequent  fall semester, and c apital grants  received in advance. 

Unearned revenues of the university are considered current liabilities and include the following at June 30: 

2024 2023 

Tuition and fees $ 4,931,236 $ 5,496,137 
Unearned capital appropriations 3,063,730 2,355,477 
Grants 2,210,501 971,415 
Other 226,621 297,450 

Total unearned revenues $ 10,432,088 $ 9,120,479 

The  unearned capital appropriations represent funding by  the Commonwealth relative  to ongoing  
construction of  various projects. Unearned revenue from capital appropriations are  recognized a s revenue 
in the  fiscal year in which the  related project  funds are expensed. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 13 - Deferred Inflows of Resources – Service Concession Arrangement 

A component of deferred inflows of resources consists of unamortized balances of a food service agreement 
with an outside party. Under this agreement, the university’s food service vendor provides funding for 
capital projects (i.e., food truck installation, renovations of dining facilities on campus). These capital assets 
are reported as construction in progress until/unless complete and are carried at the net value of cost less 
accumulated depreciation. The university reports the carrying value of assets related to the service 
concession arrangement as $5,250,568 and $1,118,570 for fiscal year end June 30, 2024, and 2023, 
respectively. 

A deferred inflow of resources equal to the total investment is recognized and amortized over a five-year 
period. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, deferred inflows of resources related to this arrangement totaled 
$3,869,166 and $860,269, respectively. 

The total investment, annual amortization, unamortized deferred inflow and carrying value of the capital 
assets at June 30, 2024 consist of:  

Capital Project 
Total 

Investment 
Annual 

Amortization 

Unamortized 
Deferred  
Inflow 

Carrying  
Value of 

Asset  
Food Truck $ 122,480 $  24,496 $  24,496 $  36,744  

ECC Servery 296,052 59,210 154,484 266,446 
Tillinghast Kitchen 471,722 94,344 257,055 424,549 

Tillinghast Accessibility 4,007,958 801,592 3,136,853 4,007,958 
Flynn Dining 216,030 43,206 129,619 192,027
Ucook Station 367,400 73,480 166,659 322,843

The total investment, annual amortization, unamortized deferred inflow and carrying value of the capital 
assets at June 30, 2023 consist of: 

Capital Project 
Total 

Investment 
Annual 

Amortization  

Unamortized 
Deferred  
Inflow 

Carrying  
Value of 

Asset 
Food Truck $ 122,480 $  24,496 $  48,992 $ 73,488

ECC Servery 296,052 59,210 213,694 281,249 
Tillinghast Kitchen 471,722 94,344 351,400 448,136 

Tillinghast Accessibility 315,697 63,139 246,183 315,697 
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Beginning Ending Current Non-Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion Balance

$ $ $ $ $ $

Total non-current liabilities $ 340,237,029 $ 9,426,861 $ 42,992,860 $ 306,671,030 $ 21,668,064 $ 285,002,966

Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion Balance
Leases and bonds payable:

Bonds payable $ 10,356,890  $ - $ 800,204  $ 9,556,686  $ 824,817  $ 8,731,869
Related party lease obligations 209,374,697 - 7,664,151 201,710,546 8,125,370 193,585,176

Accrued workers' compensation 1,595,073 390,215 274,229 1,711,059 201,006 1,510,053
Accrued compensated absences 12,874,342 528,579 489,185 12,913,736 8,652,203 4,261,533
Net pension liability 38,224,852 6,649,901 - 44,874,753 - 44,874,753

Total other non-current liabilities 119,808,236 7,568,695 11,402,930 115,974,001 8,853,209 107,120,792

Total non-current liabilities $ 348,172,615 $ 16,997,139 $ 24,932,725 $ 340,237,029 $ 21,996,148 $ 318,240,881

Beginning Ending Current Non-Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion Balance

$ $ $ $ $ $

Total non-current liabilities $ 340,237,029 $ 9,426,861 $ 42,992,860 $ 306,671,030 $ 21,668,064 $ 285,002,966

Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion Balance
Leases and bonds payable:

Bonds payable $ 10,356,890  $ - $ 800,204  $ 9,556,686  $ 824,817  $ 8,731,869
Related party lease obligations 209,374,697 - 7,664,151 201,710,546 8,125,370 193,585,176

Accrued workers' compensation 1,595,073 390,215 274,229 1,711,059 201,006 1,510,053
Accrued compensated absences 12,874,342 528,579 489,185 12,913,736 8,652,203 4,261,533
Net pension liability 38,224,852 6,649,901 - 44,874,753 - 44,874,753

Total other non-current liabilities 119,808,236 7,568,695 11,402,930 115,974,001 8,853,209 107,120,792

Total non-current liabilities $ 348,172,615 $ 16,997,139 $ 24,932,725 $ 340,237,029 $ 21,996,148 $ 318,240,881

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 14 – Non-current Liabilities 

Non-current liabilities of the university at June 30, 2024 consist of: 

Beginning 
Balance Additions Reductions 

Ending 
Balance 

Current 
Portion 

Non-Current 
Balance 

Leases and bonds payable: 
Bonds payable $ 9,556,686 $  - $ 905,693 $ 8,650,993 $ 959,140 $ 7,691,853 
Related party lease obligations 201,710,546 2,864,078 16,209,694 188,364,930 6,852,702 181,512,228 
Lease obligations 7,718,201 2,366,288 2,638,244 7,446,245 2,145,163 5,301,082 
SBITA obligations 5,277,595 2,043,567 2,744,486 4,576,676 1,876,494 2,700,182 

224,263,028 7,273,933 22,498,117 209,038,844 11,833,499 197,205,345 
Other non-current liabilities: 

Accrued workers' compensation 1,711,059 684,621 468,266 1,927,414 239,630 1,687,784 
Accrued compensated absences 12,913,736 1,468,307 61,245 14,320,798 9,594,935 4,725,863 
Net pension liability 44,874,753 - 5,436,555 39,438,198 - 39,438,198 
Net OPEB liability 56,474,453 - 14,528,677 41,945,776 - 41,945,776 

Total other non-current liabilities 115,974,001 2,152,928 20,494,743 97,632,186 9,834,565 87,797,621 

Total non-current liabilities $ 340,237,029 $ 9,426,861 $ 42,992,860 $ 306,671,030 $ 21,668,064 $ 285,002,966 

Non-current liabilities of the university at June 30, 2023 consist of: 

Beginning 
Balance Additions Reductions 

Ending 
Balance 

Current 
Portion 

Non-Current 
Balance 

Leases and bonds payable: 
Bonds payable $ 10,356,890 $ - $ 800,204  $ 9,556,686  $ 824,817  $ 8,731,869 
Related party lease obligations 209,374,697 - 7,664,151 201,710,546 8,125,370 193,585,176 
Lease obligations 5,294,906 5,470,292 3,046,997 7,718,201 2,181,436 5,536,765 
SBITA obligations 3,337,886 3,958,152 2,018,443 5,277,595 2,011,316 3,266,279 

228,364,379 9,428,444 13,529,795 224,263,028 13,142,939 211,120,089 
Other non-current liabilities: 

Accrued workers' compensation 1,595,073 390,215 274,229 1,711,059 201,006 1,510,053 
Accrued compensated absences 12,874,342 528,579 489,185 12,913,736 8,652,203 4,261,533 
Net pension liability 38,224,852 6,649,901 - 44,874,753 - 44,874,753 
Net OPEB liability 67,113,969 - 10,639,516 56,474,453 - 56,474,453

Total other non-current liabilities 119,808,236 7,568,695 11,402,930 115,974,001 8,853,209 107,120,792 

Total non-current liabilities $ 348,172,615 $ 16,997,139 $ 24,932,725 $ 340,237,029 $ 21,996,148 $ 318,240,881 
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Beginning Ending Current Non-Current
Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion Balance

$ $ $ $ $ $

Total non-current liabilities $ 340,237,029 $ 9,426,861 $ 42,992,860 $ 306,671,030 $ 21,668,064 $ 285,002,966

Balance Additions Reductions Balance Portion Balance
Leases and bonds payable:

Bonds payable $ 10,356,890  $ - $ 800,204  $ 9,556,686  $ 824,817  $ 8,731,869
Related party lease obligations 209,374,697 - 7,664,151 201,710,546 8,125,370 193,585,176

Accrued workers' compensation 1,595,073 390,215 274,229 1,711,059 201,006 1,510,053
Accrued compensated absences 12,874,342 528,579 489,185 12,913,736 8,652,203 4,261,533
Net pension liability 38,224,852 6,649,901 - 44,874,753 - 44,874,753

Total other non-current liabilities 119,808,236 7,568,695 11,402,930 115,974,001 8,853,209 107,120,792

Total non-current liabilities $ 348,172,615 $ 16,997,139 $ 24,932,725 $ 340,237,029 $ 21,996,148 $ 318,240,881

  
  

 

  

               

         

              
 

         

         

        

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 14 – Non-current Liabilities (Continued) 

Bonds Payable  
2024 2023 

Parking lot 
Bonds through MSCBA, original issue date 3/8/2006, at 
average interest of 3.41%, maturing 5/1/2034 307,408 334,791 

Athletic field 
Bonds through MSCBA, original issue date 12/22/2009, at 
average interest of 5.37%, maturing 5/1/2034 2,147,916 2,439,369 

University Park 
Bonds through MSCBA, original issue date 1/4/2012, 
 at average interest of 4.77%, maturing 11/1/2034 

564,904 647,724

Campus Center 
Bonds through MSCBA, original issue date 12/20/2012, at 
average interest of 4.50%, maturing 5/1/2041 3,116,627 3,378,569 

Welcome Center 
Bonds through MSCBA, original issue date 12/20/2012, at 
average interest of 4.44%, maturing 5/1/2041 2,514,138 2,756,233 

$ 8,650,993 $ 9,556,686 

During 2024, the  university’s  MSCBA Series 2019C  and 2 020A  bonds  were partially refunded as  part of 
the MSCBA’s Refunding Revenue Bonds Series  2024A. The  purpose of the bond r efunding was  to lower  
interest rates which resulted in a deferred economic gain of approximately $103,000. During 2022, the  
university’s MSCBA Series 2012C bonds were partially r efunded as part of the MSCBA’s  Refunding 
Revenue Bonds Series 2022A.  The purpose of the bond refunding was to  lower interest rates  which r esulted 
in  a deferred economic gain  of approximately  $133,000. During 2021,  the University’s MSCBA Series 
2009C, 2012B, 2012C, and 2019C bonds  were  partially  refunded  as part of the MSCBA’s  Refunding  
Revenue Bonds Series 2020A.  The purpose of the issuance was to provide  budgetary relief for fiscal  years  
2021 and 2 022 to the University.  The refunding resulted in a net economic loss of approximately $394,000, 
a deferred loss  of approximately $479,000, a nd deferred gain of approximately $111,000. Projects funded 
by MSCBA bonds  are described below.  
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 14 – Non-current Liabilities (Continued) 

Bonds Payable (Continued) 

Parking Lot: 
During fiscal year 2006, the university entered into a financing agreement with the MSCBA to construct a 
new parking lot. The source of financing the project was based upon the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds 
issued by MSCBA on behalf of the university (Series 2012B and 2019C (previously 2006A)). As disclosed 
above, in July 2020 the Series 2012B and 2019C bonds were partially refunded with Series 2020A bonds. 
Through its agreements with MSCBA, the university will repay this debt in semi-annual installments, 
starting May 1, 2007 and ending May 1, 2034, at an annual variable coupon averaging 3.41%. At June 30, 
2024 and 2023, the balance on the bond was $307,408 and $334,791, respectively. 

Athletic Field: 
During fiscal year 2010, the university entered into a financing agreement with the MSCBA to renovate an 
athletic field. The source of financing the project was based upon the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds 
issued by MSCBA on behalf of the university (Series 2009B & 2009C). As disclosed above, in July 2020 
the Series 2009C bond was partially refunded with series 2020A bonds. Through its agreements with 
MSCBA, the university has an agreement to repay this debt in semi-annual installments, starting May 1, 
2011 and ending May 1, 2034, at an annual variable coupon averaging 5.37%. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
the balance on the bond was $2,147,916 and $2,439,369, respectively. 

University Park: 
During fiscal year 2012, the university entered into a financing agreement with the MSCBA to redevelop 
an existing parking lot to construct green space to include pedestrian walkways. The source of financing 
the project was based upon the issuance of Project Revenue Bonds issued by MSCBA on behalf of the 
university (Series 2012A). As disclosed above, in July 2020 the Series 2012A bond was partially refunded 
with series 2020A bonds. Through its agreement with MSCBA, the university has an agreement to repay 
this debt in semi-annual installments, starting October 1, 2012 and ending November 1, 2034, at an annual 
variable coupon averaging 4.77%. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the balance on the bond was $564,904 and 
$647,724, respectively. 

Campus Center: 
During fiscal year 2013, the university entered into a financing agreement with the MSCBA to renovate the 
main entrances to the Rondileau Student Union. The source of financing the project was based upon the 
issuance of Project Revenue Bonds issued by MSCBA on behalf of the university (Series 2012C, as 
modified). As disclosed above, in July 2021 the series 2012C Bond was refinanced by bond series 2022A. 
As disclosed above, the series 2012C was partially refunded with series 2020A bonds. Through its 
agreements with MSCBA, the university has an agreement to repay this debt in semi-annual installments, 
starting November 1, 2013 and ending May 1, 2041, at an annual variable coupon averaging 4.50%. At 
June 30, 2024 and 2023, the balance on the bond was $3,116,627 and $3,378,569, respectively. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 14 – Non-current Liabilities (Continued) 

Bonds Payable (Continued) 

Welcome Center: 
During fiscal year 2015, the MSCBA authorized and issued a debt modification resulting in the transfer of 
$3,680,000 of principal from the Rondileau Student Union project. The transfer of principal was to fund 
the construction of the Welcome Center building. The source of financing the project was based upon the 
issuance of debt modification by the MSCBA on behalf of the university (Series 2012C modification). As 
disclosed above, in July 2021, the series 2012C was partially refunded with series 2022A bonds. As 
disclosed above, the series 2012C was partially refunded with series 2020A bonds. Through its agreements 
with MSCBA, the university has an agreement to repay this debt in semi-annual installments, starting May 
1, 2015 and ending May 1, 2041, at annual variable coupon averaging 4.44%. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, 
the balance on the bond was $2,514,138 and $2,756,233, respectively. 

Certain of these bonds rely on revenue streams such as student fees as their source of repayment. 

Interest expense on bonds payable for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $250,469 and $463,240, 
respectively. 

Maturities of the bonds payable subsequent to June 30, 2024 are as follows: 

Fiscal Years 
Ending June 30, Principal Interest Total 

2025 959,140 372,251 1,331,391 
2026 976,577 330,779 1,307,356 
2027 906,657 287,808 1,194,465 
2028 933,765 245,785 1,179,550 
2029 954,971 201,817 1,156,788 

2030 - 2034 2,874,057 422,047 3,296,104 
2035 - 2039 440,894 103,000 543,894 
2040 - 2041 604,932 37,166 642,098 

$ 8,650,993 $ 2,000,653 $ 10,651,646 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 14 – Non-current Liabilities (Continued) 

Lease Obligations, Related Party Lease Obligations and SBITAs 

The university leases certain assets under lease arrangements including leases for equipment, space, 
vehicles, and tax-exempt financing leases for various energy improvements. The university also leases 
certain assets under related party lease arrangements including real estate from MSCBA. 

Related Party Lease Obligations (MSCBA) 
The land on which the residence hall resides is leased by the Massachusetts State College Building 
Authority (“MSCBA”) from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts. MSCBA has issued bonds to construct 
and refurbish the university’s residence halls. The residence halls and the associated liability of these lease 
transactions are reflected on the financial statements of MSCBA. MSCBA leases the residence halls to the 
University. 

According to an agreement between the Commonwealth of Massachusetts and the University, the 
University is responsible for reimbursing MSCBA for debt service payments of the bonds that MSCBA has 
issued for the residence halls and operating costs for the residence halls incurred by MSCBA.  

The lease term is completed when the final bond payment is made, which is scheduled for May 2043. The 
lease liability was calculated based upon the discounting of the future bond service payments using the 
average interest rate of the bond issuance associated with that lease. If MSCBA refunds the bonds, any cost 
savings are passed through to the university. The difference in the lease liability due to the refunding was 
recognized as deferred outflow or inflow of resources related to leases. During 2024, the university’s 
MSCBA Series 2019C and 2020A bonds were partially refunded as part of the MSCBA’s Refunding 
Revenue Bonds Series 2024A. This refunding resulted in a deferred economic gain of approximately 
$11,588,000. 

Payments to MSCBA are due in semi-annual installments that occur during the fall and spring academic 
semesters. For the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, debt service payments and operating costs paid by 
the University were $12,380,375 and $15,890,727 respectively. Debt Service Relief Funds (DSRF) can be 
elected to be released by either the university or the MSCBA to assist in lowering the overall assessment. 
DSRF were utilized in the amount of $833 thousand and $787 thousand in fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 
and 2023, respectively. The interest rates displayed in the table below are the implicit rates of the leases. 
The implicit rate is the rate that, at a given date, causes the aggregate present value of the lease payments 
following the end of the lease term to equal the fair market value of the lease. These interest rates are not 
representative of the bond offering interest rates.  For unrelated leases, there are various options to renew 
depending upon the specific circumstances. 
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Commencement Term FY24 Interest
Group Type Date In Months Payments Rate

Related Party Real Estate 7/1/2019 - 7/1/2023 108 - 244 $12,380,375 2.96% - 26.68%
Unrelated Space 7/1/2019 - 12/1/2023 36 - 156 $400,797 1.25% - 5.38%
Unrelated Equipment 7/1/2019 - 9/1/2023 18 - 60 $1,397,122 0.78% - 5.38%
Unrelated Vehicles 7/1/2019 - 5/1/2024 36 - 60 $345,741 0.78% - 5.38%
Unrelated Software 7/1/2020 - 12/1/2023 15 - 84 $2,776,781 0.78% - 5.38%

6/30/2024 6/30/2023 FY24 FY23
Lease/SBITA Lease/SBITA Additional Additional

Group Type Liability Liability Outflows Outflows
Related Party Real Estate $188,364,930 $201,710,546 $2,052,469 $2,782,092
Unrelated Space $715,746 $971,422 $666,032 $540,647
Unrelated Equipment $3,982,052 $3,536,884 $31,495 $21,326
Unrelated Vehicles $1,176,321 $1,093,111 - -
Unrelated Software $4,576,676 $5,277,595 - -

  

   

     
 

    
   

  
   

 
 

 
    

         
      

     
    

  
 

  
    

  
  

The university leases certain assets including equipment, space, vehicles, and tax-exempt financing leases 
for various energy improvements.  

When interest rates are not defined in the contract or lease terms, the implicit interest rate is used to calculate 
the lease liability. The implicit rate is the rate that, at a given date, causes the aggregate present value of the 
lease payments following the end of the lease term to equal the fair market value of the lease. These interest 
rates are not representative of the bond offering interest rates for related party lease obligations. For 
unrelated leases, there are various options to renew depending upon the specific circumstances. Lease terms 
end when the final payments are made. 

Subscription-Based Information Technology Arrangements (SBITAs) 
The university has entered into subscription-based information technology arrangements (SBITAs) for 
various software products. There were no payments made for additional services not included in the 
required SBITA payments.  The university has no options to purchase the software products, while some 
arrangements may offer options to renew.  The university did not have any commitments under SBITAs 
before the SBITA term commenced and did not record any impairment losses associated with any SBITA 
liability.  The liability balance associated with the SBITA right of uses assets was $4,576,676 and 
$5,277,595 at June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. 

The interest rates displayed in the table below are the implicit rates of the leases. The implicit rate is the 
rate that, at a given date, causes the aggregate present value of the lease payments following the end of the 
lease term to equal the fair market value of the lease. These interest rates are not representative of the bond 
offering interest rates for related party lease obligations.   

Group Type 
Commencement 

Date 
Term 

In Months 
FY24 

Payments 
Interest 

Rate 
Related Party Real Estate 7/1/2019 - 7/1/2023 108 - 244 $12,380,375 2.96% - 26.68% 
Unrelated Space 7/1/2019 - 12/1/2023 36 - 156 $400,797 1.25% - 5.38% 
Unrelated Equipment 7/1/2019 - 9/1/2023 18 - 60 $1,397,122 0.78% - 5.38% 
Unrelated Vehicles 7/1/2019 - 5/1/2024 36 - 60 $345,741 0.78% - 5.38% 
Unrelated Software 7/1/2020 - 12/1/2023 15 - 84 $2,776,781 0.78% - 5.38% 

Group Type 

6/30/2024 
Lease/SBITA 

Liability 

6/30/2023 
Lease/SBITA 

Liability 

FY24 
Additional 
Outflows 

FY23 
Additional 
Outflows 

Related Party Real Estate $188,364,930 $201,710,546 $2,052,469 $2,782,092 
Unrelated Space $715,746 $971,422 $666,032 $540,647 
Unrelated Equipment $3,982,052 $3,536,884 $31,495 $21,326 
Unrelated Vehicles $1,176,321 $1,093,111  -  -
Unrelated Software $4,576,676 $5,277,595  -  -

  
  

 

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 14 – Non-current Liabilities (Continued) 

Lease Obligations, Related Party Lease Obligations and SBITAs (Continued) 

FINANCIAL SECTION 84 



273,861,848273,861,848

The following schedule summarizes future minimum payments under non-cancellable leases subsequent to 
June 30, 2024: 

Fiscal Years 
Ending June 30, 

Related Party 
Principal Interest 

Lease Obligations 
Principal Interest 

SBITA Obligations 
Principal Interest Total 

2025 6,852,702 8,467,733 2,145,163 194,504 1,876,494 66,158 19,602,754 
2026 8,371,182 7,878,360 2,051,785 128,550 1,270,631 43,409 19,743,917 
2027 8,995,901 7,354,755 1,677,137 66,707 782,861 24,878 18,902,239 
2028 9,779,095 6,775,753 1,023,198 29,808 646,690 11,743 18,266,287 
2029 10,397,567 5,966,855 215,464 13,704 - - 16,593,590 

2030 - 2034 55,833,185 23,338,495 333,498 15,963 - - 79,521,141 
2035 - 2039 63,612,051 11,779,007 - - - - 75,391,058 
2040 - 2044 24,523,247 1,317,615 - - - - 25,840,862 

$ 188,364,930 $ 72,878,573 $ 7,446,245 $ 449,236 $ 4,576,676 $ 146,188 $ 273,861,848 

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 14 – Non-current Liabilities (Continued) 

Lease Obligations, Related Party Lease Obligations and SBITAs (Continued) 

Interest expense on related party lease obligations for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was 
$8,052,872 and $8,170,042, respectively. Interest expense on unrelated lease obligations for the years ended 
June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $238,042 and $212,199, respectively. Interest expense on SBITA obligations 
for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 was $70,320 and $32,223, respectively. 

Note 15 - Pensions 

Defined Benefit Plan Description 

Certain employees of the University participate in a cost-sharing multiple-employer defined benefit pension 
plan – the Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement System – administered by the Massachusetts State 
Board of Retirement (the “Board”), which is a public employee retirement system (“PERS”). Under a cost-
sharing plan, pension obligations for employees of all employers are pooled and plan assets are available 
to pay the benefits through the plan, regardless of the status of the employers’ payment of its pension 
obligations to the plan. The plan provides retirement and disability benefits and death benefits to plan 
members and beneficiaries. 

The Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement System does not issue stand-alone financial statements. 
Additional information regarding the Plan is contained in the Commonwealth’s financial statements, which 
is available on-line from the Office of State Comptroller’s website. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 15 – Pensions (Continued) 

Benefit Provisions 

SERS provides retirement, disability, survivor and death benefits to members and their beneficiaries. 
Massachusetts General Laws (“MGL”) establishes uniform benefit and contribution requirements for all 
contributory PERS. These requirements provide for superannuation retirement allowance benefits up to a 
maximum of 80% of a member’s highest three-year average annual rate of regular compensation. For 
employees hired after April 1, 2012, retirement allowances are calculated based on the last five years or 
any five consecutive years, whichever is greater in terms of compensation. Benefit payments are based 
upon a member’s age, length of creditable service, and group creditable service, and group classification. 
The authority for amending these provisions rests with the Massachusetts State Legislature (the 
“Legislature”). 

Members become vested after ten years of creditable service. A superannuation retirement allowance may 
be received upon the completion of twenty years of service or upon reaching the age of 55 with ten years 
of service. Normal retirement for most employees occurs at age 65; for certain hazardous duty and public 
safety positions, normal retirement is at age 55. Most employees who joined the system after April 1, 2012 
are not eligible for retirement until they have reached age 60. 

Contributions 

The SERS’ funding policies have been established by Chapter 32 of the MGL. The Legislature has the 
authority to amend these policies. The annuity portion of the SERS retirement allowance is funded by 
employees, who contribute a percentage of their regular compensation. Costs of administering the plan are 
funded out of plan assets.  

Member contributions for SERS vary depending on the most recent date of membership: 

Hire Date Percentage of Compensation 
Prior to 1975 5% of regular compensation 
1975 - 1983 7% of regular compensation 
1984 - 6/30/1996  8% of regular compensation 
7/1/1996 - present 9% of regular compensation 
1979 - present An additional 2% of regular compensation  in excess of  

$30,000 

For employees covered by SERS but not paid from state appropriations, the University is required to 
contribute at an actuarially determined rate. The rate was 16.69%, 16.70%, and 16.11% of annual covered 
payroll for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The University contributed 
$4,066,948, $3,969,963 and $4,540,705 for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024, 2023, and 2022, 
respectively, equal to 100% of the required contributions for each year.  
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 15 - Pension Plan (Continued) 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources 

At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the University reported a liability of $39,438,198, $44,874,753, respectively, 
for its proportionate share of the net pension liability related to its participation in SERS. The net pension 
liability as of June 30, 2024, the reporting date, was measured as of June 30, 2023, the measurement date, 
and the total pension liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial 
valuation as of January 1, 2023 rolled forward to June 30, 2023. The net pension liability as of June 30, 
2023, the reporting date, was measured as of June 30, 2022, the measurement date, and the total pension 
liability used to calculate the net pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 
2022 rolled forward to June 30, 2022. 

The University’s proportion of the net pension liability was based on its share of the Commonwealth of 
Massachusetts’ collective pension amounts allocated on the basis of actual fringe benefit charges assessed 
to the University for the fiscal years 2024 and 2023. The Commonwealth’s proportionate share was based 
on actual employer contributions to the SERS for fiscal years 2024 and 2023 relative to total contributions 
of all participating employers for the fiscal year. At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the University’s proportion 
was 0.269% and 0.323%, respectively. 

For the year ended June 30, 2024 the University recognized pension income of $5,018,856. For the year 
ended June 30, 2023 the University recognized pension income of $3,649,949. The University reported 
deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to pensions from the following 
sources at June 30,: 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 15 - Pension Plan (Continued) 

Pension Liabilities, Pension Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources (Continued) 

Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to Pension 2024 2023 
Contributions subsequent to the measurement date $ 4,066,948 $ 3,969,963 
Change in plan actuarial assumptions 662,825 1,235,475 
Difference between expected and actual experience 1,400,962 1,116,278 
Net difference between projected and actual investment 

earnings on plan investments 1,061,400 -
Change in proportion due to internal allocation 823,835 1,696,092 
Change in proportion from Commonwealth 325 3,070

  Total deferred outflows of resources related to pension $ 8,016,295 $ 8,020,878 

Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to Pension 
Net differences between projected and actual investment 

earnings on plan investments $ - $ 239,231 
Difference between expected and actual experience 974,514 1,751,476 
Change in proportion due to internal allocation 13,863,859 12,614,454 
Change in proportion from Commonwealth 301,289 121,385
      Total deferred inflows of resources related to pension $ 15,139,662 $ 14,726,547 

The University’s contributions of $4,066,948 and $3,969,963 made during the fiscal years ending 2024 and 
2023, respectively, subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net pension 
liability in each of the succeeding years.  

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to 
pensions will be recognized as increases (decreases) in pension expense as follows: 

Fiscal Years 
Ending June 30, 

2025 (536,535) 
2026 5,587,985 
2027 (13,780,063) 
2028 (2,461,702) 

Total $ (11,190,315) 

60 
FINANCIAL SECTION 88 



  
  

 

   

 

 

 

   

    
 

     

   
 

    
  

 
     

  

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 15 - Pension Plan (Continued) 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The  total pension liability w as determined using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to all periods  
included in the measurement:  

2024 2023 

Measurement date June 30, 2023 June 30, 2022 

Inflation on the first $13,000 of allowance 2.50% 2.50% 

Salary increases 4.00% to 9.00% 4.00% to 9.00% 

Investment rate of return 7.00% 7.00% 

Interest rate credited to annuity saving fund 3.50% 3.50% 

For measurement dates June 30, 2023 and 2022, mortality rates were based on: 

Pre-retirement  - reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally with 
Scale MP-2016 set forward 1 year for  females. 

Post-retirement - reflects  RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally 
with Sc ale  MP-2016 set forward 1 year for females 

Disability  – reflects the post-retirement mortality described above, set forward 1 year. 

The 2024 pension liability for the June 30, 2023 measurement date was determined by an actuarial valuation 
as of January 2023 and rolled forward to June 30, 2023. The 2023 pension liability for the June 30, 2022 
measurement date was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 2022 and rolled forward to June 
30, 2022. 

Investment assets of SERS are with the Pension Reserves Investment Trust (“PRIT”) Fund. The long-term 
expected rate of return on pension plan investments was determined using a building-block method in which 
best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major asset class. These ranges 
are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting the expected future rates of 
return by the target asset allocation percentage. Best estimates of geometric rates of return for each major 
asset class included in the PRIT Fund’s target asset allocation as of June 30, are summarized in the following 
table: 
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Reporting Year 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
Ended June 30 2024 to 6.00% Rate 7.00% to 8.00%

$ 54,202,485 $ 39,438,198 $ 26,943,732

Reporting Year 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
Ended June 30 2023 to 6.00% Rate 7.00% to 8.00%

$ 61,892,048 $ 44,874,753 $ 30,475,266

Reporting Year 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
Ended June 30 2024 to 6.00% Rate 7.00% to 8.00%

$ 54,202,485 $ 39,438,198 $ 26,943,732

Reporting Year 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
Ended June 30 2023 to 6.00% Rate 7.00% to 8.00%

$ 61,892,048 $ 44,874,753 $ 30,475,266

Asset Class 2024 2023 2024 2023

Global equity 37.00% 38.00% 4.90% 4.20%
Core fixed income 15.00% 15.00% 1.90% 7.30%
Private equity 16.00% 10.00% 7.40% 2.70%
Real estate 10.00% 10.00% 3.00% 3.30%
Value added fixed income 8.00% 8.00% 5.10% 3.70%
Portfolio completion strategies 10.00% 15.00% 3.80% 5.00%
Timber/Natural resources 4.00% 4.00% 4.30% 3.90%

100.00% 100.00%

Target Allocation Rate of Return
Long-term Expected

Reporting Year 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
Ended June 30 2024 to 6.00% Rate 7.00% to 8.00%

$ 54,202,485 $ 39,438,198 $ 26,943,732

Reporting Year 1% Decrease Current Discount 1% Increase
Ended June 30 2023 to 6.00% Rate 7.00% to 8.00%

$ 61,892,048 $ 44,874,753 $ 30,475,266

Asset Class 2024 2023 2024 2023

Global equity 37.00% 38.00% 4.90% 4.20%
Core fixed income 15.00% 15.00% 1.90% 7.30%
Private equity 16.00% 10.00% 7.40% 2.70%
Real estate 10.00% 10.00% 3.00% 3.30%
Value added fixed income 8.00% 8.00% 5.10% 3.70%
Portfolio completion strategies 10.00% 15.00% 3.80% 5.00%
Timber/Natural resources 4.00% 4.00% 4.30% 3.90%

100.00% 100.00%

Target Allocation Rate of Return
Long-term Expected

Asset Class 2024 2023 2024 2023

Global equity 37.00% 38.00% 4.90% 4.20%
Core fixed income 15.00% 15.00% 1.90% 7.30%
Private equity 16.00% 10.00% 7.40% 2.70%
Real estate 10.00% 10.00% 3.00% 3.30%
Value added fixed income 8.00% 8.00% 5.10% 3.70%
Portfolio completion strategies 10.00% 15.00% 3.80% 5.00%
Timber/Natural resources 4.00% 4.00% 4.30% 3.90%

100.00% 100.00%

Target Allocation Rate of Return
Long-term Expected

Asset Class 
Target Allocation 

2024 2023 

Long-term Expected 
Rate of Return 

2024 2023 

Global equity 37.00% 38.00% 4.90% 4.20% 
Core fixed income 15.00% 15.00% 1.90% 7.30% 
Private equity 16.00% 10.00% 7.40% 2.70% 
Real estate 10.00% 10.00% 3.00% 3.30% 
Value added fixed income 8.00% 8.00% 5.10% 3.70% 

 Portfolio completion strategies 10.00% 15.00% 3.80% 5.00% 
Timber/Natural resources 4.00% 4.00% 4.30% 3.90% 

100.00% 100.00% 

  
  

 

   

  

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 15 - Pension Plan (Continued) 

Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total pension liability was 7.00% at both June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
The projection of cash flows used to determine the discount rate assumed that plan member contributions 
will be made at the current contribution rates and the Commonwealth’s contributions will be made at rates 
equal to the difference between actuarially determined contributions rates and the member rates. Based on 
those assumptions, the pension plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be available to make all 
projected future benefit payments of current plan members. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return 
on pension plan investments was applied to all periods of projected benefit payments to determine the total 
pension liability. 

Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 

The following table illustrates the sensitivity of the net pension liability calculated using the discount rate 
as well as what the net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a discount rate that is one-
percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher than the current rate at June 30: 

Reporting Year 
Ended June 30 2024 

1% Decrease 
to 6.00% 

Current Discount 
Rate 7.00% 

1% Increase 
to 8.00% 

$ 54,202,485 $ 39,438,198 $ 26,943,732 

Reporting Year 
Ended June 30 2023 

1% Decrease 
to 6.00% 

Current Discount 
Rate 7.00% 

1% Increase 
to 8.00% 

$ 61,892,048 $ 44,874,753 $ 30,475,266 

FINANCIAL SECTION 90 



  
  

 

  

 

     
  

   
       

     

       
   

 
   

    
  

  
       

    
  

 

   
  

   
   

      
 

 
     

 
  

   
        

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 16 - Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions ("OPEB") 

Plan Description 

As an agency of the Commonwealth, certain employees of the University participate in the 
Commonwealth's single employer defined benefit-OPEB plan – the State Retirees' Benefit Trust ("SRBT"). 
Benefits are managed by the Group Insurance Commission ("GIC") and investments are managed by the 
Pension Reserves Investment Management ("PRIM") Board. The GIC has representation on the Board of 
Trustees of the State Retirees' Benefits Trust ("Trustees"). 

The SRBT is set up solely to pay for OPEB benefits and the cost to administer those benefits.  It can only 
be revoked when all such health care and other non-pension benefits, current and future, have been paid or 
deceased.  The GIC administers benefit payments, while the Trustees are responsible for investment 
decisions. 

Management of the SRBT is vested with the board of trustees, which consists of seven members (or their 
designatee) and includes the Secretary of Administration and Finance, the Executive Director of the GIC, 
the Executive Director of PERAC, the State Treasurer, the Comptroller, one person appointed by the 
Governor and one person appointed by the State Treasurer.  These members elect one person to serve as 
chair of the board. 

The SRBT does not issue a stand-alone audited financial statement but is reflected as a fiduciary fund in 
the Commonwealth's audited financial statements. 

Benefits Provisions 

Under Chapter 32A of the Massachusetts General Laws, the Commonwealth is required to provide certain 
health care and life insurance benefits for retired employees of the Commonwealth, housing authorities, 
redevelopment authorities and certain other governmental agencies.  Substantially all of the 
Commonwealth's employees may become eligible for these benefits if they reach retirement age while 
working for the Commonwealth. Eligible retirees are required to contribute a specified percentage of the 
health care / benefit costs, which are comparable to contributions required from employees.  Dental and 
vision coverage may be purchased by these groups with no subsidy from the Commonwealth. 

Contributions 

Employer and employee contribution rates are set by MGL. The Commonwealth recognizes its share of the 
costs on an actuarial basis. As of June 30, 2024 and 2023, and as of the valuation date (June 30, 2023 and 
2022), participants contributed 10% to 20%, respectively, of premium costs, depending on the date of hire 
and whether the participant's status is active, retired, or survivor. As part of the fiscal year 2010 General 
Appropriation Act, all active employees pay an additional 5% of premium costs. 

The Massachusetts General Laws governing employer contributions to SRBT determine whether entities 
are billed for OPEB costs. Consequently, SRBT developed an effective contribution methodology which 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 16 - Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions ("OPEB") (Continued) 

Contributions (Continued) 

allocates total actual contributions amongst the employers in a consistent manner (based on an employer's 
share of total covered payroll). The University is required to contribute based on Massachusetts General 
Laws; the rate was 7.83% and 7.28% of annual covered payroll for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively.  The University contributed $1,907,853 and $1,730,073 for the fiscal years ended June 
30, 2024 and 2023, respectively, equal to 100% of the required contribution for the year. 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to OPEB 

At June 30, 2024 and 2023, the University reported a liability of $41,945,776 and $56,474,453, respectively, 
for its proportionate share of the net OPEB liability related to its participation in SRBT. The net OPEB 
liability was measured as of June 30, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and the total OPEB liability used to 
calculate the net OPEB liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of January 1, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The University’s proportion of the net OPEB liability was based on its share of the 
Commonwealth's collective OPEB amounts allocated on the basis of an effective contribution methodology 
which allocates total actual contributions amongst the employers in a consistent manner based on the 
University's share of total covered payroll for the fiscal years 2023 and 2022. The University's proportionate 
share was based on the actual employer contributions to the SRBT for fiscal years 2023 and 2022 relative 
to total contributions of all participating employers for the fiscal year. At June 30, 2023 and 2022, the 
University’s proportion was 0.295% and 0.423%, respectively. 

For the year ended June 30, 2024 the University recognized income related to OPEB of $14,642,854. For 
the year ended June 30, 2023 the University recognized income related to OPEB of $9,228,613. The 
University reported deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB from 
the following sources at June 30:  
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 16 - Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions ("OPEB") (Continued) 

OPEB Liabilities, OPEB Expense, and Deferred Outflows of Resources and Deferred Inflows of 
Resources Related to OPEB (Continued) 

Deferred Outflows of Resources Related to OPEB: 2024 2023
   Contributions subsequent to the measurement date $ 1,907,853 $ 1,730,073 
   Changes in proportion from Commonwealth 3,842 25,948
   Difference between expected and actual experience 1,706,054 1,039,621 

Net difference between projected and actual investment 
earnings on OPEB investments 137,102 85,848

   Change in plan actuarial assumptions 1,842,701 4,159,529
   Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 511,569 3,307,647
      Total deferred outflows of resources related to OPEB $ 6,109,121 $ 10,348,666 

Deferred Inflows of Resources Related to OPEB:
   Changes in proportion from Commonwealth $ 401,377 $ 278,899 
   Differences between expected and actual experience 4,711,553 9,349,958
   Changes in proportion due to internal allocation 36,581,463 26,799,282
   Change in plan actuarial assumptions 10,819,325 20,439,301
     Total deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB $ 52,513,718 $ 56,867,440 

The University's contributions of $1,907,853 and $1,730,073 made during the fiscal year 2024 and 2023, 
respectively, subsequent to the measurement date will be recognized as a reduction of the net OPEB liability 
in each of the succeeding years. 

Other amounts reported as deferred outflows of resources and deferred inflows of resources related to OPEB 
will be recognized as increases (decreases) in OPEB expense as follows: 

Fiscal Years 
Ending June 30, 

2025 (12,368,637) 
2026 (12,141,097) 
2027 (11,875,322) 
2028 (9,517,539) 
2029 (2,409,855) 

$ (48,312,450) 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)  

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 16 - Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions ("OPEB”) (Continued) 

Actuarial Assumptions 

The total OPEB liability for 2024 and 2023 using the following actuarial assumptions, applied to 
all periods included in the measurement, unless otherwise specified: 

Measurement date  June 30, 2023  June 30, 2022 

Inflation 2.50% 2.50% 

Salary increases Rates vary by years of service and 
group classification, consistent with  SERS 

Rates vary by years of service and 
group classification, consistent with SERS 

Investment rate of return 7.00%,  net of OPEB  plan investment expense,  
including inflation 

7.00%,  net of OPEB  plan investment 
expense, including inflation 

Health care cost trend rates 

Developed based on the  most 
recent published GAO-Getzen 

trend r ate model,  version 2023_1f. 
Medicare and non-medicare benefits 

range from  5.79% to 7.50% 

Developed based on the most 
recent published GAO-Getzen 

trend r ate model, ve rsion 2022_f4. 
Medicare  and non-medicare  benefits 

range from 5.00%  to 7.60% 

The mortality rate was in accordance with RP 2014 B lue  Collar Mortality Table projected w ith scale MP-
2021 from the central year, with fe males set forward on e year. 

The participation rates are actuarially assumed as below: 

• 100% of all retirees who currently  have health  care coverage will continue with  the same coverage, 
except  that  retirees under age  65 with  POS/PPO  coverage switch to Indemnity at age 65 and those 
over 65 with PO S/PPO  coverage switch to HMO. 

• All current retirees, other than those indicated on the census data as not being eligible by Medicare, 
have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65,  as do their spouses.  All future  retirees are 
assumed to have Medicare coverage upon attainment of age 65. 

• 85% of current and future contingent  eligible participants will  elect health c are benefits  at  age 55, 
or  current age if later. 

• Actives, upon retirement, take coverage, and are assumed to have the following c overage: 

FINANCIAL SECTION 94 



  
  

 

   

BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 16 - Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions ("OPEB") (Continued) 

Actuarial Assumptions (Continued) 

Retirement Age 
2024 

Under 65 Age 65+ 

Retirement Age 
2023 

Under 65 Age 65+ 

Indemnity 27.0% 96.0% 28.0% 96.0% 
POS/PPO 63.0% 0.0% 62.0% 0.0% 
HMO 10.0% 4.0% 10.0% 4.0% 

The actuarial assumptions used in the January 1, 2023 and 2022 valuations were based on the results of an 
actuarial experience study for the periods ranging July 01, 2023 and 2022 through December 31, 2022 and 
2021, depending upon the criteria being evaluated. 

The long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan investments was determined using a building-block 
method in which best-estimate ranges of expected future rates of return are developed for each major 
asset class.  These ranges are combined to produce the long-term expected rate of return by weighting 
the expected future rates of return by the target asset allocation percentage. 

The SRBT is required to invest in the PRIT Fund.  Consequently, information about SRBT's target asset 
allocation and long-term expected real rate of return as of June 30, 2024 and 2023, are the same as 
discussed in the pension footnote. 

Discount Rate 

The discount rate used to measure the total OPEB liability for 2023 and 2022 was 4.34% and 4.30%, 
respectively. These rates were based on a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate (3.65% and 3.54%) as of the 
measurement date and the expected rate of return. The OPEB plan’s fiduciary net position was not projected 
to be available to make all projected future benefit payments for current plan members. The projected 
"depletion date" when projected benefits are not covered by projected assets is 2042 and 2042 for the fiscal 
years 2024 and 2023, respectively. Therefore, the long-term expected rate of return on OPEB plan 
investments is 7.00% and 7.00%, respectively per annum was not applied to all periods of projected benefit 
payments to determine the total OPEB liability. 

Sensitivity of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Discount 
Rate 

The following presents the University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, as well as what the 
University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability would be if it were calculated using a discount 
rate that is one-percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher than the current discount rate: 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 16 - Postemployment Benefits Other Than Pensions ("OPEB") (Continued) 

Discount Rate (Continued) 

Reporting Year 
Ended June 30, 

1.00% Decrease 
3.34% 

Discount Rate 
4.34% 

1.00% Increase 
5.34% 

2024 $ 49,009,534 $ 41,945,776 $ 36,149,577 

Reporting Year 
Ended June 30, 

1.00% D ecrease 
3.30% 

Discount  Rate 
4.30% 

1.00% Increase 
5.30% 

2023 $  65,883,544 $  56,474,453 $     48,745,571 

Sensitivity of the University’s Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB Liability to Changes in the Healthcare 
Cost Trend Rates 

The following p resents the  University’s proportionate share of the net OPEB liability, as we ll as what the 
University’s  proportionate share  of the  net OPEB liability would be  if it  were calculated using healthcare  
cost trend rates that  are one-percentage-point lower or one-percentage-point higher than  the  current  
healthcare cost trend rates:  

Reporting Year 
Ended June 30, 1.00% Decrease 

Current Healthcare 
Cost Trend Rate 1.00% Increase 

2024 $  35,147,385 $  41,945,776 $      50,545,347 

Reporting Year 
Ended June 30, 1.00% Decrease 

Current Healthcare 
Cost Trend Rate 1.00% Increase 

2023 $  47,341,757 $  56,474,453 $ 68,035,349 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 17 - Restricted Net Position 

The university’s restricted net position at June 30 is as follows: 

2024 2023 

Restricted - nonexpendable: 

Scholarships and fellowships $ 23,000 $ 23,000 

Restricted - expendable: 
Grants and agency funds $ 1,490,216 $ 1,347,896 

The university’s restricted-expendable net position consists of funds whose income is mainly used for 
scholarships, grants and other academic purposes. The university’s restricted-nonexpendable net position 
consists of investments to be held in perpetuity and the income is restricted for the purpose of providing 
scholarships and other activities that benefit the university. 

Note 18 - Contingencies 

The university, in the normal course of business, is subject to various legal claims and related issues of 
which the more significant items are as follows: 

The university receives significant financial assistance from federal and state agencies in the form of grants. 
Expenditures of funds under these programs require compliance with the grant agreements and are subject 
to audit. Any disallowed expenditures resulting from such audits becomes a liability of the university. In 
the opinion of management, such adjustments, if any, are not expected to materially affect the financial 
condition of the university. 

The university participates in the Massachusetts College Savings Prepaid Tuition Program, (the 
“program”). This program allows individuals to pay in advance for future tuition at the cost of tuition at the 
time of election to participate, increased by changes in the Consumer Price Index plus 2%. The university 
is obligated to accept as payment of tuition the amount determined by this program without regard to the 
standard tuition rate in effect at the time of the individual’s enrollment at the university. The likely effect 
of the program is that discounts will be provided in the future to students if the cost of attendance increases 
by more than the benchmark. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 19 - Operating Expenses 

The university’s operating expenses, on a natural classification basis, are comprised of the following for 
the years ended June 30: 

2024 2023 

Compensation and benefits $ 145,170,619 $ 132,500,430 
Supplies and services 50,027,892 49,834,680 
Depreciation and amortization 27,925,959 26,398,865 
Scholarships and fellowships 12,746,700 8,123,878 

$ 235,871,170 $ 216,857,853 

Note 20 - Interest Expense 

Interest expense for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, is comprised of the following: 

2024 2023 

Interest on lease obligations, related party $ 8,052,872 $ 8,170,021
Interest on lease obligations, unrelated 238,042 212,199
Interest on lease obligations, SBITAs 70,320 32,223
Interest on bonds payable 250,469 463,240

Total interest expense $ 8,611,703 $ 8,877,683 

Note 21 - Massachusetts Management Accounting and Reporting System 

Section 15C of Chapter 15A of the Massachusetts General Laws requires Commonwealth colleges and 
universities to report activity of campus-based funds to the Comptroller of the Commonwealth on the 
Commonwealth’s Statewide Accounting System, Massachusetts Management Accounting and Reporting 
System (“MMARS”), using the statutory basis of accounting. The statutory basis of accounting is a 
modified accrual basis of accounting and differs from the information included in these financial statements. 

The amounts reported on MMARS agree to the university’s records at June 30, 2024 and 2023. 
Management believes the amounts reported on MMARS meet the guidelines of the Comptroller’s Guide 
for Higher Education Audited Financial Statements. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 21 - Massachusetts Management Accounting and Reporting System (Continued) 

The university’s state appropriations are composed of the following for the years ended June 30: 

2024 2023 

Direct unrestricted appropriations $ 67,640,445 $ 59,762,005 
Add: Fringe benefits for benefited employees 

on the state payroll 28,336,077 22,924,943 
Less: Day school tuition remitted to the state 

and included in tuition and fee revenue (384,945) (2,063) 

Total unrestricted appropriations 95,591,577 82,684,885 
Capital appropriations 3,017,889 1,404,357 

Total appropriations $ 98,609,466 $ 84,089,242 

Note 22 - State Controlled Accounts 

Certain significant costs and benefits associated with the operations of the university are appropriated, 
expended, controlled, and reported by the Commonwealth through non-university line items in the 
Commonwealth’s budget. Under generally accepted accounting principles, such transactions must be 
recorded in the financial statements of the university. These transactions include payments by the 
Commonwealth for the employer’s share of funding the Massachusetts State Employees’ Retirement 
System and for the employer’s share of health care premiums. 

The estimated amounts of funding attributable for the Commonwealth’s retirement system contribution and 
the employer’s share of health care premiums for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were as follows 
(see State appropriations under Note 21). 

2024 2023 

Commonwealth’s retirement system contributions $ 11,983,799 $ 10,423,594 
Employer’s share of health care premium 16,352,278 12,501,349 
Fringe benefits provided by the Commonwealth $ 28,336,077 $ 22,924,943 

99 



BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 23 - Fringe Benefits for Current Employees and Postemployment Obligations - Pension and Non-
pension 

The university participates in the Commonwealth’s Fringe Benefit programs, including active employee 
and postemployment health insurance, unemployment, pension, and workers’ compensation benefits. 
Health insurance and pension costs for active employees and retirees are paid through a fringe benefit rate 
charged to the university by the Commonwealth. 

Group Insurance Commission 

The Commonwealth’s Group Insurance Commission (“GIC”) was established by the Legislature in 1955 
to provide and administer health insurance and other benefits to the Commonwealth’s employees and 
retirees, and their dependents and survivors. The GIC also covers housing and redevelopment authorities’ 
personnel, certain authorities and other offline agencies, retired municipal teachers from certain cities and 
towns, and a small number of municipalities as an agent multiple-employer program, accounted for as an 
agency fund activity of the Commonwealth, not the university. 

The GIC is a quasi-independent state agency governed by a seventeen-member body (the “Commission”) 
appointed by the Governor. The GIC is located administratively within the Executive Office of 
Administration and Finance, and is responsible for providing health insurance and other benefits to the 
Commonwealth’s employees and retirees and their survivors and dependents. During the fiscal years June 
30, 2024 and June 30, 2023, the GIC provided health insurance for its members through indemnity, PPO, 
and HMO plans. The GIC also administered carve-outs for pharmacy, mental health and substance abuse 
benefits for certain health plans.  

In addition to health insurance, the GIC sponsors life insurance, long-term disability insurance (for active 
employees only), dental and vision coverage (for employees not covered by collective bargaining), a retiree 
discount vision plan and retiree dental plan, and finally, a pre-tax health care spending account and 
dependent care assistance program (for active employees only). 

Other Retirement Plans 

The employees of the university can elect to participate in two defined contribution plans offered and 
administered by the Massachusetts Department of Higher Education – an IRC 403(b) Tax-Deferred Annuity 
Plan and an IRC 457 Deferred Compensation SMART Plan. Employees can contribute by payroll deduction 
a portion of before-tax salary into these plans up to certain limits. The university has no obligation to 
contribute to these plans and no obligation for any future pay out. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued) 

June 30, 2024 and 2023 

Note 24 - Pass-through Loans 

The university distributed $41,736,132 and $45,335,711 for student loans through the U.S. Department of 
Education Federal Direct Lending Program for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The 
university also distributed private alternative loans of $14,554,134 and $15,831,112 through the Elm 
Resources for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023, respectively. The university distributed $249,446 
and $241,000 through the Massachusetts No Interest Loan Program for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 
2023, respectively.  These distributions and related funding sources facilitate the payment of tuition and 
fees incurred by students and thus are not included as expenses and revenues or as cash disbursements or 
cash receipts in the accompanying financial statements. 

Note 25 - Massachusetts State College Building Authority 

The MSCBA was created pursuant to Chapter 703 of the Act of 1963 of the Commonwealth as a public 
instrumentality for the general purpose of providing dormitories, dining commons and other facilities 
primarily for use by students and staff of the nine state universities of the Commonwealth. 

The university is charged a semi-annual revenue assessment that is based on a certified occupancy report, 
the current rent schedule and the design capacity for each of the residence halls.  This revenue assessment is 
used by the MSCBA to pay principal and interest due on its long-term debt obligations. These obligations 
may include the costs of periodic renovations and improvements to the residence halls. The Commonwealth 
guarantees these obligations. 

The Revenue Assessments for the residence halls for the years ended June 30, 2024 and 2023 were 
$12,798,046 and $16,324,508, respectively. 

Note 26 - Subsequent Event 

For purposes of determining the effects on these financial statements, Management has evaluated events 
subsequent to June 30, 2024 and through October 30, 2024, the date which the financial statements were 
available to be issued and determined that,, there were no additional unrecognized or undisclosed matters 
requiring recognition or disclosure to the accompanying financial statements. 
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Lessons BEYOND CLASS 

Since arriving at Bridgewater State 

University, Professor Dr. Misti Neutzling has 

made it her mission to support students 

beyond the classroom. 

“I really love helping students beyond the 

(academic) content,” she said. “It boils 

down to the fact that I deeply, genuinely 

care about the presence of each student and 

their future. I get in early and leave late so I 

can help them. I love that part. It makes me 

excited to drive to campus each day.” 

Neutzling’s above-and-beyond attitude was 

recently recognized when she was selected 

as the Massachusetts Association of Health, 

Physical Education, Recreation and Dance 

Honor (MAHPERD)Award recipient. The 

Honor Award is given to someone who has 

made signifcant strides in the association’s 

areas of focus. 

Dr. Karen Richardson, professor and 

chairperson of the College of Education 

and Health Sciences, will accompany 

and introduce Neutzling at the annual 

MAHPERD awards banquet on April 28. As 

a colleague of the honoree, Richardson said 

the recognition is deserved. 

“Misti is caring, she has high expectations 

for herself and her students,” Richardson 

said. “She has dedicated her time to helping 

students learn within our program and has 

established herself as a leader at BSU and in 

our health kinesiology department.” 

Originally from Florida, Neutzling played 

volleyball at Florida Southern College where 

she earned her undergraduate degree. She 

also holds a PhD from the University of 

Northern Colorado. 

She started her career in education as 

a high school teacher and coach before 

transitioning to higher education. 

In every role, her goal has been the same, to 

help her students reach their full potential. 

“One thing I really dedicate a lot of my time 

to and attention to, is to be thoughtful and 

try to understand who my learners are,” she 

said. 

For example, Neutzling said this generation 

is very tech savvy. They want information 

expedited and expect answers to be 

delivered immediately. 

“Sometimes I lean on them to better 

understand certain things, to get to know 

them in a way so I can create experiences 

for them that maximize their strengths,” she 

said. 

Relationship building is also key when it 

comes to better understanding her students. 

“I truly work to get to know each student 

on a level beyond their name, to develop 

meaningful relationships with them,” she 

said. “Students appreciate that. They are 

more excited to come to class when you 

care about them.” 

To be acknowledged for her work has been 

humbling and to receive the MAHPERD 

award serves as motivation. 

“We don’t do our jobs to receive praise, but 

it does feel good. It encourages and inspires 

me to work even harder and do more,” 

Neutzling said. 



JENNIFER CONDON, FELLOW 
University of South Florida 

KELVIN DAVIS, FELLOW 
Delta State University 

RANDY ROBERSON 
NACUBO Vice President, 
Leadership Development 

LYNNE SCHAEFER 
Advisor to the NACUBO  
Fellows Program 

KARA D. FREEMAN 
NACUBO President and CEO 

BETH CORRY, FELLOW 
the State University of 
New York at Buffalo 

DR. CHRISTINE SIMONE 
NACUBO Director, 
Leadership Development 

AMY BEAULIEU, FELLOW 
Bridgewater State University PRITA PATEL, FELLOW 

American University 

FINANCE FELLOWSHIP 

A BSU fnance administrator was one of just 17 people from 

across the country selected to participate in a prestigious higher 

education fellowship. 

Associate Vice President of Finance Amy Beaulieu, ’01, is a 2023-

2024 National Association of College and University Business 

Offcers (NACUBO) fellow. 

Launched in 2016, the NACUBO Fellows Program is a one-year 

leadership development program designed to provide support, 

education, and learning opportunities to individuals who seek a 

chief business offcer position for their next role. 

Through access to experienced chief business offcers, presidents, 

provosts, NACUBO experts, and other higher education leaders the 

Fellows Program provides participants with the opportunity to 

• Develop an understanding of the complexities of the role

• Gain broad exposure to the feld of higher education

• Enhance management, leadership, and communications skills

Fellows attend in-person and virtual trainings, conduct site visits 

at two colleges or universities, and present a case study. They also 

interview members of their own campus leadership team. 

Beaulieu visited two public higher education institutions: 

Kennesaw State University in Georgia and the University of 

South Florida. Meeting with the President, key cabinet members 

and fundamental offces such as Research and Innovation, 

Internal Audit, Finance, Compliance & Ethics on both campuses 

respectively. 

Beaulieu, whose participation in the fellowship was 

enthusiastically supported by Vice President and Chief Financial 

Offcer Doug Shropshire, earned a bachelor’s degree in accounting 

from Bridgewater. She landed her frst post-graduation job off 

campus but quickly returned to her alma mater. 

Initially working in student accounts, she gradually earned 

promotions to larger leadership roles in her over 20 years at 

BSU. Now she oversees a variety of areas such as budgeting and 

forecasting, treasury, accounting and fnancial reporting, student  

accounts, and post-grant management. 



REQUIRED 
Supplementary 

Information 
2024 

ANNUAL 
COMPREHENSIVE 

FINANCIAL REPORT 

2023 

“It was an honor to be selected to 

represent Bridgewater State University 

in the NACUBO Fellows program. 

It was a wonderful opportunity to 

collaborate with such a talented group 

of leaders from across the country. 

I am grateful for the time to focus on 

my professional growth and it was an 

extremely transformative experience.” 
Amy Beaulieu, ’01 

BSU Associate Vice President of Finance 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Required Supplementary Information 
Notes to Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension

 Liability and Schedule of University Contributions (Unaudited) 

Pension Schedules 

Note 1 - Changes of Assumptions 

Fiscal year June 30, 2024 (measurement date June 30, 2023) 
The mortality rates were changed as follows 
• Pre-retirement mortality reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally with Scale MP-
2021, set forward 1 year for females 
• Post-retirement mortality reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale 
MP-2021, set forward 1 year for females 
• For disabled retirees, mortality reflects the post-retirement mortality described above, set forward 1 year. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2022 (measurement date June 30, 2021) 
Assumptions: 
The investment rate of return changed from 7.15% to 7.00%. In conjunction with the 
investment rate of return changing, the discount rate was also changed to mirror the 
new investment rate of return. 

The mortality rates were changed as follows 
• Pre-retirement mortality reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees table projected generationally with Scale MP-
2020, set forward 1 year for females 
• Post-retirement mortality reflects RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale 
MP-2020, set forward 1 year for females 
• For disabled retirees, mortality reflects the post-retirement mortality described above, set forward 1 year. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2021 (measurement date June 30, 2020) 
Assumptions: 
The investment rate of return changed from 7.25% to 7.15%. In conjunction with the investment rate of return 
changing, the discount rate was also changed to mirror the new investment rate of return. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2020 (measurement date June 30, 2019) 
Assumptions: 
The investment rate of return changed from 7.35% to 7.25%. In conjunction with the investment rate if return 
changing, the discount rate was also changed to mirror the new investment rate of return. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2019 (measurement date June 30, 2018) 
The investment rate of return changed from 7.50% to 7.35%. In conjunction with the investment rate if return 
changing, the discount rate was also changed to mirror the new investment rate of return. 

The mortality rate assumptions were changed as follows: 
• Disabled members - the amount reflects the same assumptions as for superannuation retirees, but with an age set 
forward of one year 

107 



BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Required Supplementary Information 
Notes to Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net Pension
 Liability and Schedule of University Contributions (Unaudited) - Continued 

Pension Schedules 

Note 1 - Changes of Assumptions (Continued) 

Fiscal year June 30, 2018 (measurement date June 30, 2017) 
The mortality rates were changed as follows: 
• Pre-retirement – was changed from RP-2000 Employees table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base 
year of 2009 (gender distinct) to RP-2014 Blue Collar Employees Table projected generationally with Scale MP-
2016 and set forward 1 year for females 

• Post-retirement – was changed from RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and 
a base year of 2009 (gender distinct) to RP-2014 Blue Collar Healthy Annuitant Table projected generationally with 
Scale MP-2016 and set forward 1 year for females 

• Disability – did not change 

Fiscal year June 30, 2017 (measurement date June 30, 2016) 
The assumption for salary increases changed from a range of 3.5% to 9.0% depending on group and length of service 
to a range of 4.0% to 9.0% depending on group and length of service. Chapter 176 of the Acts of 2011 created a one-
time election for eligible members of the Optional Retirement Plan ("ORP") to transfer to the SERS and purchase 
service for the period while members of the ORP. As a result, the total pension liability of SERS increased by 
approximately 400 million as of June 30, 2016. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2016 (measurement date June 30, 2015) 
The discount rate to calculate the pension liability decreased from 8.0% to 7.5% 

In May 2015, Chapter 19 of the Acts of 2015 created an Early Retirement Incentive ("ERI") for certain members of 
SERS who upon election of the ERI retired effective June 30, 2015. As a result, the total pension liability of SERS 
increased by approximately $230 million as of June, 2015. 

The mortality rates were changed as follows: 
• Pre-retirement – was changed from RP-2000 Employees table projected 20 years with Scale AA (gender distinct) to 
RP-2000 Employees table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender distinct) 

• Post-retirement – was changed from RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant table projected 15 years with Scale AA (gender 
distinct) to RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2009 (gender 
distinct) 

• Disability – was changed from RP-2000 table projected 5 years with Scale AA (gender distinct) set forward three 
years for males to RP-2000 Healthy Annuitant table projected generationally with Scale BB and a base year of 2015 
(gender distinct) 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Required Supplementary Information 
Notes to Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB

 Liability and Schedule of University Contributions (Unaudited) 

OPEB Schedules 

Note 1 - Changes of Assumptions ( 

Fiscal year June 30, 2024 (measurement date June 30, 2023) 
Assumptions: 
Change in per capita claims costs 
Per capita claims costs were updated based on the changes in the underlying claims and 
benefit provisions. 

Change in medical trend rates 
The medical trend rates were updated based on the SOA-Getzen trend rate model version 
2023_1f.  The healthcare trend rates were updated to reflect short-term expectations 
based on a review of the Commonwealth's historical trend rates. 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 4.34% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index 
rate (3.65%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2023 (measurement date June 30, 2022) 
Assumptions: 
Change in per capita claims costs 
Per capita claims costs were updated based on the changes in the underlying claims and 
benefit provisions. 

Change in medical trend rates 
The medical trend rates were updated based on the SOA-Getzen trend rate model version 
2022_f4. The healthcare trend rates were updated to reflect short-term expectations 
based on a review of the Commonwealth's historical trend rates. 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 4.00% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index 
rate (3.54%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 
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BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Required Supplementary Information 
Notes to Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB
 Liability and Schedule of University Contributions (Unaudited) - Continued 

OPEB Schedules 

Note 1 - Changes of Assumptions (Continued) 

Fiscal year June 30, 2022 (measurement date June 30, 2021) 
Assumptions: 
Change in per capita claims costs 
Per capita claims costs were updated to reflect lower-than-expected FY22 rates, driven 
primarily by an increase in expected Pharmacy Benefits Manager rebates. 

Change in medical trend rates 
The medical trend rates were updated based on the SOA-Getzen trend rate model 
version 2021_b. The healthcare trend rates were updated to reflect short-term 
expectations based on a review of the Commonwealth's historical trend rates. 

Change in Investments Rate 
The investment rate of return decreased from 7.15% tp 7.00%. 

Change in Mortality Rates 
The mortality projection scale was updated from MP-2016 to MP-2020. 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was decreased to 2.77% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index 
Rate (2.16%) as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2021 (measurement date June 30, 2020) 
Assumptions: 
Change in per capita claims costs 
Per capita claims costs were updated based on the changes in the underlying claims and benefit provisions. 

Change in medical trend rates 
The medical trend rates were updated based on the SOA-Getzen trend rate model version 20920_b, 
the impact of the discontinuation of the ACA Health Insurer Fee and Excise Tax. 

Change in Investment Rate 
The investment rate of return decreased from 7.25% to 7.15%. 

Change in Salary Scale 
The salary scale assumption was updated from a constant 4% assumption to rates that vary by years of service 
and group classification, consistent with SERS. 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was decreased to 2.28% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate (2.21%) 
as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION 112 



BRIDGEWATER STATE UNIVERSITY 
(An Agency of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts) 

Required Supplementary Information 
Notes to Schedule of the University's Proportionate Share of the Net OPEB
 Liability and Schedule of University Contributions (Unaudited) - Continued 

OPEB Schedules 

Note 1 - Changes of Assumptions (Continued) 

Fiscal year June 30, 2020 (measurement date June 30, 2019) 
Assumptions: 
Change in Inflation 
The inflation rate decreased from 3.0% to 2.5%. 

Change in Salary Assumptions 
Salary decreased from 4.5% to 4.0%. 

Change in Investment Rate 
The investment rate of return decreased from 7.35% to 7.25%. 

Change in Trend on Future Costs 
The healthcare trend rate decreased from 8.0% to 7.5%, which affects the high-cost excise tax. 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was decreased to 3.63% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate (3.51%) as of 
the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2019 (measurement date June 30, 2018) 
Assumptions: 
Change in Trend on Future Costs 
The healthcare trend rate decreased from 8.5% to 8.0%, which impacts the high cost of excise tax. 

Change in Mortality Rates 
The following mortality assumption changes were made in the January 1, 2018 Actuarial Valuation: 

• Disabled members - would reflect the same assumptions as for superannuation retirees, 
but with an age set forward of one year 

Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 3.95% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate of (3.87%) 
as of the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. 

Fiscal year June 30, 2018 (measurement date June 30, 2017) 
Assumptions: 
Change in Discount Rate 
The discount rate was increased to 3.63% (based upon a blend of the Bond Buyer Index rate (3.58%) as of 
the measurement date as required by GASB Statement 74. The June 30, 2016 discount rate was calculated to 
be 2.80%. 
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BEARS PRIORITIZE MENTAL HEALTH THROUGH 

Morgan’s Message 
Student-athletes on the campus of Bridgewater State University have an outlet 
when they are in need of help with their mental health. 

Morgan’s Message, a national non-proft organization that was formed following 
the suicide of a Duke University women’s lacrosse player, arrived at Bridgewater 
State last year and provides mental health awareness. 

Bridgewater State senior basketball player Caroline Tripp is the president of the 
school’s Morgan’s Message chapter with lacrosse player Haley Wood the co-
president and softball player McKayla Cusack serving as the vice president. 

Bridgewater State is one of 31 colleges in Massachusetts with a Morgan’s 
Message chapter. The goal for the leaders of Morgan’s Message is to help relieve 
the stress and anxiety that comes with being a student and athlete. “Morgan’s 
Message, what it’s about is mental health and student-athletes and eliminating 
the stigma of mental health,” said Wood. “The fact that this club is going 
nationwide and bringing awareness of these things, it’s truly an amazing thing.” 

114 



As a national and statewide leader for developing innovative 

initiatives and programs, Bridgewater State University 

ensures that —without exception— all BSU students thrive, 

one student at a time.A DECADE OF 

Accomplishment 

MILLIONS IN UPGRADES 

For nearly a decade, BSU has invested more than $60 million 
in state and university funds in capital renewal, in addition 
to securing $32 million from the state to fully renovate 
Burnell Hall as the new home of the College of Education and 
Health Sciences. That project will include 15 general-purpose 
classrooms, fve specialty instruction spaces, 65 faculty offces, 
four conference/meeting/huddle rooms, and a speech clinic. 

Investments in improving campus technology infrastructure and 
services have digitally transformed the campus by implementing 
collaboration technologies including Offce 365, Microsoft 
Teams, Zoom, the new intranet, BridgeNet, and electronic 
signatures and digital workfows. 

The university has invested more than $6 million in network and 
system upgrades and cybersecurity improvements and migrated 
its data center to the Markley Group in Boston through 
dedicated and redundant BSU fber optic cabling. By expanding 
the university’s communication channels by 200 percent, BSU 
has reimagined student engagement through the launch of the 
BSU Mobile app and the EngageBSU platform. 

NAVIGATING TOWARD SUCCESS 

Bridgewater State University’s extraordinary commitment to 
student success and investment in personalized, innovative 
retention services has not gone unnoticed. The Wall 
Street Journal ranked BSU in the top 7 percent of all U.S. 
universities for advancing the social mobility of students, and 
in Massachusetts BSU is 4th out 100-plus universities for 
advancing the social mobility of graduates. 

In addition to providing the most need-based aid to students 
than at any other time in Bridgewater’s history, The Bridgewater 
State University Foundation support has played a critical role in 
the support of equitable student success programs, enabling the 
university to award merit scholarships to include all incoming 
students with a GPA of 3.4-plus. 

Further, BSU has launched retention scholarships to support 
the success of students in good academic standing who would 
have otherwise stopped their education because of unpaid 
tuition and fees, while the university continues to increase the 
fexible Student Emergency Fund to help students persist during 
unexpected life challenges. 



FROM DIVERSITY TO EQUITY 

BSU’s multifaceted approach to social justice has become an 
omnipresent force on the campus over the last decade. In Spring 
2024, faculty taught more than 150 courses that covered social justice 
themes, including: 

• Politics of Climate Change 
• Social Justice in Song 
• International Women’s Cinema 

• Post George Floyd Policing 
• HIV and Society 
• First Nations: Indigenous People 

But social justice is about more than what is taught in classrooms - it’s 
about the impact education has on students. To that end, BSU is ranked 
in the top 4 percent of more than 100 Massachusetts universities for 
advancing the social mobility of graduates, approximately half of whom 
are frst-generation students. More than a quarter of the student body 
are students of color, and BSU received national recognition for how it 
serves Black students. 

SEEING GREEN 

Environmental sustainability is more than a buzz word at BSU. 
It’s a cornerstone of facility upgrades and academics. 

The university’s most visible project came in 2020 when 
contractors installed a 3,400-panel solar canopy above Tower 
Lot, a large parking area. With support from a state grant, BSU 
plans to install a similar canopy above the parking lot next to 
Swenson Athletic Complex, a project projected to generate 
400,000 kilowatt-hours of clean, renewable electricity annually 
and save $850,000 over 20 years in reduced electricity costs. 

Solar panels are also atop the Operations Center; Miles, DiNardo 
and Weygand residence halls; and the Dana Mohler-Faria 
Science and Mathematics Center. 

NATIONAL RECOGNITION 
FOR SAFETY 

Major investments in increasing the safety of the campus community led 
to Bridgewater State University being named the 3rd Safest Campus in the 
United States while the Town of Bridgewater has been named the 25th 
safest college town in the nation and the ffth safest in Massachusetts. 

Safety efforts have included deploying more than a hundred surveillance 
cameras across campus, launching the RAVE Guardian mobile app for 
personal safety, implementing a “one button” mass notifcation system 
in the event of an emergency, becoming the frst university in the nation 
to establish a public-access Narcan program, and pioneering a racially 
just policing policy as part of the President’s Racial Justice Task Force 
recommendations. 
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Research and Mentoring for 

Postbaccalaureates (RaMP) 

in Biological Sciences Grant 

S A L A M A N D E R  S T U D I E S  

Undergraduate research is highly successful at preparing students 

for careers and graduate school. But Dr. Caitlin Fisher-Reid 

worries about those who miss out on such a transformative 

opportunity. “There’s this huge group of early career scientists 

who just need a little bit more attention,” said Fisher-Reid, 

an associate professor of biological sciences at Bridgewater 

State University. “They’re not getting the research experience 

but competing with students who have that experience.” With 

funding from a $3 million National Science Foundation RaMP 

grant, Fisher-Reid is leading a new program that will serve 30 

people with undergraduate STEM degrees and limited time in 

the lab. Beginning in fall 2024, the frst group of participants will 

work for a year as full-time research fellows studying salamanders 

at sites in the eastern United States. The amphibians make for 

good research subjects because they are abundant. Additionally, 

scientists can easily study their place in the food chain and how 

they respond to changes in temperature, moisture and the tree 

canopy. 
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FINANCIAL TRENDS 121-126 

These schedules contain trend information to 
help the reader understand how the university’s 
fnancial performance and well-being have 
changed over time. 

DEBT CAPACITY 127 

These schedules display information to help the 
reader assess the afordability of the university’s 
current level of outstanding debt, and assess 
the university’s ability to issue additional debt 
in the future. 

OPERATING INFORMATION 128-138 

These schedules contain service and capital asset 
data to help the reader understand how the 
information in the university’s fnancial report 
relates to the services the university provides 
and the activities it performs. 

DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC 
INFORMATION 139-144

These schedules ofer demographic and economic 
indicators to help the reader understand the 
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and state’s fnancial activities takes place. 
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T U N N E L  O F  A R T  

During the summer, alumna Samantha Cushman, ’19, 

G’23, was back on campus, paintbrush in hand, to continue 

the tradition of creating the annual Turchon tunnel mural. 

Bridgewater State University has commissioned an artist 

for each of the past six years to paint the campus landmark 

named after former BSU Foundation member Carolyn (Van 

Buskirk) Turchon, ’62. 

Upon being selected to paint the tunnel, Samanthan 

remarked, “It makes me feel so proud to be able to do this, to 

have my work featured at a place I spent so much time at,” 

she said. “It’s very validating and surreal.” 

For this year’s mural, while she did use some native foral 

imagery, Cushman abandoned her usual black-and-white 

palette and instead infused bright colors throughout the 

mural. “I don’t usually work in color. I stepped outside of my 

comfort zone,” she said. “It’s very striking, and I’m happy with 

how it turned out.” 

Along with the fora, multiple buildings from across campus 

are included, such as Boyden Hall and the Art Building. 

Cushman also used personal symbols to refect her time as a 

student at BSU. 

Cushman hopes those who view the mural will enjoy it while 

it is on display during the 2023-24 academic year. 

Does it bother her that her work will eventually be replaced? 

“Not at all,” she said. “I think having these opportunities 

available for multiple artists is important and I think, 

especially when it comes to public art, when you leave it up 

too long people tire of it,” she said. “Being able to offer this 

opportunity to the next person who needs is, that is really 

cool.” 
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REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING AND ON 
COMPLIANCE AND OTHER MATTERS BASED ON AN AUDIT OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PERFORMED IN ACCORDANCE WITH GOVERNMENT 
AUDITING STANDARDS 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 

To the Board of Trustees of 
Bridgewater State University: 

We have audited, in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America and 
the standards applicable to financial audits contained in Government Auditing Standards issued by the Comptroller 
General of the United States, the financial statements of the business-type activities of Bridgewater State University 
(the “university”), and its discretely presented major component units, as of and for the year ended June 30, 2024, 
and the related notes to the financial statements, which collectively comprise the university's basic financial 
statements and have issued our report thereon dated October 30, 2024.  

Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting 

In planning and performing our audit of the financial statements, we considered the university's internal control over 
financial reporting (internal control) as a basis for designing audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances for the purpose of expressing our opinion on the financial statements, but not for the purpose of 
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the university's internal control. Accordingly, we do not express an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the university's internal control. 

A deficiency in internal control exists when the design or operation of a control does not allow management or 
employees, in the normal course of performing their assigned functions, to prevent, or detect and correct, 
misstatements on a timely basis. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal 
control, such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of the entity's financial statements 
will not be prevented, or detected and corrected, on a timely basis. A significant deficiency is a deficiency, or a 
combination of deficiencies, in internal control that is less severe than a material weakness, yet important enough 
to merit attention by those charged with governance. 

Our consideration of internal control was for the limited purpose described in the first paragraph of this section and 
was not designed to identify all deficiencies in internal control that might be material weaknesses or significant 
deficiencies. Given these limitations, during our audit we did not identify any deficiencies in internal control that we 
consider to be material weaknesses. However, material weaknesses may exist that have not been identified. 

Report on Compliance and Other Matters 

As part of obtaining reasonable assurance about whether the university’s financial statements are free from 
material misstatement, we performed tests of its compliance with certain provisions of laws, regulations, contracts, 
and grant agreements, noncompliance with which could have a direct and material effect on the financial 
statements. However, providing an opinion on compliance with those provisions was not an objective of our audit 
and accordingly, we do not express such an opinion. The results of our tests disclosed no instances of 
noncompliance or other matters that are required to be reported under Government Auditing Standards. 
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Purpose of this Report 

The purpose of this report is solely to describe the scope of our testing of internal control and compliance and the 
results of that testing, and not to provide an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity's internal control or on 
compliance. This report is an integral part of an audit performed in accordance with Government Auditing 
Standards in considering the entity's internal control and compliance. Accordingly, this communication is not 
suitable for any other purpose. 

October 30, 2024 

SUPPLEMENTAL INFORMATION 148 



 

C O M M E N C E M E N T  

GILLETTE STADIUM 
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